Shifting Perspectives: Applying Intersemiotic Translation to Enable Aspect Seeing through Unrepeating-repeats in a Contemporary Art Practice

Danica Maier

February 2025

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements of Nottingham Trent University

for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

This research programme was undertaken as a Ph.D. by Creative Works.



Figure 1. "Nest: Blue Tit", 2014, 18 cm x 18 cm pencil drawings on Mylar mounted on aluminium, within larger 5 m x 10 m wall drawing titled "Nest: Pigeonhole", at The Collection Museum, Lincoln. Photo credit: Andrew Weekes.

"The copyright in this work is held by the author. You may copy up to 5% of this work for private study, or personal, non-commercial research. Any re-use of the information contained within this document should be fully referenced, quoting the author, title, university, degree level and pagination. Queries or requests for any other use, or if a more substantial copy is required, should be directed to the author."

Abstract

This Ph.D. explores how hand-drawn repetition, inspired by historical textile processes and transformed through intersemiotic translation, fosters embodied audience experiences that reveal new aspects of perception, understanding, and narrative. Undertaken as a retrospective Ph.D. by Creative Works, it examines six bodies of artworks created between 2014–2023. These works reimagine textile processes through intersemiotic translation, bridging drawing, writing, and site-specific practices to create transformative experiences.

This study explores textiles through intersemiotic translation as an active practice that transcends material boundaries, drawing on Roman Jakobson's (1959) theories and the experimental approaches expanded by Madeleine Campbell and Ricarda Vidal (2019). The research demonstrates textiles transformative potential by translating their processes into drawn textual forms, fostering nuanced, interdisciplinary dialogues. While textiles have widely been explored in cultural and material contexts, their capacity as agents of translation remains underexplored. This research addresses this limitation, offering new possibilities for understanding textiles as active participants in expanded forms of intersemiotic translations.

The creative practice developed the "unrepeating-repeat" framework, which uses iterative variations to disrupt repetition, fostering perceptual shifts and sustaining audience engagement. Specifically, the unrepeating-repeat facilitates "aspect seeing" by inviting viewers to uncover new perspectives through careful observation. Drawing on Ludwig Wittgenstein's concept of "seeing-as" (1953/2010), this method enables audiences to move between perspectives, fostering moments of discovery where the familiar transforms and differing perspectives emerge within the work.

The originality lies in the creative works' contribution to textile discourse through intersemiotic translation, while its significance emerges from the integration of the intersemiotic translation, aspect seeing, and the unrepeating-repeat into a cohesive framework for artistic creation. The approach expands the interpretive possibilities of textiles, fostering encounters that challenge perceptions, cultivate attention, and encourage critical engagement. By positioning the field of textile practice through the lens of intersemiotic translation, this research offers valuable insights for scholars and practitioners in fine art, textiles, and translation studies.

Keywords: Artistic research, aspect seeing, attention, detail, interdisciplinary, intersemiotic translation, pattern, perception, practice-based research, repetition, site-specific, textiles, unrepeating-repeat.

Acknowledgements

I would like to extend my heartfelt gratitude to my three dedicated supervisors - Tom Fisher and Katherine Townsend, for their unwavering support and invaluable guidance before and throughout my doctoral journey and Rob Flint for his helpful and compassionate pastoral care during this process. I am grateful to Nottingham Trent University for the generous funding that made this endeavour possible.

I am grateful to Emma Cocker for the numerous years of invaluable collegial learning and collaboration – she has helped push me farther than I ever thought I could. Andrew Bracey has been a great "Ph.D. friend" and source of ongoing support, offering encouragement through both the highs and lows of this journey. Additionally, I am thankful for the opportunity to collaborate with my various project partners – it is a privilege to work with you!

My parents, Lloyd and Hank Maier, deserve an extra special mention for their enduring support and unwavering belief in me always. Their guidance, encouragement, and steadfast advocacy on my behalf have been instrumental in shaping my path to this point.

Lastly, my deepest thanks go to my partner, Gerard Williams, and our son, Finlay Maier. They have been unwavering pillars of support, enduring the long and focused writing days, distractions away from family time, and moments of self-doubt. Their daily kindness and understanding over the past few years have made pursuing this Ph.D. a reality.

Table of Contents

ABSTRACT	2
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	3
TABLE OF CONTENTS	4
THIS THESIS: EXEGESIS + CREATIVE WORKS PT. 1 & 2	8
The Thesis Components	8
Note on Engaging with the Ph.D.	9
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	10
Overview	10
Framework	10
Three Core Themes of this Thesis	12
Core theme 1: Intersemiotic Translation	12
A Note on Text as Material: Writing, Drawing, and Meaning	13
Core theme 2: Aspect Seeing	14
Core theme 3: Unrepeating-repeat	15
Contribution to Knowledge	16
A RETROSPECTIVE PH.D	17
The Golden Thread	17
Conclusion	18
CHAPTER 2: METHODOLOGY AND METHODS	19
THE PH.D. BY CREATIVE WORKS: WHY I CHOSE A RETROSPECTIVE PH.D.	19
Process to Undertake the Ph.D.	19
Methodology: A Constructed Approach	20
Methods: A Practice-Based Multi-Method Approach	21
Intersemiotic Translation	21
Drawing	22
Words as Material	23
Site-Specific	24
Summary	25
CHAPTER 3: FRAMEWORKS AND INFLUENCES: TEXTILE PROCESSES, TRANSLATION, AND SHIFTING	
PERSPECTIVES IN CONTEMPORARY ART	26
INTRODUCTION	26
Beyond Fabric: Cross-Media Transformation of Textiles through Sound, Technology, and Painting	27
Overview	27

David Littler: Intersemiotic Approaches in Textile and Sound Art	27
Janis Jefferies: Textile Innovation and Digital Interactivity	29
Laura Owens: Material Experimentation and the Fusion of Painting and Textile Techniques	
Summary	33
Layered Patterns: Exploring Repetition, Variance, and the Everyday	34
Overview	
Marc Camille Chaimowicz: Blurring Boundaries between Art, Design, and Domestic Space	
Virgil Marti: Ornamentation and Queer Aesthetics in Contemporary Art	
Jorge Pardo: Dissolving Distinctions between Art, Design, and Everyday Spaces	
Summary	42
Textiles as Experience: Process-Driven Translations & Collaborative Practices in Contemporary Art	43
Overview	43
Anne Wilson: Process, Performance, and Materiality in Textile Installations	
Ann Hamilton: Materiality, Language, and the Poetics of Experience	
The Fabric Workshop and Museum: Innovation in Textiles and Collaborative Practice	
Summary	52
Beyond the Decorative: Using Repetition and Aspect Seeing in Political and Cultural Narratives	53
Overview	53
Ghada Amer: Feminism, Cultural Identity, and the Language of Stitching	
Clare Rojas: Folk Art, Feminism, and Narrative in Contemporary Textiles	
David Mabb: Disrupting Pattern, Politics, and Art-Design Boundaries	60
Summary	63
	64
CHAPTER 4: CRITICAL DISCOURSE: INTERSEMIOTIC TRANSLATION, ASPECT SEEING, AND THE UNREP	EATING-
REPEAT	
INTRODUCTION	65
Section 1: Intersemiotic Translation	67
Introduction to Intersemiotic Translation	67
Intersemiotic Translation in a Textile and Fine Art Practice	
Intersemiotic Translation in Textile Discourse	69
A Rhizomatic Approach within Intersemiotic Translation	
The Translator, The Artist	
Intersemiotic Translation, Appropriation, and Intertextuality	
The Shared Genealogy of Line: Textiles, Drawing, and Writing in Intersemiotic Translation	
The Creative Work through the Lens of Intersemiotic Translation	
The Creative Work: "Stitch & Peacock"	
The Creative Work: "Score: Mechanical Asynchronicity"	
The Creative Work: "Ghost Heirloom: Blackburn Rug/Maier Wallpaper"	
Conclusion	

Section 2: Aspect Seeing	94
Introduction to Aspect Seeing	94
The Act of Revelation: Exploring the Dynamics of Aspect Seeing in a Contemporary Art Practi	ce96
The Moment of Discovery	
Seeing Anew in the Familiar	
Tactics for Enacting Aspect Seeing Through the Creative Works	99
Perception and Engagement in Aspect Seeing	100
Slow-looking and Detailed Engagement	102
Attention	103
The Creative Work through the Lens of Aspect Seeing	105
The Creative Works: "Manhole", "Gape", and "Old Lady"	105
The Creative Work: "Re:dRawing"	108
The Creative Work: "Her Words, My Voice"	112
Conclusion	115
Section 3: The Unrepeating-repeat: An Artist's Method	117
Introduction to The Unrepeating-repeat	117
The Creative Work through the Lens of the Unrepeating-repeat	120
An Initial Familiar Encounter of Pattern and Decorative	121
Re-drawing the Same Line / Image	122
Text and Language	123
The Performative Loop	124
Multiple Versions in Print	
Re-installing or Re-staging the Work	127
Conclusion	128
CHAPTER 5: CONTRIBUTIONS AND CONCLUSION	130
Aims and Research Questions	130
Overview of Chapters	130
Chapter 1: Introduction	130
Chapter 2: Methodology and Methods	
Chapter 3: Frameworks and Influences: Textile Processes, Translation, and Shifting Perspection	ve in
Contemporary Art	
Chapter 4: Critical Discourse: Intersemiotic Translation, Aspect Seeing, and The Unrepeating-	-repeat 132
Adjacent Documents: CREATIVE works, pt.1: Visual Submission and pt.2: Research Narratives	5
Contributions to Knowledge	
Advancing the Discourse on Textiles through Intersemiotic Translation	
A Unique Triangulation in a Contemporary Art Practice: Intersemiotic Translation, Aspect See	
Unrepeating-repeat	-
The Unrepeating-repeat as an Artistic Framework	
IMPACT AND IMPLICATIONS	

Expanding the Discourse on Textiles through Intersemiotic Translation	136
Practical Applications and Interdisciplinary Potential	136
Acknowledging Limitations and Future Directions	
Postscript: An Invitation to See	
REFERENCE SECTION	140
Acronyms	
GLOSSARY	140
FIGURE LIST	
BIBLIOGRAPHY	
APPENDICES:	
Appendix A: Additional Partners, Legacies, and Related Outcomes for each RN	161
Appendix B: Collaborative Statement: RN3 "Score: Mechanical Asynchronicity"	
Appendix C: Mapping the Golden Thread: Matrixes	
Cross reference of Core Thematics (a singular document spread over multiple pages)	165
Identifying Themes, Cross references with Research Narratives (a multi-page document)	
Example of Mapping process undertaken on LiquidText	
Appendix D: The Collection Museum, Historical Textiles from "Stitch & Peacock"	
Appendix E: No Telos, Venice Schedule and Information	

This Thesis: Exegesis + Creative Works pt. 1 & 2

The creative works that form the basis of the Ph.D. are:

- Maier, D., (2014/2015), "Stitch & Peacock" (solo exhibition). Lincoln: The Collection Museum. 27th September 2014 - 11th January 2015.
- 2. Maier, D., (2018), **"Manhole", "Gape",** and **"Old Lady"** (three artworks). In *Bummock: The Lace Archive* (exhibition). Nottingham: Backlit Gallery, 26 January 18 February 2018 and touring.
- 3. Maier, D., & Scheuregger, M. (2022), "Score: Mechanical Asynchronicity" (performance). York: York Concerts, Sir Jack Lyons Concert Hall, 28 January 2022 and touring.
- Maier, D., (2019). "Re:dRawing" (book section). In: Cocker, E., & Maier, D., (Eds). No Telos!. Nottingham: Beam Editions. pp.24-33.
- Maier, D., (2022). "Her Words, My Voice" and "Ghost Heirloom: Blackburn Rug/Maier Wallpaper" (two artworks). In *Bummock: Tennyson Research Centre* (exhibition). Lincoln: The Collection Museum, 8 January – 20 February 2022 and touring.
- Maier, D., (2023). "The Unrepeating-Repeat" (chapter). In: Horton, S. & Mitchell, V. (Eds). Pattern and Chaos in Art, Science and Everyday Life: Critical Intersections and Creative Practice. Bristol: Intellect Publishing. pp.75-87.

The Thesis Components

The complete thesis submission is divided into two equal parts: the Creative Works and this written Exegesis. These are presented across three documents, each serving a distinct purpose in evidencing and contextualising the research. The structure is as follows:

Exegesis¹. This written text, or critical explanation, encompasses five key sections: Introduction, Methodology, Frameworks and Influences, Critical Discourse, and Conclusion.

CREATIVE works pt.1: Visual Submission². Documentation of site-specific works, artefacts, texts, and performances presented in exhibitions, venues, and publications are evidenced in the Visual Submission.

CREATIVE works pt.2: **Research Narratives.** A written companion to the creative work documentation that offers critical explanation, detailed overview, and studio development of the cited works in the form of six Research Narratives.

¹ Defined as 'critical explanation or interpretation' (Oxford English Dictionary Online 2020). Exegesis is commonly used within Ph.D. by Published, Established and Creative works (Peacock 2017; Arnold 2005).

² It is suggested you view the VS as a digital document. Some of the pages vary in size and would be inappropriately scaled down if printed.

Note on Engaging with the Ph.D.

The creative works for this "Ph.D. by Creative Works" have various outcomes: artefacts, sitespecific works, publication, and performance. Unless speaking of a specific named artwork, I will refer to them as the "creative work" or the "work". Throughout the exegesis, I cross reference the artworks with their accompanying pages in the Visual Submission (VS) and Research Narratives (RN) to ensure an interconnection and collaborative approach between the critical discourse and the artistic research (e.g. (RN1, VS pp. 10-16)).

I use the term 'exegesis' to distinguish or describe the written element of Ph.D. that sits alongside the creative works. I maintain that the 'thesis' is the overall submission (creative works, research narratives, *and* exegesis) supporting an academic degree (or similar) that presents the author's research and findings.

The exegesis explores how the concepts of intersemiotic translation, aspect seeing, and unrepeating-repeats are interwoven throughout the creative works, revealing the complex interplay that shapes the practice-research. These elements coalesce within the six bodies of publicly exhibited, performed, and published work, forming rich and intricate research. In the artworks, these three elements intertwine so profoundly that they are nearly 'felted'³ together. This integrated approach underscores the dynamic relationship between the written and creative components, where critical analysis and artistic practice inform and enrich each other in a continuous dialogue.

 $^{^{\}scriptscriptstyle 3}$ Felt is a dense and compact material formed by entangling fibres.

Chapter 1: Introduction

Overview

The artistic research for this PhD began with a curiosity that arises through making: how might subtle, often overlooked gestures—within line, text, and pattern—shift how we perceive and understand the world around us? Rooted in a contemporary art practice that draws together textiles, drawing, and text, the study moves through processes of making, attending to small differences that accumulate within repetition and transposition. Rather than offering fixed conclusions, the artworks invite a mode of looking that is alert to subtle variations and transformations that exist within the artworks and their capacity to shift perceptions. It is, in essence, a call to slow down, to notice, and to engage with the quiet complexities of material and perceptual shifts.

From this starting point, the thesis unfolds through three interrelated elements—intersemiotic translation, aspect seeing, and the unrepeating-repeat—each developed through a body of creative work undertaken over a 10-year period (2014 – 2023). Together, these elements form a triangulated framework that questions how knowledge can be generated through artistic practice, and how artistic forms might prompt shifts in understanding. The exegesis that follows (and the two adjacent documents) offer both a conceptual and material mapping of this research journey, reflecting on its development through practice while tracing its entangled threads across textile processes, contemporary artworks, and theoretical enquiry.

Framework

The significance of this Ph.D. lies in the convergence of the innovative intertwinement within art practice between utilising Roman Jakobson's process of 'intersemiotic translation' (Jakobson 1959) to translate between textile processes, drawing, and text, the embodiment of Ludwig Wittgenstein's concept of 'aspect seeing' (Wittgenstein 1953/2010), and my artistic method of the 'unrepeating-repeat'. Together, these positions foster an embodied and shifting audience experience through a non-hierarchical approach to these tactics within artistic practice. The core research focus throughout the creative works has been, how the creation and performative exploration of hand-drawn repetition, inspired by historical textile processes and realised through intersemiotic translation into varied media, enables audiences to have embodied experiences that reveal multiple aspects of perception, understanding, and narrative.

A holistic rhizomatic approach (Deleuze and Guattari 1980) infuses the creative process. In the artwork, the three strands create interrelated nodes of a rhizomatic exploration while additionally connecting to broader subjects with the artworks. The borrowed intersemiotic translation method and the constructed unrepeating-repeat approach are intertwined within the works, influencing each other reciprocally: both enable aspect seeing, enhancing the viewer's embodied experience. All three elements are combined non-hierarchically within the works, forming a cohesive and interlinked approach.

The integration of these three positions creates an overlapping and interconnected triangulation (Figure 2). The use of intersemiotic translation within and through repetition facilitates shifts in perception, offering a dynamic, embodied experience for the audience. Through perspective-shifting strategies (aspect seeing) triggered by the unrepeating-repeat, shifts in understanding can unfold for a viewer through an embodied experience. Significantly, the creative work advances contemporary discourse on intersemiotic translation through how the creative work bridges (to, across, and between) textiles, fine art, and language.



Figure 2. Visualisation illustrating the interrelated triangulation of the three core foci of this thesis.

Three Core Themes of this Thesis

This exegesis will explore the interaction of the three core themes within the creative work by examining the interdependent triangulation and richness of this interconnectedness within the practice. It will highlight each theme's individual yet connected position within the relationship, as well as addressing their own relevant theoretical backdrop.

Core theme 1: Intersemiotic Translation

Intersemiotic translation, explores the exchange between text, fine art, and textile processes⁴, drawing from positions developed by Jakobson (1959) and recently extended by Campbell and Vidal (2018). Intersemiotic translation refers to the act of translating or transferring meaning from one semiotic system, such as language or drawing, into another. As Campbell and Vidal state:

Intersemiotic translation involves a creative step in which the translator (artist or performer) offers its embodiment in a different medium. This process is facilitated by perceiving and experiencing non-verbal media through visual, auditory and other sensory channels, for example through dance or sculpture. (Campbell and Vidal 2018, p. xxvi).

This concept involves moving ideas from one form of expression to another while considering each medium's characteristics and limitations. It's a way of bridging the gap between different modes of communication and artistic expression.

From the perspective of intersemiotic translation, the research highlights the connection between textiles, fine art, and text, facilitating a rich interplay of meaning and understanding between these modes. Translating material across media bridges the gaps between forms (textiles, drawing, and text) and reinforces the unrepeating-repeat by embodying the transformation of an idea and form into multiple variations or translations. Through intersemiotic translation, aspect seeing is activated as each form interacts through the translation process. For instance, as a viewer observes the transformation of a line—shifting from stitch to drawing, then to letter, and finally to word—the act of perceiving these

⁴ It is important to note that textiles encompass a wide range of materials and production techniques (such as weaving, knitting, embroidering, stitching, felting, etc.). The creative works in question engage with diverse textile practices that all tend to incorporate a line of thread or yarn. Hence, the use of the overarching term 'textiles process' is employed to encompass this variety.

transitions, which have occurred through translation within a singular image, evolves into an engagement with multiple perspectives. This process unfolds within and through the translation process, inviting a nuanced understanding of the work. Thus, it allows the viewer to experience the artwork from diverse viewpoints and encourages an awareness of both visual and conceptual shifts within the work.

Variations within the creative works exist both in the translation process and within the unrepeating-repeat—serving as glitches that subtly catch the viewer's attention. These variants, or hiccups, are significant in initiating aspect seeing, offering the first hints of shifting perspectives. The shift between textile processes, drawing, and text generates an intersemiotic fusion, fostering aspectual seeing within and through understanding the transitions. Deviation is inherent in a translation process between different semiotics or languages— no one semantic structure equates to another (Bennett 2023). These divergences are building on, through recent developments within the translation field, of "ludic" (Lee 2022) or "experimental" (Madeleine Campbell and Vidal 2018) translation. Exploration of these emerging ideas through textiles has been engaged within the creative works and holds potential for further future exploration.

A Note on Text as Material: Writing, Drawing, and Meaning

The intersemiotic translation process incorporates words not merely as linguistic tools but as material and conceptual elements. Here, text serves as both the visual structure of drawings and a means of engaging with layered meanings. Within the creative works, words are used in multifaceted ways, including punning, poetising, and physically structuring the visual elements of the drawings. Writing-as-drawing — where words collapse into patterns and patterns emerge as words — forms a playful intersection between the visual and the linguistic, present but not always immediately visible. This interplay bridges the translation process, the construction of unrepeating-repeats, and the works' appropriated source materials. The viewer is invited into this back-and-forth dynamic between these positions, requiring engagement to fully reveal the nature of the work.

The words in the creative works are deliberately chosen, conceptually linked to the broader themes of the artworks, and embedded with multiple meanings and are often euphemisms. This interplay of text and image invites the viewer to oscillate between interpretations, engaging with shifting perceptions and embodying Wittgenstein's concept of aspect seeing.

13

The words *become* the visual form, transcending their linguistic function to act as visual, material, and conceptual disruptors. This approach encourages viewers to navigate the blurred boundaries between text and image, meaning and form. Through repetition, subtle variation, and fragmentation, the text transforms into visual patterns while disrupting static interpretations. These elements encourage an active engagement with the work, requiring the viewer to reconsider initial perceptions and discover further nuances of meaning.

The viewer's experience of the work is intentionally multifaceted, requiring time and attention to uncover subtleties. What may initially appear as decorative or structural patterns reveals itself as text, creating moments of realisation. This interplay between text and image offers a space for multiple perspectives, inviting the audience to engage in an active process of interpretation and discovery. By employing words in this way, the work disrupts traditional boundaries between language and drawing, creating a dialogue between the visual, material, and narrative. This dynamic approach transforms intersemiotic translation into a field where text and image coexist, interact, and continuously evolve, challenging conventional interpretations and expanding the possibilities of meaning-making.

Core theme 2: Aspect Seeing

Focusing on aspect seeing the research demonstrates how the ability to perceive multiple perspectives within the creative work invites further engagement. Wittgenstein identified this phenomenon where a single image can be perceived and understood in various ways. It emphasises that individuals can shift their perception, leading to distinct understandings or seeing "aspects" within the same entity. This concept underscores the subjective nature of perception and highlights how the same stimulus can evoke varying understandings depending on the observer's viewpoint (Wittgenstein 1953/2010).⁵ Wittgenstein employed this idea to explore the complexity of language, meaning, and how our perceptions shape our understanding of the world. Recently, artist and philosopher Tine Melzer has expanded upon this, exploring the synonymous concept of "aspect change" within and through contemporary art (Melzer 2022, 2019; Melzer and Servaas 2020).

⁵ For further information and reading, see: Malcolm Budd's "Wittgenstein on Seeing Aspects" from 1987, William Day and Victor J. Krebs' work on "Seeing Aspects in Wittgenstein" published in 2010, and Judith Genova's "Wittgenstein: A Way of Seeing" from 2016.

The importance of the creative works lies in providing an embodied experience for both the creator and the viewer, focusing on the *revelation* of shifting perceptions rather than on *what* is being revealed (Wittgenstein 1953/2010). The artwork's aim is to evoke an embodied experience for the audience as a pluralistic whole, focusing on shifting perspectives through the unrepeating-repeat's and intersemiotic translation's activation of aspect seeing.

Engaging with aesthetics that echo familiar Western decorative and domestic interiors forms the foundational backdrop for the hand-drawn or live works. This familiarity of pattern subtly establishes a set of expectations for the viewer, thereby allowing for the emergence of aspect seeing or the unexpected found within. As Wittgenstein noted, "aspects [...] are hidden because of their simplicity and familiarity" (Wittgenstein 1953/2010, p. 56^e). The deliberate concealment and subsequent revelation of unexpected elements within familiar components invite the viewer to engage in discovery, transforming their relationship with them. The connection with the textile medium is integral to this process, as textiles—due to their inherent material and historical associations with pattern and repetition—offer a specific and familiar framework for hiding and then exploring the unexpected. This process is enhanced by intersemiotic translation, where the movement between media reinforces a non-linear shifting of perspectives—creating an ongoing dialogue between forms (textiles, drawing, and text) and the method of the unrepeating-repeat.

Core theme 3: Unrepeating-repeat

Through the lens of the unrepeating-repeat found within the creative works, the research explores how disrupting conventional repetition can facilitate shifts in perspectives. The unrepeating-repeat is a process I slowly understood, developed, and named specifically through the creative works of this Ph.D. In the final creative work presented in this thesis, the chapter titled "The Unrepeating-Repeat" (RN6, VS pp. 154-168), it is defined as,

The unrepeating-repeat is a regular recurrence [within art practice] that contains variations and differences. It is found in configurations that seemingly repeat but include deviations or differences at some point within or throughout the recurrence. [...] It can be found conceptually and/or practically within objects, images and patterns; actions, sounds, and music [...] (Maier 2023, p. 76).

Variations within the repetition are intentionally designed to encourage aspect seeing, as the subtle details within the creative works invite viewers to perceive multiple perspectives

through sustained attention and time. Thus, the unrepeating-repeat serves as a mechanism for facilitating "aspect seeing". The unrepeating-repeat becomes a tactical approach to activate this shift, as each variation encourages viewers to question their initial perceptions and notice previously overlooked details.

The unrepeating-repeat is enriched through the activation of intersemiotic translation within the works. The translation between textile processes and drawing with words is appropriately positioned to be utilised within the repeated aesthetics borrowed from historical textiles. It is the expectations inherent in the repeat that provide the intersemiotic translation process with the potential to 'hide in plain sight', enabling dynamic and shifting understandings and perspectives upon observation. Intersemiotic translation within the unrepeating-repeat facilitates a fluid movement between media, enabling the viewer to engage with the work through various semiotic forms—textile, image, and text—thereby enhancing and deepening the experience of shifting perspectives concealed within the unrepeating-repeat.

Contribution to Knowledge

The research contributes new ways of thinking about the relationships between materiality, process, and translation through textile processes in a fine art context. It reveals how textile practices can inform and be informed by drawing and text, fostering fresh interpretations and connections across media. This lies in the relational exploration of textiles and fine art practices through the lens of an expanded understanding of intersemiotic translation, which integrates these distinct fields using a rhizomatic and non-hierarchical approach. By applying intersemiotic translation this research offers a new lens through which to think about the interdisciplinary nature of textiles.

While much has been discussed about the *interdisciplinary* nature of the textile field—evident in the vast field of literature, journals, and organizations—the exploration of textiles through intersemiotic translation has been less examined. Surprisingly, there is little discourse surrounding the use of intersemiotic translation in relation to textile practices, making this research a unique and timely contribution. The research reveals how textile practices can inform and be informed by drawing with words, through translations across media. It disrupts conventional silos and hierarchical structures, creating space for a further understanding of how meaning can shift when ideas traverse between different creative languages.

16

A Retrospective Ph.D.

This "Ph.D. by Creative Works" is a retrospective analysis of practice-based artistic research from 2014 - 2023 through six specific bodies of publicly exhibited, performed, and published work. Identifying the distinction between a "Ph.D. by Creative Works" (more widely known as "Ph.D. by Published Works"⁶) and a traditional Ph.D. route is helpful. The traditional route prioritises research that is developed solely during the course of the programme, rather than drawing on pre-existing outputs. The "Ph.D. by Creative Works" is for researchers – like me – who have national standing, generally are mid-career, have a portfolio of 'published'⁷ works, and entered academia by 'bypassing' the Ph.D. (Smith 2015). This route uniquely offers an opportunity to critically reflect on previous creative outputs, situating them within academic and discipline specific discourse to articulate their contribution to knowledge.

The Golden Thread

This Ph.D. involved identifying and thoroughly analysing the six bodies of work for their essential components and interconnected themes⁸. Since individual artworks often encompass an intricate web of subjects and themes, I sought to identify what Sally Brown has called the "golden thread" (Smith 2015, p. 4) that unifies all the works. This involved untangling and differentiating the core "thread"(s) that connect the works from the wider web of thematic explorations within each artwork.

The golden thread⁹ is defined by Susan Smith as the "coherent theme [... or] nub of the thinking that weaves through your work and which you must make sure you elucidate in your synthesis" (op. cit.). The subjects in the artworks and the critical themes of the golden thread are connected but distinct from one another. For example, broader subjects within the art practice connect to gender roles and feminism, the decorative, craft, archival research, personal narratives, the domestic, labour, and auto/biographies. The artwork's subject matter

⁶ See Susan Smith's "Ph.D. by Published Works: A Practical Guide for Success" for full information about this Ph.D. route.

⁷ "Published" in this context is any outcomes that have a similar standing to traditional publication but as seen through the field of research. Therefore, artefacts and artworks in exhibition, concerts, or otherwise appropriately shared creative works are considered 'published' in the widest sense of the term. To further evidence the specific of each project's rigor, esteem, and peer review equivalent please see Appendix A: Additional Partners, Legacies, and Related Outcomes.

⁸ See Appendix C. Mapping the Golden Thread: Matrixes.

⁹ I pick up on this use of 'thread' and textile process as metaphors throughout the exegesis. As Kassia St. Clair says, "Fabric and its component parts have long been a figurative stand-in for the very stuff of human life." (St Clair 2019, p.1).

contributes to a rhizomatic approach within the artistic practice, but the analytic focus of the Ph.D., i.e. its golden thread, exists in the interweaving of intersemiotic translation, aspect seeing, and unrepeating-repeats.

Conclusion

This chapter has highlighted the overarching framework of this "Ph.D. by Creative Works", setting out the inter-relation between intersemiotic translation, aspect seeing, and the unrepeating-repeat which together forge the core golden thread running through the six identified bodies of artwork. By situating the practice within a rhizomatic structure and positioning textiles as a key medium for artistic exploration, the research focuses on blurring disciplinary boundaries and emphasises the potential for embodied, multi-perspectival experiences to emerge from the interplay of different media. These intertwined concepts offer a lens through which to reconsider how meaning is generated, perceived, and transformed in artistic processes.

Looking ahead, the following chapters delve further into the intertwinement of each of these core concepts, as well as discussing the specificity of intersemiotic translation in textiles, illuminating the ways in which creative practice can act as both the subject and vehicle of research. In doing so, this Ph.D. not only presents a synthesis of retrospective works but also advances new understandings of how art, language, and textile processes can coexist in an ever-evolving dialogue—specifically contributing to the emerging discourse on intersemiotic translation within the field of textiles.

Chapter 2: Methodology and Methods

The Ph.D. by Creative Works: Why I Chose a Retrospective Ph.D.

The retrospective aspect of this Ph.D. program serves a crucial purpose in fostering deep reflection, separate from the practice itself. I value this retrospective-reflective approach, which prioritises practice as an initial step followed by time, distance, and *then* reflection. I needed this space between practice and reflection to "work without knowing where one is going or might end up [as] a condition of creation." Rachel Jones (2013, p. 16). This process has allowed a depth of focused experimentation and creation to occur during an early stage of making, followed by a separate place and time for reflection, analysis, and critical discourse. I deliberately chose this approach for my doctoral journey to complement my cognitive processes¹⁰ and working methods. It enabled me to initially immerse myself in experimental development and making, allowing time to embody the subject matter tacitly and then later engage in reflection and scholarship to refine my comprehension.

Process to Undertake the Ph.D.

The section below identifies and discusses the overarching methodological approach, and the methods used in the practice-based research that this Ph.D. brings together. However, it is beneficial to initially share the process of reflection and analysis undertaken to write up this exegesis. The process involved reflecting and analysing the creative works as case studies. The analysis of the creative works has primarily been undertaken through reflection processes, building from Driscoll's model of reflection (2007) and Kolb's Experiential Learning Cycle (1984). I also used mapping processes such as those applied by Michelkevičius (2018), which revealed the "golden thread" by first identifying and then narrowing down key terms. I later used a detailed matrix for reflection, analysis, and cross-mapping to refine the core themes

¹⁰ Acknowledgement: I have dyslexia and hyperphantasia; therefore, I utilised the tool ChatGPT-3.5 (OpenAI 2023) and Grammarly as part of my writing process during this Ph.D. This was especially invaluable and involved using AI to transform initial notes, fragments of thoughts, and main ideas into clear paragraphs. It improved writing starting points, supported clearer sentences, and checked grammar and structure. It is important to note that the AI tools were used as *part* of a holistic writing process, and its outputs were consistently reviewed, rewritten, modified, or discarded. I want to emphasise that I did not use AI to generate content or paraphrase the words of others.

and focus of the exegesis.¹¹ As mentioned, when the creative outputs were made, they had multiple complex rhizomatic connections that exceed beyond the scope of the Ph.D. Drawing from Gilles Deleuze and Félix Guattari, Michelkevičus recognises "the elements connected by artistic research constitute its essence, as it is understood as a rhizomatic (roots and branchbased) dynamic network of animate and inanimate actors." (Michelkevičus 2018, p. 10). With this in mind, many of the strands of the rhizome within the individual artworks are not part of this Ph.D. To ensure clarity, depth, and rigour, I used the reflective process to focus specifically on the interlinking narratives or the "golden thread" within the creative works as discussed in Chapter 1.

Methodology: A Constructed Approach

The methodological approach for the creative works combines "practice-based research" (Candy, Edmonds, and Vear 2021), "performative research" (Haseman 2006), and a rhizomatic approach (Deleuze and Guattari 1980). The research methodology also falls within the area of practice research (PRAG, 2021) and artistic research (Borgdorff 2012; Michelkevičus 2018, and others). While there are distinctions, there is also much common ground between artistic research, practice research, and practice-based research. This research is positioned within the overlap between them and is characterised by artworks that embody, perform, and present the ideas and methods as part of the work. Distinctively, "practice-based" research stands out by emphasising three key elements: the central role of practice in the research process, the significance of artefacts in shaping the research, and the distinct forms of knowledge that emerge from and are found within this approach (Candy, Edmonds, and Vear 2021).

The methodology further aligns with Brad Haseman's concept of "performative research" (2006). Haseman introduced performative research as a third paradigm that transcends the traditional binary of quantitative and qualitative research, which may not fully cater to the demands of practice-based research, particularly within the arts, media, and design (Haseman 2006). Haseman draws upon philosopher of language John Langshaw Austin's concept of performative speech to frame his notion of "performative research". For Austin, 'performative' refers to utterances that, through their enunciation, produce effects and actions. Austin's well-

¹¹ These matrices and mapping exercise can be found in Appendix C.

known example of saying "I do" during wedding vows illustrates how the act of speaking, itself becomes the action performed (Austin 1962).

Haseman's manifesto is approaching two decades in age, and fortunately, artistic research has evolved during this period. While there may not be the same imperative to define itself in contrast to traditional archetypes, the nature of Austin's speech act, as utilised by Haseman, resonates particularly well with the "performative" nature of my artistic practice. In the creative works, the experience and engagement with the outcomes are crucial for a comprehensive understanding. It is within the function of engagement that the work is activated. As Haseman explains, "[...] the symbolic data works performatively. It not only expresses the research but in that expression becomes the research itself" (2006, p. 6). Therefore, engaging in documentation of the work is insufficient; the embodied experience of understanding is integral. The research of the practice comes to life and enacts itself 'through' this experiential engagement, and its comprehension can only be achieved in these terms. When a viewer experiences my work, they activate and bring it to life.

To conclude this introduction of my methodology I find that 'rhizomatic' characterises my working method and interest. Deleuze and Guattari's (1980) rhizomatic approach rethinks traditional hierarchies, offering a decentralised, non-linear network of interconnected and equal elements. This approach encourages multiplicity, dynamism, and open-ended exploration. Emphasising connectivity over individuality promotes a more inclusive and diverse understanding of complex phenomena. I will discuss this further in the subsection "A Rhizomatic Approach within Intersemiotic Translation", p. 71.

Methods: A Practice-Based Multi-Method Approach

The research employed a multi-method approach, integrating practice-based methods, including intersemiotic translation borrowed from translation studies. This involved exploring textile processes through drawing, using words as materials, and incorporating site-specificity. The summary below describes how these methods were utilised.

Intersemiotic Translation

Intersemiotic translation is a method that transcends the boundaries between forms of artistic expression by converting the content and meaning of an artefact from one medium to another.

This approach transforms the original form of expression and engages with the relationships between different art forms, shedding light on the complexities of meaning across diverse artistic and communicative modes. Jakobson's (1959) seminal definition, as put into action by Campbell and Vidal, aptly encapsulates the essence of intersemiotic translation: it involves carrying a source text or artefact across sign systems, often creating connections between different cultures and media (Campbell and Vidal, 2018). In the context of this research, intersemiotic translation serves as a crucial tool for the development of the creative works and as an analytic process.

The creative works delve into textile-making processes through drawings created by words (or writing-as-drawing), forming the core method in which drawing and writing sit. Transitioning from the original materiality of textiles to drawing with and in text offers fresh insights into these material processes. The approach of intersemiotic translation within and through the creative works is discussed in Chapter 4 "Section 1: Intersemiotic Translation" from p. 67.

Drawing

Drawing, as a method rooted in the use of line, plays a distinctive and foundational role in this research. It serves to translate textile processes into drawings that are created using pencil and paint, constructed through the incorporation of words. Positioned at an intersection of textiles and fine art methods, this approach engages in intersemiotic translation, diverging from traditional drawing paradigms¹². Building upon the perspective of Stephen Farthing, Simon Betts discusses the concept of "drawing being common property" (Betts 2011 p. 27), suggesting a democratic use and purpose, thereby eliminating hierarchical perceptions or affiliations with a specific discipline. This harmonises with the research's use of drawing as a tool for intersemiotic translation, aligning with an "expanded field"¹³ of drawing, characterised as a space between traditional drawing discussions and other disciplines (Roberts 2020).

¹² The central role of drawing is explored in various publications, including "Vitamin D - New Perspectives in Drawing" (2020), "Serial Drawing – Space, Time, and the Art Object" (2021), Anna Lovatt's "Drawing Degree Zero: The Line from Minimal to Conceptual Art (Refiguring Modernism)" (2019), "Collective and Collaborative Drawing in Contemporary Practice: Drawing Conversations" (2017), "Beside the Lines of Contemporary Art: Drawing Ambiguity" (2015), and "Drawing Now: Between the Lines of Contemporary Art" (2007). Noteworthy art venues such as London's Drawing Room and New York's The Drawing Center, along with academic journals like "Drawing: Research, Theory, Practice" published by Intellect, the TRACEY journal, and the Drawing Research Network from Loughborough University, all contribute significantly to the definition of drawing as an independent disciplinary field.

¹³ The term "expanded field" is borrowed from "Sculpture in the Expanded Field" (Krauss 1979, p.30).

Central to this expanded field is the fusion of drawing with text, emphasising the intertwined nature of drawing and writing within the creative process. The convergence of drawing, writing, and line may resemble asemic writing and calligrams, yet it diverges distinctively from both these forms. The approach connects more to handwriting educator Marion Richardson's (Sassoon 2012) holistic approach to writing and drawing, emphasising a solid connection between the two. Similar to what Richardson called "writing patterns" created by her students (Richardson 1935), my works involve repeating a single word. However, my approach differs in merging letters to shape the imagery derived from the source object and its translation of textile processes.

The significance of the line within the creative works resonates with Barbara Tversky's assertion that "lines are everywhere" (Tversky 2011, p. 15). This connection aligns with Tim Ingold's discussions in "Lines: A Brief History" (2016), where he delves into the interrelation of lines across textiles, writing, drawing, and beyond, exploring their shared etymological and historical connections. In my creative works, I delve into the woven, embroidered, and stitched lines intrinsic to textile processes through drawing. The drawings serve as embodiments that poetically activate the insights presented by Ingold (e.g., Ingold 2015, 2016), transforming lines into interconnected expressions of the golden thread's core elements, revealing the intricate relationships that unify the works.

The drawing process becomes a mode to direct attention through making, enabling an extensive exploration of the subject matter or source object by employing writing-as-drawing in the translation process. Drawing, both a physical and experiential act, provided a space for thinking while functioning as a cognitive tool to explore and develop. Artist Avis Newman's (2003) view of drawing as – an action revealing an interior monologue – aligns with this perspective. As the conference and publication "Thinking Through Drawing: Practice Into Knowledge" (Kantrowitz, Brew, and Fava 2011) aptly positions – drawing is a space for thinking through – a sentiment that strongly resonates with my approach to drawing.

Words as Material

Writing serves as a method for the research and is integrated into various components of the creative process. Text plays a dual role within the research, manifesting as both a physical element (words and letters create the visual or decorative motifs of a drawing) and as a mode

to discuss and enact core themes. The act of writing produces foundational 'material' for the work, with the drawings constructed from textual processes that play a vital conceptual role in understanding and facilitating various forms of aspect seeing. Within the creative works, handwritten words function as a mechanism for generating drawings, such as writing 'pigeonhole' over and over again to create the large wall drawing "Nest" (RN1, VS pp. 10-16) or the use of family members names within the small moveable drawings of "Ghost Heirloom: Blackburn Run / Maier Wallpaper" (RN5, VS pp. 128. 139). Additionally, writing is actively utilised as the primary method, for example, as seen in the performative texts featured in "Re:dRawing" (RN4, VS p. 108) and "The Unrepeating-Repeat" (RN6, VS pp. 155-168).

Site-Specific

Site-specific is an artistic approach in which, as artist Richard Serra observed, "The specificity of site-oriented works means that [artworks] are conceived for, depended upon, and inseparable from the location." (Serra 1994 p. 202). Site-specific hinges on the idea that the formal outcome of a work is intrinsically linked to its physical location. It reflects a thoughtful understanding of the attributes of a specific place, making the artwork inherently particular to the location as an important backdrop. Site-specific art emerged as a response to minimalism and was initially grounded in a phenomenological understanding of site (Scholte 2022). Also, this approach is marked by the temporal nature of sites, which can be constantly evolving (Kaye 2013; Meyer 2000). Within my practice research, I extend the notion of site and contend that artists apply these principles to less conventionally considered locations, such as artist Wim Delvoye's series of tattoos 'sited' on live pigs or Marc Camille Chaimowicz's (2006) reimagined version of "The World of Interiors" which position Chaimowicz's work within the location of a glossy design magazine.

My creative works are all inherently site-specific, designed for or created within particular locations for public dissemination – this includes large-scale installations sited in galleries or museum settings as well as small-scale works conceived explicitly for and sited in publications. The primary aspect of a site-specific location is that creative works interact with the physical and conceptual features of their intended locations, which can include both physical and conceptual spaces. These site-specific works come to life through the interaction with the surrounding context and aid in the performative nature of the works. As art historian Tatja

Scholte states, "[...] it establishes a reciprocal relationship between the work and the site" (Scholte 2022, p. 62). Performativity of and within site is inherent to my creative works.

Site-specificity "redirect[s] the focus from the creator and the autonomous art object" to the viewer's experience within the space (Scholte 2022, p. 45). Viewers are encouraged to explore the works in relation to the immediate location, and their physical movements become integral to the experience – whether physically moving within a gallery or flipping pages.

Summary

This research methodology weaves together "practice-based research", "performative research", and a "rhizomatic approach" to effectively place practice at its core, emphasising the influence of artworks and the emergence of distinct knowledge. At the heart of this methodology is "practice-based research", emphasising the importance of artworks and the emergence of knowledge these works enable. Complementing this is "performative research", which resonates with the practice research's embodiment of the performative nature of the inquiry, underscoring the significance of experiencing the work. Adding to the framework is a "rhizomatic approach", engaging a non-hierarchical approach allowing an inclusive exploration. This methodology utilised a multi-method approach incorporating intersemiotic translation, drawing, writing, and site-specific work, enabling fresh perspectives and engaging viewers in dynamic, embodied experiences. In summary, this methodology provided a comprehensive framework for the artistic research, promoting experiential engagement.

Chapter 3: Frameworks and Influences: Textile Processes, Translation, and Shifting Perspectives in Contemporary Art

Introduction

This research asks how textiles and their processes can foster embodied and perceptual shifts, inviting audiences to engage with complex narratives and dynamic understandings when translated across forms and media. This contextual section examines the ways in which artists engage with textiles, using repetition and intersemiotic translation to expand the boundaries of the medium and enable aspect seeing to explore multi-perspectives. This review highlights specific artistic practices that serve as critical bedfellows for the practice-research. While the artists discussed may not use all three modes of the golden thread, this section will explore points of overlap and connection, each of which remains rooted in textiles.

By exploring the works of David Littler, Janis Jefferies, Laura Owens, Marc Camille Chaimowicz, Virgil Marti, Jorge Pardo, Anne Wilson, Ann Hamilton, the Fabric Workshop and Museum, Ghada Amer, Clare Rojas, and David Mabb, I identified overlapping themes and approaches that resonate with my research interests. To better understand these connections, I grouped the artists into trios based on shared themes or methods. This approach demonstrates how different practices engage with common themes, enabling a deeper exploration of the core research interest. These artists' practices help to show how varied forms of material engagement—through sound, digital technology, materiality, and critique—relate to the core elements of this thesis. This framing provides a focused backdrop for analysing other artists' practices and highlights how my work extends or diverges from theirs.

While this review primarily focuses on the practical applications of textiles in contemporary art, specifically the connections and differences to this thesis, it also situates the individual practices within their broader subject frameworks. Often, these subjects are interconnected with the broader rhizomatic web of my creative works, however, they do not form part of the golden thread and are outside the scope of this Ph.D.

Furthermore, the specific theoretical positions of the golden thread will be addressed in Chapter 4 "Critical Discourse: Intersemiotic Translation, Aspect Seeing, and the Unrepeatingrepeat" (p. 65), where key concepts from Wittgenstein, Melzer and Tobis, Lee, and Campbell and Vidal are examined in relation to the thesis's golden thread.

Beyond Fabric: Cross-Media Transformation of Textiles through Sound, Technology, and Painting

Overview

David Littler, Janis Jefferies, and Laura Owens each explore the boundaries of textiles through their engagement with sound, digital technologies, and painting, collectively expanding the possibilities of textiles as communicative, intermedia forms. By examining how these artists explore textiles as transformative tools capable of translating across material and conceptual domains, we see an alignment with this thesis's central inquiries into an exploration of textiles processes through intersemiotic translation—which invites the viewer to perceive textiles as vehicles of layered, dynamic meaning rather than static, decorative objects. Each artist's approach offers insights into textiles as a translated medium, though perhaps not including the additional combination of aspect seeing and unrepeating-repeat.

Together, Littler, Jefferies, and Owens demonstrate the versatility of textiles when combined with sound, digital technology, and painting, each artist inviting viewers to engage with textiles as a flexible, active field that extends beyond expected materiality. Their work reflects this thesis's exploration of textiles as multidimensional, active participants in contemporary art, offering sensory, digital, and visual encounters. My research builds on their approaches by using intersemiotic translation as a focused method to deliberately enable aspect seeing within textile processes.

David Littler: Intersemiotic Approaches in Textile and Sound Art

David Littler, with a background in printed textiles and DJing, is an artist whose work spans textiles, sound, and performance, exploring the intersections between pattern and auditory experiences. For example, his practice often involves live auditory experiences that have generated sound from pattern. Littler's work "... explore[s] the relationship of cross art forms work concerning experimental textile practice." (Jefferies, Clark, and Conroy 2015, p. 442). His interdisciplinary practice examines how patterns, rhythms, and cultural narratives within

textiles can be translated into sound, creating multisensory experiences that expand traditional definitions of textiles. Littler's approach aligns with this Ph.D.'s engagement with intersemiotic translation, where elements from textile processes are reinterpreted through sound and performance, creating new meanings within and through creative practice. Specifically, Littler's collaborative project, "Sampler-Cultureclash", merges textile processes with music and sound performance. The project is "an international collective of DJs, embroiderers, sound artists, textile designers, dancers, spoken word artists, curators, and graffiti artists exploring the connections between textiles and sound" (Littler n.d.). This initiative investigates the shared concept of "sampling" across these disciplines, fostering creative processes that blend textile patterns with musical improvisation.

Littler emphasises the importance of cultural history and communal knowledge within textile practices. Through his work, he draws connections between traditional textile processes and the community-based nature of sound sampling and remixing (Littler n.d.). By transforming textile patterns into audible forms, Littler allows audiences to experience the inherent rhythms and repetitions of textiles in new ways, aligning with this thesis's unrepeating-repeat concept as found within intersemiotic translation, where familiar motifs are constantly reimagined through new contexts. As Littler reflects,

He takes a cyclical and inter-disciplinary approach to making, whilst examining the transcendental qualities of repetition: words become threads, threads become patterns; patterns become sounds; sounds become patterns, patterns become threads, threads become words, words become threads... (Littler, n.d.).

This cyclical and interwoven process, discussed here by Littler, embodies the fluidity of intersemiotic translation, where forms continuously transform while retaining their essence.

Through his innovative interweaving of sound and textiles, Littler emphasises the multisensory potential of textiles. His work encourages audiences and collaborators to perceive textiles as living, evolving forms where rhythm and texture overlap to produce complex sound and spaces. By translating textiles into sound, Littler opens new pathways for audience engagement, aligning with this thesis's focus on textiles as mediums for cross-disciplinary exploration through the translation of textiles into other modes.

"Sampler-Cultureclash" exemplifies the potential of textiles to be examined through the lens of intersemiotic translation as it transforms textile patterns into musical notation, inviting viewers to "listen" to textile structures and processes through soundscapes derived from these rhythmic structures. While Littler's sound work draws parallels between textile patterns and musical rhythms, the focus remains mainly on the auditory potential of textiles rather than on a specific approach to an intersemiotic approach. His work gestures toward, but does not explicitly engage, aspect seeing as a particular tactic. My research expands on Littler's work by using intersemiotic translation to specifically engage viewers in shifting perspectives, encouraging them to see textiles and their processes as evolving mediums that create dialogue across different semiotic forms. For example, the collaborative project "Score: Mechanical Asynchronicity", relates to and then builds on Littler's use of sound installations by connecting historical textile processes like jacquard¹⁴ mechanisms to contemporary sound art, actively exploring how the translation from textile to sound and back can activate shifting viewpoints.

While Littler focuses on the auditory possibilities of textiles, Janis Jefferies expands these ideas by exploring textiles as interfaces for digital and technological interactivity.

Janis Jefferies: Textile Innovation and Digital Interactivity

Janis Jefferies is a pivotal figure in the field of textiles¹⁵, known for exploring and advancing the field over decades and, more recently, in relation to digital technologies, interactivity, and interdisciplinary practice. Jefferies' recent work integrates new media, sound, and digital interactivity, creating enriched narratives where materials and technologies collaborate. Her perspective advances the understanding of textiles as a bridge between traditional craft and technological innovation, highlighting their role in connecting past practices with contemporary advancements.

In this context, weaving is a metaphor for digital processes and their historical precursors. Ellen Harlizius-Klück succinctly states that "the whole history of loom technology is a history of the

¹⁴ Which is an early form of digital technology.

¹⁵ Janis Jefferies is a distinguished figure in the field of textiles, renowned for her pioneering work as an artist, writer, and curator. At Goldsmiths, University of London, she served as Professor of Visual Arts and course leader for the MA in Textiles. Under her leadership, the textile programmes at Goldsmiths gained prominence, attracting students and scholars from across the world with an interested in contemporary textile art and culture. Jefferies co-founded "Textile: The Journal of Cloth and Culture", a leading publication that explores the cultural significance of textiles. To mention a few of her editorial contributions include co-editing "The Handbook of Textile Culture" and "Reinventing Textiles: Gender and Identity", both of which are seminal texts in textile scholarship. Jefferies has also been actively involved in various international textile biennales, such as the 8th International Biennial of Contemporary Textile Art in Madrid and exhibitions in Beijing, contributing to the global discourse on textiles, art, and beyond. Her extensive body of work and leadership have been pivotal in elevating textiles within contemporary art and culture.

migration of binary control from weavers to machines" (Harlizius-Klück 2017, p. 179). This observation highlights how the materiality of weaving directly informs its algorithmic structures, linking traditional practices with contemporary digital advancements. In the project "Weaving Codes, Coding Weaves" (2014-2016), Jefferies worked with computer scientists, weavers, and artists to explore the parallels between textile processes and digital coding, focusing on the historical connections between weaving and digital technology. As Kelly Thompson explains in conversations with Jefferies, "Textile processes have always been digital, in the sense that they involve technologies and procedures for working with discrete, countable threads and exploring the interference patterns between warp, weft, and the properties of threads used" (Jefferies and Thompson 2017, p. 172). Cultural theorist Sadie Plant highlights an historical parallel between weaving and digital coding as both operate as programmable systems (1997), a relationship Jefferies expands upon by exploring the direct links between traditional weaving techniques and algorithmic structures ("Weaving Codes -Coding Weaves", n.d.). As Jefferies notes, "for many contemporary textile practitioners, the terms hand-making, materials, processes, technologies, suggest forms of translation rather than the perfection of traditional skill or the 'pure start'", (Jefferies, Clark, and Conroy 2015, p. 1). This aligns with this thesis's focus on intersemiotic translation, offering a framework for understanding how textile processes can move across and within mediums and forms, enabling shifts and reinterpretations through this lens.

Through her interdisciplinary practice, Jefferies continuously expands the boundaries of textiles, positioning them as a medium that bridges fine art, technology, craft, and computation. Her exploration of textiles highlights their role in bridging traditional craft and digital innovation, where the tactile and technological interact to create layered narratives. This approach emphasises the transformative potential of making as a continuous process of engagement and reinterpretation, a perspective embodied in Jefferies' work. Her projects highlight the capacity of textiles to serve as intermediaries between digital, tactile, and auditory forms, aligning with this thesis's objective of investigating intersemiotic translation between forms as a key approach to exploring textile processes. In my practice, I similarly integrate historical textile techniques with contemporary forms, creating an interplay that reflects Jefferies focus on bridging tradition and innovation while inviting audiences to engage with shifting narratives.

Jefferies's work successfully highlights textiles' adaptability to digital contexts, positioning them as interfaces for cross-disciplinary engagement. However, her work focuses primarily on the technological and interactive dimensions, with less emphasis on how textiles, through intersemiotic translation, can enable viewers to experience multiple perspectives within one image. In contrast, my research actively integrates aspect seeing by engaging translation processes in ways that encourage multiple perspectives, framing textiles as sites for viewers to encounter the familiar through unfamiliar perspectives and to shift between aspects.

Building on Jefferies' emphasis on textiles and technology, Laura Owens takes a materially focused approach, combining textiles with painting to question the boundaries between craft, fine art, and digital aesthetics.

Laura Owens: Material Experimentation and the Fusion of Painting and Textile Techniques

Laura Owens is an American artist whose early paintings incorporate textile design, embroidery, and patterning elements, while her later work experiments with digital techniques and motifs in large-scale installations. Known for her playful and experimental use of materials, Owens questions traditional distinctions between painting and craft by merging painted and embroidery motifs in ways that highlight the collaboration of these material processes within the work. Her early works explored expanded modes of painting by blending traditional brushwork with the aesthetic processes of textiles. These works incorporated subjects resembling embroidery, often with paint squeezed directly from the tube to create textured, raised surfaces that mimic the look and feel of a crewel embroidered surface.

Owens's approach to engaging the medium of paint as embroidery thread invites viewers to question the boundaries between two-dimensional and three-dimensional forms on the painted surface—often ungessoed canvas—blurring the lines between painting and textiles. Through her integration of 'expanded' painting, Owens's work questions the perceived hierarchy between fine art and craft. "Her paintings revel in the pleasure of visual signs, methods and attitudes co-existing for and against each other. Qualities that seem initially incompatible and in opposition with each other quickly achieve a rightness that oscillates somewhere between the eye and the mind" (Rolph 2006, p. 1). Her paintings actively blur boundaries, recontextualising decorative motifs within the framework of painting. By

appropriating textile patterns and techniques, Owens celebrates the visual and tactile qualities of textiles, challenging conventional notions of "high" and "low" art within a fine art context.

Owens's engagement with pattern and repetition aligns with this thesis's interest in translating textile processes, where traditional embroidery processes are transformed through paint. Through her fusion, Laura Owens positions textiles as an integral component of contemporary painting, creating works that invite viewers to engage with surface and materiality in new ways. As Thomas Lawson states:

Her 1998 series of beehive paintings [...] bees are drawn with extruded paint in what has become an Owens signature, looking a bit like needlework. As a result of this complex of references the pictures have a homespun, handcrafted feeling, like the work of an embroidery class. They don't exactly come across as a celebration of women's work, but neither are they a critique nor a put-down. They offer a more fond acceptance, resigned to what is there. The whole is an exercise in uninflected delivery that, amplified by the repetition of the series, might be taken as Warholian, but without the cynicism. (Lawson 2003, p. 23).

Owens's work resists easy classification, blending elements of craft and design into her paintings in ways that expand the possibilities of what painting can encompass. Her approach resonates with this thesis's focus on textiles as innovative, interdisciplinary sites of translation and exploration, pushing the boundaries between media.

Her 2003 collaboration with The Fabric Workshop and Museum, further exemplifies this interdisciplinary engagement; rather than referencing textiles through paint, this work directly engages with and is made using silkscreen printing and embroidery. Through a series of seven large-scale prints on Indian tussah silk, Owens combined silkscreen printing, embroidery, and hand embellishments to create individual yet similarly iterative works that depicted a tree over time. Drawing on influences from Asian landscapes to Renaissance tapestries and American textiles, Owens bridged traditional craft techniques and painterly processes within these works (FWM: Laura Owens n.d.). This collaboration with the FWM resonates with my thesis, particularly in its use of iterative and layered techniques to dissolve disciplinary hierarchies while also engaging with variant repeats. This is exemplified through the seven near-identical printed canvases, each uniquely transformed by distinct embroidery work.

Laura Owens's more recent works incorporate digital motifs and elements, merging handpainted and printed elements, exploring the intersection of manual and mechanical reproduction. Interestingly, this incorporation of the digital harks back to the historical relationship between textiles and technology (as previously mentioned), drawing a connection to her early works' exploration of textiles and their processes while extending these themes into contemporary dialogues on digital and material interplay. For example, Owens's 2016 exhibition at the CCA Wattis Institute for Contemporary Arts, titled "Ten Paintings", featured large-scale works that combined silkscreen printing, computer manipulation, and digital printing, much of which oscillate between digital and textile aesthetics ("CCA Wattis Institute for Contemporary Arts" n.d.). The exhibition included hand-printed, non-repeating wallpaper installations that covered the gallery walls, creating an immersive environment where Owens's approach blurred the boundaries between installation, mural, and painting, prompting viewers to reconsider conventional definitions of painting. The work pays homage to the intricate patterns and repetitive processes shared by textile and digital production, highlighting their historical connection.

Owens's fusion of paint and textile elements aligns with this thesis's exploration of intersemiotic translation between medium and the unrepeating-repeat, where familiar textile patterns and wallpaper are revisited with subtle variations. However, her approach remains more aesthetic than interpretive; her work does not necessarily engage specifically in translation across media in ways that provoke shifting viewpoints or enable multiple interpretive perspectives. In contrast, my practice explicitly uses intersemiotic translation to activate aspect seeing within the creative process, encouraging viewers to interpret the interplay between different forms through diverse, evolving lenses. However, both her work and mine share an engagement with historical starting points, using them as a foundational basis for reimagining and translating traditional forms into contemporary contexts. As noted from her exhibition at the Camden Arts Centre, London, "Her paintings are other worlds that operate out of time and context in which stylistic and historic references can co-habit with well-known or little-known borrowed art historical characters" (Rolph 2006, p. 1). Similarly, my work uses historical references as starting points, reimagining them through the golden thread trio to connect traditional and contemporary forms in new ways.

Summary

This section examined how three artists use textiles to transform disciplinary boundaries, focusing on cross-media approaches that extend the materiality and meaning of textiles. Their

work investigates textiles as a dynamic medium fostering cross-field engagement, transforming familiar materials and techniques into tools for narrative, technological exploration, and visual innovation. While all three artists contribute to the expanded understanding of textiles, my research stands apart by explicitly combining intersemiotic translation and the unrepeating-repeat, to enable aspect seeing. Together, these approaches foster an evolving process that encourages audiences to oscillate between multiple perspectives, moving beyond the aesthetic or technological to engage with perceptual and interpretive shifts. My work reimagines historical and traditional forms in ways that deliberately question static or singular interpretations, creating complex, evolving dialogues between media, process, and audience experience.

Layered Patterns: Exploring Repetition, Variance, and the Everyday

Overview

Artists Marc Camille Chaimowicz, Virgil Marti, and Jorge Pardo explore the intersections of art, design, and everyday spaces through site-specific installations that question distinctions between fine art and domestic aesthetics. By engaging with repetition, decorative motifs, and immersive environments, these artists reposition familiar elements to create transformative experiences that encourage shifts in perception. Their work aligns with this thesis's exploration of how site-specific installations use textiles and decorative patterns to transform everyday and familiar elements into immersive environments, creating encounters that encourage personal, cultural, and aesthetic reflections.

Marc Camille Chaimowicz blurs the boundaries between art and domestic design by incorporating familiar elements such as textiles and wallpaper into immersive installations, encouraging audiences to reflect on the everyday with new perspectives. Virgil Marti reclaims ornamentation as a site of cultural resistance, using Rococo-inspired motifs and camp aesthetics to subvert norms and explore identity through repetition and excess. Jorge Pardo integrates art and architecture, where decorative patterns and variant-printed textiles redefine the relationship between functionality and aesthetics. Each artist demonstrates the potential of decorative motifs and repetition to blur boundaries and foster engagement, offering rich insights into the interplay of art, design, and the everyday.

Marc Camille Chaimowicz: Blurring Boundaries between Art, Design, and Domestic Space

Marc Camille Chaimowicz's work sits at the intersection of fine art, design, and interior decoration, drawing on a variety of elements—such as wallpaper, textiles, and bespoke furniture—to create immersive, site-specific environments. These installations blur the boundaries of the traditional separations between art and the everyday. Chaimowicz's work invites us into a space where art and life merge, breaking the divide between the aesthetic and the personal. This idea aligns with this thesis's approach of blending art and design in a connected, non-hierarchical way between fields. As Susannah Thompson discusses,

[He ...] brings together a mise-en-scène composed of chairs, dressing tables, bookcases, ceramics, found objects, wallpaper, drawings, textiles and paintings and a rug commissioned by Chaimowicz in association with Edinburgh's Dovecot Studios. Through the synthesis of these elements, the gallery is transformed into an installation reminiscent of a Gesamtkunstwerk, a total work of art (Thompson 2010, para. 3).

Chaimowicz's work engages in rethinking public and private spaces. Through his immersive environments, Chaimowicz proposes that the decorative can serve as a medium for exploring identity, memory, and personal experience. His installations often carry a "meditative and poetic quality" (Munder 2006, para. 6), reflecting on time, memory, and personal experience, merging art and life.

This approach emphasises textiles, patterns, and domestic objects as sites of poetic engagement. In Chaimowicz's work, he creates a dialogue between private and public, dissolving the edges between art and everyday life and inviting viewers to experience art as an integrated part of daily life. This merging of art and the everyday encourages audiences to reconsider their relationships with objects they encounter in familiar settings. In his installations "Wallpaper and decorative patterns [explore the] aesthetics of decoration and design, the relationship between applied and fine art, and the intersection of private intimacy with public anonymity", creating non-hierarchical spaces that test conventional perspectives (Munder 2006, para. 3).

Interestingly, this flattening of hierarchy is not always understood or appreciated from within the fields, as Chaimowicz found out concerning his 2008 publication of a remaking of a highend interior design magazine.

[C]reative industries do not always understand creative individuals. In 2008, "The World of Interiors" magazine ran a feature about [his] flat. Marc Camille took the
entire issue and turned it into an exquisitely made artist's book, also titled "The World of Interiors", complete with the advertisements and other articles, cut up, collaged, shuffled, recontextualized, drawn and stencilled over, new and old texts added. Condé Nast, owners of the magazine, missed the point and demanded that all copies of the book were to be confiscated and pulped. (Fox 2024).

Complete with a soft pink, linen embossed, hardback cover, this work is a site-specific intervention within a glossy magazine. Here, Chaimowicz positions his work in an appropriate exchange that traverses interior design and fine art in an unexpected location. His approach within the magazine reflects this thesis's exploration of publication as a site. For Chaimowicz, his reinterpretation of "The World of Interiors" navigates the space between art, design, and commercial media. The critical reception by the magazine owners to Chaimowicz's remaking illuminates the tension between creative industries and individual artists, highlighting how Chaimowicz's project disrupts conventional boundaries and invites a reassessment of how publications can function as sites for creative practice beyond a practical dissemination mode. This approach resonates with my thesis's use of publications to explore site-specificity, where printed matter becomes an active medium.

Chaimowicz's work utilises familiar domestic objects and aesthetics, using items like patterned wallpaper and textiles to evoke memory, nostalgia, and the domestic. Chaimowicz's approach reflects Wittgenstein's views on familiarity, suggesting that the commonplace often goes unnoticed due to its simplicity. Wittgenstein writes, "The aspects of things that are most important for us are hidden because of their simplicity and familiarity" (Wittgenstein 2010/1953, p. 56^e). While Chaimowicz's focus on domesticity and decorative motifs poetically transforms these elements, his approach could be critiqued for romanticising everyday life. By aestheticising the familiar, Chaimowicz risks detaching these motifs from their cultural or functional origins. This tension—between the aesthetic and the everyday—parallels my thesis's exploration of how textiles' iterative transformation can disrupt fixed narratives, offering audiences opportunities for reflection and critique.

Chaimowicz's work resonates with this thesis by using familiar, everyday patterns and domestic motifs to create immersive, site-specific installations that blur the lines between fine art, decoration, and the everyday. This approach parallels this thesis's aim to explore how hand-drawn, repeated patterns—rooted in familiar textiles—can provide audiences with embodied experiences, revealing multiple facets of perception and understanding. Additionally,

36

Chaimowicz's intervention in a glossy design magazine, where he inserts and manipulates his work within a pre-established format, aligns with this thesis's exploration of site-specific work within publications. This practice highlights the crossovers between art and design, prompting audiences to see "anew" within the familiar. Chaimowicz's and this thesis's creative works encourage viewers to experience the familiar with fresh perspectives, challenging their perceptions and inviting interaction. However, while Chaimowicz's work effectively recontextualises domestic patterns within fine art context, it does not explicitly address how these motifs might be transformed through iterative processes or intersemiotic shifts, which this thesis investigates.

In contrast to Chaimowicz's use of familiar domestic motifs, Virgil Marti's work engages with patterns and ornamentation as tools for cultural critique and subversion, offering a divergent perspective on the role of decorative elements to shift perceptions.

Virgil Marti: Ornamentation and Queer Aesthetics in Contemporary Art

American artist Virgil Marti explores themes of identity, taste, and subversion by integrating Rococo, kitsch, and camp aesthetics. Marti's work subverts conventional distinctions between fine art, interior decoration, and kitsch, transforming decorative elements into tools for cultural critique. His installations often feature wallpaper, chandeliers, and custom-made furnishings, which subvert minimalist and heteronormative norms within the gallery by reclaiming ornamentation to create immersive, theatrical spaces marked by excess and playful aesthetics ('Locks Gallery: Virgil Marti' n.d.).

In his 2019 exhibition, titled "Less is Bore: Maximalist Art and Design", Marti employed lush materials and elaborate patterns to disrupt traditional expectations of taste and propriety. This perspective aligns with the "decriminalisation of ornamentation",¹⁶ where the decorative is embraced as a valid and potent mode of expression, challenging the longstanding notion, popularised by modernist critics like Adolf Loos in "Ornament and Crime" (1908), that ornamentation is inferior to minimalist aesthetics. In a catalogue essay, Hilarie M. Sheets noted, "Marti is fascinated by the trickle down of fine art to popular decoration [...] Mining

¹⁶ This term refers to the renewed appreciation of decoration in design after its rejection during modernism. Alice Twemlow explores this shift in her 2005 essay "The Decriminalization of Ornament", tracing its decline and resurgence in contemporary practices.

the gap between high and low, his objects of allure consistently subvert aesthetic hierarchies and offer something other, but never lesser, in return." (Sheets 2014, p. 11). Through his immersive spaces, Marti repositions textiles and ornamentation as carriers of both material and cultural narratives. His works critique minimalist aesthetics by embracing maximalist, tactile designs that evoke an embodied engagement. This focus on materiality aligns with my thesis's exploration of how textiles can function not merely as decorative elements but as sites of complex cultural meaning, engaging audiences across sensory, historical, and aesthetic dimensions.

Marti's work is rooted in queer culture, historically known for using camp and ornamentation as expressions of identity and resistance. Through his installations, Marti links decor and ornamentation to themes of personal and political resistance. Sheets observes that "Marti continually pushes back against the tenets of high culture by rehabilitating dismissed aesthetics and melding them into objects that are oddly familiar but extraordinary." (Sheets 2014, p. 7). This perspective resonates with an expanded form of aspect seeing, where Marti uses decorative elements as shifting symbols of resistance, transforming textiles and decor into media for social critique.

In works such as "Bullies" (1992), Marti encourages viewers to reconsider cultural assumptions around beauty, taste, and gender. Marti has stated that "Ornamentation is a language—a form of expression that speaks to personal histories, identity, and the queer experience" (Fabric Workshop and Museum, 2023). Marti questions the social norms associated with decoration by incorporating Rococo-inspired floral motifs and plush, domestic objects, reflecting Jean Baudrillard's (2005/1968) view that the decorative carries symbolic significance and conveys cultural values. Marti positions ornamentation as a site of subversion and a means of embedding personal narrative within an aesthetic medium.

Marti's approach to pattern and excess embodies the "unrepeating-repeat", where he uses familiar repeated motifs with subtle variations through shifting ascetics (i.e. Rococo into kitsch), creating an effect that feels simultaneously familiar and defiant. This method, used through his use of bespoke handprinted textiles and wallpaper in decorative installations, aligns with this thesis focus on repetition as tools for shifting perception and challenging normative interpretations. Through his distinctive use of decoration and camp aesthetic, Marti disrupts traditional fine art narratives, advocating for the potential of decoration to queer spaces and defy societal norms. His work implies that textiles and ornamentation are not merely aesthetic choices; instead, they function as complex languages that express nuanced identities and expand the boundaries of cultural taste. However, his focus on ornamentation as a site of resistance does not fully explore how repetition and decorative elements might function as tools for shifting perception across semiotic boundaries, a core concern of this thesis.

While Marti's work emphasises identity and resistance through pattern and ornamentation, Jorge Pardo's practice integrates functional design with decorative patterns to explore how art inhabits and can *be* everyday spaces.

Jorge Pardo: Dissolving Distinctions between Art, Design, and Everyday Spaces

Cuban American artist Jorge Pardo is known for blurring the boundaries between art, design, and architecture. His installations confront distinctions between utility and aesthetics, transforming functional spaces and objects into immersive art experiences. This integration reflects a rhizomatic approach, where disciplines merge fluidly, creating non-hierarchical experiences that resist strict categorization.

Drawing on his Cuban heritage, Pardo's projects often feature vibrant colours, customdesigned furniture and objects, and intricate patterns, creating personal and inviting spaces. His 1998 project, "4166 Sea View Lane", exemplifies his ability to traverse multiple contexts and resist categorization. Located in Los Angeles, "4166 Sea View Lane" was commissioned by the Museum of Contemporary Art (MOCA) and conceived as both a functional residence for Pardo and an art installation, blurring the boundaries between public and private spaces. The project featured custom furnishings, vibrant interiors, and architectural elements designed to expand conventional notions of utility, aesthetics, and domestic space. As Pardo himself explains, "It's a complete consideration of context", where art, architecture, and design merge into a hybrid space that oscillates "between a public act and private object" (Enderby 2021, p. 23). This approach invites viewers to reconsider notions of utility and aesthetics, echoing his broader practice of creating immersive, site-specific installations that resist rigid definitions.

Pardo's poetic interventions blur boundaries and provoke thought by exploring the relationship between art, its definition, and its place. As Emma Enderby notes,

His playful, even cheeky integrations into public space deepen relationships to poetic questions around art—its definition, and its place. The confusion between the art and its site is precise, both antithetical to 'art-in' public space—art in juxtaposition to architecture—and to the discreetness of 'art-as.' Pardo's interventions neither announce themselves as art, nor sidle up to public space without friction (Enderby 2021, p. 19).

By blurring the lines between art and life, Pardo's work invites audiences to engage with art as something to see and live with. As Mark Prince observes, "It is [Pardo's] ability to straddle these spaces, reflecting the values and performing the functions required by each, which distinguishes [his work]" (Prince 2012, p. 7). This dual functionality allows Pardo's works to adapt to different environments' cultural, social, and practical needs, further challenging conventional notions of utility and aesthetics.

Collaborations with institutions like The Fabric Workshop and Museum (FWM), DIA Center for the Arts, and more have allowed Pardo to further explore the integration of textiles, patterns, and architecture. In these projects, Pardo uses textiles not merely as decorative elements but as essential components of spatial design, emphasising their materiality and sensory appeal. A notable example is Pardo's 1997 "Untitled" commission by FWM to redesign the museum's entrance and public areas, which included a reception area and a video lounge/café. As described by FWM, "the "Untitled" project began with Pardo's design of two fabrics, inspired by 1950s and 60s-era textile design, these fabrics were printed on linen, cotton sateen, and Swiss cotton, and were made into room dividers, wallpaper, and window curtains" (FWM Website: Jorge Pardo n.d.). By embedding textiles into the physical architecture—transforming them into walls, dividers, and decorative elements—Pardo demonstrated how these elements could reshape viewers' engagement with space.

Using recurring motifs, Pardo exemplifies the concept of the unrepeating-repeat, creating installations where hand-printed repeated patterns are subtly varied across different settings. This is specifically seen in the collaboration with the FWM, where the in-house hand-printed fabric embodied repeated and non-repeated elements. The hand-printed patterns on these architectural textiles resonate with the concept of the unrepeating-repeat, presenting a dual layering of repetition: the fabric held an overall printed repeated design, and was overlaid with variant mis-matched shapes and forms. This approach creates a sense of variation within repetition between the two overlaid patterns, subtly disrupting traditional expectations of textiles, which is further enhanced through its scale and architectural application. This

interplay between repetition and variation reflects Pardo's ability to recontextualise familiar motifs. Additionally, the installation highlights his practice of creating site-specific installations that question conventional boundaries between fine art, design, and architecture.

An example of Pardo's fusion of art, design, and architecture, the piece "Curtain" (2001) was conceived for the Dia Center for the Arts in collaboration with The Fabric Workshop and Museum. This work exemplifies his innovative approach to spatial interventions, blurring the boundaries between function and aesthetics. "Curtain" was inspired by 1960s textile patterns and executed on sheer Swiss cotton through hand-printed silkscreen techniques¹⁷. Spanning approximately 8,000 x 96 inches, the piece enveloped the gallery space of Dia on an aluminium track, serving simultaneously as an architectural element and a monumental artwork (FWM Website: Jorge Pardo n.d.). By integrating art with architecture and design, Pardo reframes decoration as an active, transformative force, aligning with exploring textiles and patterns as conduits for both aesthetic and experiential meaning.

This approach broadens the potential of textiles beyond traditional decorative roles, aligning with Pardo's practice of recontextualising everyday objects and materials within immersive, site-specific installations. Through these transformations, his work underscores the potential of textiles as conduits for both aesthetic and experiential meaning, further expanding the dialogue between design, architecture, and fine art. In these projects, Pardo uses textiles as decorative additions and core elements of spatial design, emphasising their materiality and visual appeal.

In Pardo's installations, everyday objects like lamps, tables, and walls convey aesthetic and cultural narratives, positioning his work in a space where design communicates as much as it decorates. This aligns with his view of art as an interactive and everyday medium, encouraging audiences to engage with art as part of their lived environment rather than a detached experience. Using recurring motifs, Pardo exemplifies the concept of the unrepeating-repeat, creating installations where hand-printed repeated patterns are subtly varied across different settings.

¹⁷ I have direct knowledge of this work, having assisted in the printing process of the piece during my time as a studio assistant at The Fabric Workshop and Museum. This hands-on involvement offered valuable insight into the layered design and technical execution of the project and also played a role in fostering my early interest in the exploration of variant repeats.

Pardo's work closely relates to this thesis' creative work using patterns, decorative motifs, and large-scale, site-specific installations that navigate boundaries between fine art and design. Pardo's approach is rhizomatic, deliberately flattening hierarchies between disciplines traditionally seen as separate—such as design, interior decoration, and fine art—highlighting the importance of a non-hierarchical space for these intersections. While Pardo does not explicitly engage with translation between textile processes and other modes or literal aspect seeing, his work conceptually touches on these ideas by recontextualising domestic and decorative motifs within and through a fine art practice. The familiar patterns and textures of his installations encourage viewers to see art through the shifting lens of design, interiors, and everyday space, prompting a conceptual form of aspect seeing as they navigate these contexts. However, while Pardo's use of variant-printed textiles demonstrates an embedded exploration of repetition, it does not address the iterative transformations across translated media or embodied aspect seeing in the way the creative works of this thesis do.

Summary

This section examined how the works of Marc Camille Chaimowicz, Virgil Marti, and Jorge Pardo resonate with this thesis's exploration of pattern, decoration, and site-specific installation as vehicles for shifting perception and engaging with everyday spaces. Together, their work demonstrates how decorative motifs and repetition, can recontextualise everyday elements into immersive, transformative spaces. Their practices highlight how site-specific installations can engage audiences in embodied exchanges—a central aim of my thesis, which extends their approaches through intersemiotic translation and iterative processes.

Together, these artists demonstrate the potential of decorative, repeated motifs to foster nonhierarchical, transformative spaces that encourage an embodied experience. While they align with this thesis by using repetition, site-specificity, and decorative motifs, my research differentiates itself by emphasising intersemiotic translation as a core method. Through the unrepeating-repeat, I transform historical textile patterns into evolving, embodied installations that invite audiences to engage with meanings across multiple semiotic boundaries. This thesis extends their approaches by transforming historical textile processes into embodied experiences that invite audiences to engage with various perspectives of meaning. Textiles as Experience: Process-Driven Translations & Collaborative Practices in Contemporary Art

Overview

Central to this research is a focus on how contemporary textile practices disrupt hierarchies and foster engagement through processes of translation, repetition, and collaboration. This inquiry positions textiles as a medium for nuanced, transformative understandings, where material, labour, and process intersect with broader cultural and semiotic concerns. Anne Wilson, Ann Hamilton, and the Fabric Workshop and Museum each contribute to contemporary textiles by expanding the medium's potential through process, materiality, and collaboration. Their practices/ethos highlight how textiles function as dynamic, performative, and experiential mediums that extend beyond expectations. These artists and arts organisation offer insights into how textiles can serve as sites of connection, engagement, and poetic resonance, turning familiar materials and techniques into vehicles for narrative, translation, and collaboration.

Wilson's emphasis on labour and performative processes highlights the meditative and communal dimensions of textile work, creating a foundation for understanding repetition as an action that serves as a site for transformation. Hamilton's integration of textiles with language and sensory experience demonstrates the poetic potential of materials to evoke memory and embodied understanding. The FWM's collaborative model and commitment to technical experimentation have redefined textiles as tools for interdisciplinary exploration and conceptual inquiry.

Anne Wilson: Process, Performance, and Materiality in Textile Installations

Anne Wilson is an American artist known for using textiles and thread to explore themes of labour, process, and the body in relation to time and materiality. Wilson's practice often involves weaving, stitching, and other forms of textile manipulation, transforming traditionally domestic techniques into contemporary art that engages with social and cultural issues. Her work is often described as an "invocation of the tactile and temporal dimensions of textiles, where each stitch or knot is a mark of presence, time, and labour" (Wilson, 2015). Wilson's work "Topologies" (2002) features intricate and delicate webs and lace-like structures made from hair, thread, and fabric pinned on long surfaces within a gallery space. In this project, "[...] webs and networks of found black lace are deconstructed to create large horizontal topographies, 'physical drawings' that are both complicated and delicate." (Wilson n.d., para. 2). The repetitive gestures within Wilson's work—the pulling of threads, the tying of knots, the walking of the warp—create a meditative quality through the process of repeated labour.

Wilson's work often includes performative elements, where the act of weaving processes is incorporated into her installations or carried out by collaborators. In her performative sculptural work "Walking the Warp" (2008-2012), Wilson used an exceptionally enlarged warping board¹⁸ on which participants would 'walk' or physically engage with a large-scale version of developing the 'warp'¹⁹ for weaving. This practice transforms textile-making into a public performance of a communal, ritualistic experience, dissolving the boundaries between process and action as well as artist, material, labour, and viewer (Jefferies, Clark, and Conroy 2015). This performative approach reflects this thesis's rhizomatic framework, where process and materiality are interconnected and emphasise the relational aspects of textiles.

Wilson's approach to textiles explores the theme of labour, particularly the physical and repetitive actions involved in stitching and weaving. By emphasising the handmade element of textile work, Wilson highlights the labour-intensive nature of textile practices. Her work draws attention to the historically invisible labour associated with textiles, reframing it as a potent site of expression and agency (Wilson 2012). Her work confronts traditional gendered notions of textile as "women's work", elevating these practices to a space of conceptual inquiry and contemporary relevance.

Wilson's installations often emphasise the materiality of textiles, allowing viewers to experience the textures, weights, and fragility of these materials. Her installations explore the poetic potential of textiles to communicate beyond words, touching on universal themes of

¹⁸ A warping board is a tool used by weavers to measure and arrange warp threads to the correct length and order before they're transferred to the loom. It is typically a rectangular wooden frame with pegs placed at regular intervals along the frame's sides. The pegs guide the weaver in winding the warp threads back and forth in a systematic way, ensuring each thread is measured to an exact length and kept in order.

¹⁹ The warp is the set of vertical threads that are stretched and held under tension on a loom to form the foundational structure of woven fabric. These threads are interlaced with horizontal threads, known as the weft, to create the final textile. The warp provides stability and structure, with each thread carefully aligned and spaced to support the weft's movement through the loom.

memory, loss, and connection (Wilson, 2015). Wilson redefines textiles as a space for social, cultural, and material exploration by emphasising process, materiality, and performative gestures. Her installations invite viewers to engage with the materials, gestures, and histories embedded in textiles, aligning with this thesis's exploration of textiles as multifaceted and richly expressive forms.

Her sculptural installation, "Rewinds" (2010), translates the processes of textile production into glass, creating a 'topography of use' that reflects on labour and material culture. The work consists of a horizontal glass platform filled with glass weaving bobbins arranged to evoke a workspace where threads are wound and sorted. Wilson notes:

[...] watching the movement of the gaffers²⁰, [Wilson] realized the relatedness of textile processes to glass — glass is flexible and can be fibrous when molten to bend, spin, wind, and wrap. By translating fiber bobbin-winding and rewinding into glass, Wilson was able to exploit aesthetic analogies between these two materials and modes of production (Egleson and Wilson 2010, para. 1).

This act of translation by Wilson, through "exploit[ing] aesthetic analogies", aligns with intersemiotic translation, as she shifts the textile process into a new and perhaps unexpectedly connected medium while retaining its associations with labour and cultural production. Through this work, Wilson demonstrates the potential of translation to connect materials and meanings, a foundational principle in my investigation of interconnected and multifaceted forms of expression.

Wilson's 2022 project, "Davis Street Drawing Room", highlights the importance of slow-looking and participant engagement, offering multiple perspectives through collective interactions with textile fragments. In this experimental art project, artists, writers, and historians are invited to closely examine an archive of materials—including lace, cloth, and glass bobbins through drawing, writing, photography, or digital imaging. This engagement fosters critical thinking and invention, encouraging participants to explore the formal and historical complexities of textiles. By focusing on the intimate details of texture, spin, and interlaced structures, participants are encouraged to "look slowly" to uncover further insights; as Wilson notes, "textiles are a particularly rich subject for slow, close looking. The more you look, the

²⁰ A gaffer in glassmaking refers to the lead glassblower responsible for shaping and forming molten glass into its final form. Skilled in manipulating the material with tools and heat, the gaffer directs the process, often working with a team to ensure precision and artistry in the creation of glass objects.

more you see." (Wilson n.d.). This practice mirrors the importance of slow, deliberate observation central to the process of the unrepeating-repeat in my research, where variations invite shifts in perspective. The slow looking of textile fragments within Wilon's project creates an archive of drawings that reflect an evolving engagement with material, gesture, and form. This aligns with my thesis's exploration, where sustained observation and iterative processes foster shifting understandings and further connections across media. Through their contributions, participants shape a growing archive that reflects the relational and evolving nature of meaning-making inspired by deep engagement with textiles.

Anne Wilson's work resonates with this research through her exploration of textiles as a vital, non-hierarchical material within the field of fine art. She emphasises the tactile and labour-intensive aspects of textile processes, bringing these traditionally domestic practices into the gallery and elevating their material presence by increasing scale or emphasising process. This Ph.D. connects to her approach of bridging textile processes across different semiotic forms, creating a dialogue between these media. This expanded approach moves beyond the material, exploring how textile practices can be translated and reinterpreted through other forms, inviting viewers to engage with textiles in new, multifaceted, and interconnected ways.

While Anne Wilson's work emphasises the meditative and labour-intensive processes inherent in textiles, Ann Hamilton extends this exploration by integrating these processes with language and sensory experience, creating immersive installations that engage audiences on multiple levels. Both artists position textiles as more than material objects, instead presenting them as carriers of memory, labour, and connection, a foundation that this research builds upon through its focus on translation and shifting perspectives.

Ann Hamilton: Materiality, Language, and the Poetics of Experience

Ann Hamilton's installations blend textiles, language, and sensory experiences to create immersive environments that dissolve traditional separations between viewer and artwork. Her work often engages themes of memory, history, and the body, using materials like textiles, paper, and found objects to create multisensory experiences. Within her practice, materials operate across sensory and semantic forms to deepen engagement.

46

In "the event of a thread"²¹ (2012), Hamilton transformed an extensive visual arts space into an interactive installation featuring swings and a giant billowing curtain that responded to participants' movements, creating a space for collective interaction. Hamilton captured this engagement, stating, "There's something that happens when you swing. I'm sure there's a neurological explanation for the sense of pleasure that you feel and I think people are giving over to that" (Forster 2013, para. 1). This work exemplifies Hamilton's exploration of tactile, repetitive actions—such as swinging, stitching, or erasing—that engage the body and mind.

Hamilton's installations frequently invite audiences to slow down and engage deeply with their surroundings. Her works foster what she describes as an "act of attention", encouraging participants to surrender to sensory experience and cultivate awareness of their physical interaction with the space (Saarbach 2021, p.171). Saarbach further notes that her installations require a "quality of presence", prompting viewers to question, observe, and uncover hidden details (2021, p. 172). This emphasis on attention and slowness resonates with my work, where the unrepeating-repeat similarly invites viewers to decelerate, give attention, and invest time. Both practices aim to facilitate shifts through slowness and attention that may change perception, fostering meaningful engagement with the material and conceptual layers of the work.

Hamilton's use of text bridges language and textiles, emphasising their shared materiality. She discusses how textiles, like language, are made of lines that cross and connect, creating textures of meaning (Hamilton n.d.). In "indigo blue" (1991), Hamilton filled a room with stacks of used work clothes dyed in indigo and engaged a 'scribe' who erased text from books, creating a repetitive, performative meditation on language, labour, and erasure. Similarly, in the piece "the theater is a blank page" (2015/2018), passages from Virginia Woolf's "To the Lighthouse" (1927) were printed on cloth ribbons and passed through the audience's hands, blending the physical act of reading with the materiality of the text. This approach reflects her belief in the visceral quality of language, where "a printed poem or a phrase, little black marks on a page, can just reach out and grab you—can become a strong physical and emotional sensation." (Hamilton and McHale 2020, p. 221).

²¹ Ann Hamilton consistently uses lowercase titles, reinforcing the quiet, immersive, and tactile nature of her practice.

In "habitus" (2016), Hamilton extended this tactile engagement with text, allowing visitors to take away printed commonplace pages, turning language into objects of exchange that circulated beyond the gallery. She is interested in exploring how "the specificity of material histories rub up against the abstraction of language and categories and the organization of knowledge" (Hamilton and McHale 2020, p. 214), integrating tangible materials with conceptual frameworks to create sensory experiences. By intertwining text and textiles, Hamilton's work invites viewers to explore materials' sensory and intimate qualities, encouraging understanding beyond words. This approach resonates with my practice, particularly in using intersemiotic translation to bridge material processes with the blended nature of text and drawing. Like Hamilton, my work fosters deliberate, slowed interactions by inviting viewers to engage with subtle variations and nuanced meanings with repeated variants, encouraging a re-evaluation of relationships between material histories and abstract

While Hamilton's work centres on tactile and performative meaning within installation spaces, my research employs intersemiotic translation to expand the interplay between textiles, drawing, and text. In my work, through subtle variation and transformation, the unrepeating-repeat evokes aspect seeing, fostering a nuanced, non-linear dialogue that shifts the focus from Hamilton's material engagement with textiles to my direct exploration of the processes of textiles. While Hamilton's work often emphasises textile materials' symbolic and performative qualities, my approach delves into the methods and processes inherent to textile-making. By integrating these processes through intersemiotic translation, I aim to uncover and reframe the subtleties of repetition and variation, inviting viewers to engage with the making and materiality, fostering shifting perceptions and understandings.

Where Hamilton's practice bridges materiality and language to evoke poetic resonance, the Fabric Workshop and Museum takes this exploration further by providing a collaborative platform for technical and conceptual experimentation. The FWM's model supports artists in pushing the boundaries of textiles, facilitating a cross-disciplinary dialogue that informs intersemiotic translation within this research.

The Fabric Workshop and Museum: Innovation in Textiles and Collaborative Practice

The Fabric Workshop and Museum (FWM), based in Philadelphia, has been a leading institution promoting innovative textile and interdisciplinary practices since its establishment in 1977. Founded to support artists experimenting with textile-based and material-focused practices, the FWM has expanded the possibilities within fabric and fibre arts, encouraging exploration of materiality, process, and cross-disciplinary engagement. The museum's collaborative projects support an environment where textiles become a medium for creative and conceptual inquiry, bridging the boundaries between craft, fine art, and design (Stroud and Mitchell 2002a). The FMW is defined by its commitment to material exploration, with its heart lying in a large workshop containing multiple 19-yard-long printing tables designed for repeat fabric and wallpaper production. This facility has become core to the FWM's material-making processes, fostering experimentation and skill development through apprenticeships, artist residencies, and staff-led initiatives (The Fabric Workshop and Museum 2023).

One defining and unique characteristic of the FWM is its collaborative model, which pairs visiting artists with skilled artists-technicians based at the FWM. This approach allows artists to experiment and think through unfamiliar materials and techniques. Through these partnerships, artists can develop works that reimagine conventional textile practices and push interdisciplinary boundaries. Over the years, the FWM has hosted many influential artists who have used their residencies to explore textiles in ways that address a multitude of thematics intersecting through their own practice. Its ethos has consistently fostered the intersection of fine art, design, and materiality, challenging traditional hierarchies between disciplines.

Architect Robert Venturi's exploration of pattern and decoration through textile and wallpaper designs exemplifies this approach, as his postmodern ethos bridged the practical and the conceptual. His 1980 + 1993 collaborations at the FWM resulted in bold textile patterns that bridged traditional divides between art and design, underscoring the museum's commitment to interdisciplinary exploration. Similarly, Jorge Pardo's 1997 project at the FWM blurred the line between functionality and art, particularly through his long-term site-specific installation within the museum building, showcasing textiles as integral components of architectural and conceptual spaces. Betty Woodman's ceramic and textile collaborations further highlighted how traditional craft methods could transcend medium-specific boundaries; her works with the FWM (1980, 1985) integrated fabric and ceramic forms into unified installations that bridged decorative art and fine art (Stroud and Mitchell 2002a). These artists demonstrate the FWM's role in positioning textiles as versatile tools for bridging and reimagining disciplines, a perspective central to this thesis's focus on intersemiotic translation.

Several artist-residents at the FWM emphasised textiles' narrative and historical dimensions, situating them as carriers of memory and identity. Kiki Smith's 2001 collaboration at the FWM included works that explored themes of the body, memory, and materiality through an exploration of a traditional textile form, the blanket. Ann Hamilton's performative textile installations developed during her 1993 residency, where she used the tactile qualities of material alongside text and performance to evoke sensory and embodied experiences. Faith Ringgold's narrative quilts, created during her 1990 residency, extended this narrative potential by addressing themes of race and gender through repeated patterns and storytelling. Similarly, Kara Walker's 2001 collaboration with the FWM involved cut-paper and textile-based works that engaged with historical and racial narratives, situating textiles as mediums for political commentary (Stroud and Mitchell 2002a). These practices illustrate how textiles serve as multifaceted, narrative-rich media, fostering conceptual depth and bridging the past with contemporary discourse.

The FWM has enabled artists to explore the conceptual possibilities of repetition and variation, pushing boundaries in pattern and design. Laura Owens's 2001 residency at the FWM demonstrated how repetition could function as a tool for experimentation, as she created layered, painterly textile designs that disrupted conventional expectations of repeated imagery through hand embroidery²². Virgil Marti's transformation of decorative motifs into immersive installations is exemplified by the long-term installation of his work "Bullies" (1992) in the men's restroom at the FWM. By incorporating ornate, floral, and baroque-inspired patterns into an unexpected, utilitarian space, Marti subverted traditional expectations of wallpaper. Claes Oldenburg's collaboration at the FWM reimagined everyday objects into soft sculptures that playfully explored materiality and scale in the piece "Calico Bunny" (1997). Yinka Shonibare's use of wax prints in his 2001 FWM residency explored colonialism and cultural identity by considering Philadelphia soul or "Philly sound", using repeated patterns to embody historical and political narratives (Stroud and Mitchell 2002a). Together, these artists highlight

²² As previously discussed in the section on Laura Owens.

the power of manipulated repetition to evoke cultural critique, perception shifts, and nuanced narrative potentials, which parallels my thesis's interest in the unrepeating-repeat.

The FWM fosters material investigations that blend conceptual and process-led inquiries, showcasing textiles as repositories of knowledge and innovation. Christine Borland's residency at (2001) resulted in the multicomponent instillation "Bullet Proof Breath", which combined delicate glass forms with spider silk from golden orb weavers and film to explore the intersection of science and materiality. Mary Heilmann's 1995 collaboration at the FWM bridged abstraction and materiality, transforming painterly approaches into printed textile forms that blurred distinctions between media. Beverly Semmes's large-scale textile installations explored gender, body, and materiality, as exemplified in her dramatic fabric sculptures developed at the FWM in 2000, which reimagined textiles as monumental and conceptual tools (Stroud and Mitchell 2002a). These practices underscore the potential of textiles as investigative tools, where the process itself becomes a site of inquiry, aligning with my interest in material engagement through intersemiotic translation.

The FWM has been instrumental in establishing textiles as a significant mode of design and artistic exploration, creation, and dissemination. Since its inception, the FWM has been a centre for the innovative exploration of textiles, supporting artists in their technical and conceptual engagement with fabric, pattern, and repetition. Through access to an open, exploratory workshop and the expertise of skilled technicians, artists working at the FWM can experiment with bespoke printed patterns, innovative material processes, and diverse techniques, expanding the possibilities of textiles and other mediums while pushing creative boundaries. The FWM has fostered a vital connection between fine art and design, allowing textiles to transcend traditional craft labels and function as an expressive form of interdisciplinary exploration.

As an early career artist, I trained as an apprentice at the FWM and subsequently continued to work as a studio assistant. This training in hand-printed repeating processes was foundational to my understanding of repetition and my subsequent development of strategies to introduce variation within the rigid framework to create repetition. The collaborative nature of working experimentally with the skilled technicians at the FWM fostered technical proficiency and encouraged an open, exploratory approach to process, which had a lasting influence on my practice. The FWM's approach to process-driven, material-focused creation supports an indepth exploration of repetition and invites the subversion of traditional expectations, pushing the boundaries of what repetition can mean in printed textiles. Such an approach has been influential in shaping my artistic inquiry into the development of unrepeating-repeats, aiming to harness the deliberate manipulation of variance within a conventionally static repeat.

Summary

The practices of Anne Wilson, Ann Hamilton, and the FWM provide a contextual foundation for this research, demonstrating how textiles function as adaptable, collaborative, and transformative mediums. Together, these practitioners highlight how textiles can transcend static materiality, becoming tools for engagement, narrative, and innovation. While their approaches share a focus on materiality, process, and collaboration, they diverge in emphasis, offering a rich framework upon which my research builds. My work extends these foundations by integrating intersemiotic translation, transforming static repetition into iterative frameworks that actively shift perception. Unlike their practices, my research emphasises evolving, participatory audience engagement through subtle variations and pluralistic audience exploration across media.

While these practices inform this research, my work expands their approaches by positioning intersemiotic translation as a method to explore and expand discussions of textiles, where the process of repetition becomes a deliberate tool for shifting perception. Unlike Wilson, who focuses on the materiality of labour, my research bridges textile processes with drawing and text, creating an interplay between media that emphasises subtle variation and multiplicity. Similarly, Hamilton's poetic engagement with language informs my exploration of linguistic and material connections. At the same time, my use of the unrepeating-repeat introduces iterative differences that foster 'aspect seeing', encouraging audiences to perceive shifting perspectives of meaning. Building on the FWM's technical and collaborative frameworks, I explore how translation across semiotic processes can disrupt traditional notions of repetition and transform textiles into sites of evolving rhizomatic exploration.

Beyond the Decorative: Using Repetition and Aspect Seeing in Political and Cultural Narratives

Overview

Artists Ghada Amer, Clare Rojas, and David Mabb each explore textiles by engaging through themes of identity, politics, and cultural critique, collectively demonstrating how textiles can act as transformative tools for addressing social narratives. By examining how these artists use repetition, subtle variation, and intersemiotic translation, their works expand traditional notions of textiles as decorative objects and instead position them as carriers of meaning.

Their practices align with this thesis's central inquiries, revealing how textiles can evoke evolving perspectives. Amer's work explores feminist narratives through embroidered imagery that shifts between abstraction and explicit representation, encouraging reflection on gender and identity. Rojas draws on North American folk-art traditions, translating quilting patterns into sculptural forms that blur the boundaries between two- and three-dimensional space, while reimagining textiles' potential for storytelling. By juxtaposing William Morris's decorative motifs with modernist critiques, Mabb interrogates the socio-political roles of repetition and pattern, turning textiles into tools of resistance. Together, Amer, Rojas, and Mabb demonstrate how textiles can extend beyond their expected materiality when embedded with cultural and political critique. Their work reflects this thesis's exploration of textiles as multidimensional, active participants in contemporary art, offering encounters that engage perception shifts and invite critical reflection.

Ghada Amer: Feminism, Cultural Identity, and the Language of Stitching

Ghada Amer, an Egyptian-born American artist, is renowned for her innovative use of embroidery on canvas, merging stitched lines with painted surfaces to explore themes of femininity, sexuality, and cultural identity. By incorporating embroidery—often relegated to domesticity—into fine art, Amer disrupts traditional distinctions between craft and painting, repositioning thread as a medium of feminist expression and critique. Her work alters initial perceptions of the viewer through shifting perspectives, where seemingly abstract lines reveal hidden imagery, which, upon closer inspection, shifts viewers' understanding from an expectation of abstract expression to that of embodied feminist narrative. Teresa St-Gelais discusses her work in a catalogue essay from her (2012) exhibition at Musée d'art Contemporain de Montréal.

Her modus operandi is extravagance, excess even, in the sense applied to English romantic painting but also in a transgressive sense, for she deals with subjects that do not readily conform to the rules of art—and in a context, moreover, where pleasure seems to be fully assumed. [...] In fact, it is only when we move closer to a work that we see what is concealed behind the coloured field. Intoxicated by the allure of the *matière*, we realize only subsequently that, in the background, other pleasures are being played out. (St-Gelais & Amer 2012, pp. 71-72).

This process within Amer's work connects to the importance within my practice of proximity and movement in experiencing the full perspectives of a piece. In both practices (hers and mine), viewers are encouraged to step closer, shift their position, and physically move in relation to the work in order to uncover concealed elements. This active engagement mirrors the concept of aspect seeing, where initial impressions evolve into enriched understanding through attentive observation. In Amer's work, what initially appears abstract becomes intentional, and the concealed feminist narratives emerge through closer inspection. Similarly, in my practice, proximity and movement are essential in revealing subtle variations and further perspectives embedded within the work. This interplay between distance and intimacy transforms the act of viewing into a participatory process, challenging the audience to go beyond surface-level observation to perceive and engage more fully with what is in front of them. By fostering this active engagement, both Amer's work and my own invite audiences into an embodied experience of discovery and revelation.

Amer's approach transcends textiles traditional decorative role to act as carriers of nuanced social and political commentary. Modesta di Paola's²³ assertion concerning Amer's work, that "Translation is not imitation but a form of revitalisation" (2018, p. 128), underscores the transformative potential of such processes. Amer's stitching exemplifies this by functioning as a form of intersemiotic translation, where threads operate simultaneously as paint, line, and critique. By crossing semiotic boundaries, her work forges intricate narratives that deconstruct traditional hierarchies and invite reimagination. Her transformation of cultural artefacts, such as traditional embroidery, into autonomous works of art reflects this principle of revitalisation.

²³ The following quotes from Modesta di Paola's original text were in Spanish and have been translated into English using Al tools.

This resonates with my exploration of the unrepeating-repeat and intersemiotic translation, where creation is prioritised over replication and original forms are transformed into multifaceted expressions, fostering new dimensions of meaning and engagement.

Feminist theory frames rewriting as a tool for challenging entrenched dichotomies. di Paola states, "The elaboration of the concept of réécriture [rewriting] surpasses the confines of traditional and conceptual dichotomies such as male and female, original and copy, primary and secondary, high and low culture, coloniser and colonised, individualised and neutralised, woman and infidel." (2018, p. 79). Amer's work embodies this rewriting, using embroidery to subvert patriarchal narratives and disrupt aesthetic hierarchies. Similarly, my research applies the unrepeating-repeat approach to destabilise expectations and foster new interpretations, both of which create space for reimagined cultural frameworks.

Amer's stitching exemplifies the concept of the unrepeating-repeat, employing hand-crafted, repeated-yet-variant stitched motifs that refuse static replication. Her works embody the transformation of meaning inherent in rewriting and intersemiotic translation by setting up visual expectations that subvert themselves upon closer examination. As explained by Jean Robertson, "Ghada Amer took images from sex magazines of women masturbating and remade them in embroidery thread adhered to painted canvases." (Robertson 2003, p. 28). "The translation [... in Amer's work] reveals how hybrid identities mediate between cultures, languages, and gendered spaces, producing artworks that exist in the in-between." (di Paola 2018, p. 140). Her works inhabit a critical space of "in-betweenness", fostering oscillations between textiles, visual narratives, and socio-political commentary that shift viewer perceptions.

Within Amer's works, erotic images of women emerge subtly from what appears initially as abstract lines, creating a visual dialogue that critiques the traditional male gaze and reclaims the female body from a perspective often dominated by masculine narratives (Robertson 2003). Through rhythmic and concealed imagery, Amer invites viewers into a process of aspect seeing, where the artwork unfolds in stages, inviting understandings that transcend the canvas surface. "Her addition of thread, often in colorful, ejaculatory waterfalls over these pornographic bodies, blocks easy visual access to the bodies" (Skelly 2017, p. 87). This method disrupts direct consumption of the female form, reframing it within a feminist context.

By bringing embroidery into the realm of painting, Amer repositions textile medium as tools for social commentary, challenging gender norms and redefining the hierarchy between 'craft' and fine art. "Her works create a cacophony of voices, navigating between her Arabic origins and Western experiences, between the visual and textual, and between the original and its translation." (di Paola 2018, p. 140). This cacophony reflects the multiplicity of translation inherent in her work, as the interplay between diverse narratives, cultural histories, personal agendas, and feminist critique invites viewers to oscillate between meanings. Similarly, in my work, the translation between text, drawing, and textiles fosters audience engagement while echoing Amer's subversive use of specific imagery to reshape and expand initial interpretations of the work.

Amer's work illustrates how deliberate imperfection functions as an artistic and feminist strategy. "The deliberate imperfection of these textiles is an ironic play with the idea of polished painting versus 'amateur' crafting. They are embracing imperfection as part of an artistic project that questions both art-historical hierarchies and ideologies related to female sexuality and creative production" (Skelly 2017, p. 87). Similarly, in my practice, I intentionally adopt imperfection as an integral part of the production process. By allowing room for variation, I embrace a tactile, process-driven approach that forms the unrepeating-repeat in its refusal of rigid repetition. This method fosters a deliberate interplay between intention and happenstance. Through this, imperfection becomes not a flaw but an intentional strategy, offering space for reinterpretation and shifting perceptions within the work itself.

The concept of translation as an act of creative transformation rather than simple replication offers a robust framework for understanding Amer's work. "Rewriting is not merely the act of transferring meaning but a process of subjective reinvention that generates difference. Amer translates her works to mediate between her culture of origin and her culture of arrival, embracing hybrid identities." (di Paola 2018, p. 142). This perspective aligns with my research's focus on intersemiotic translation and the unrepeating-repeat, where initial meanings are reshaped into complex, multifaceted expressions, prompting viewers to engage deeply and reconsider their assumptions.

Ghada Amer's work and my research share compelling overlaps, productive intersections, and distinct differences, particularly in feminist critique, intersemiotic translation, and the unrepeating-repeat. Both practices engage viewers through proximity, movement, and aspect

56

seeing, inviting them to move beyond surface-level observations to uncover depths of meanings. Amer transforms traditional embroidery into a medium of feminist and cultural commentary, while my focus of the Ph.D. connects with integration of textiles, drawing, and text to disrupt conventional hierarchies and foster audience engagement. Her embrace of deliberate imperfection and hybrid identities parallels my exploration of the unrepeating-repeat as a method for creating evolving, multifaceted interpretations.

Our practices converge most strongly in their shared commitment to 'rewriting' through translation entrenched narratives and hierarchies from one mode to another. Amer's embroidery reclaims the female body and challenges the male gaze, often employing erotic imagery to critique and subvert patriarchal norms. Similarly, my incorporation of terms for female genitalia within textile and drawing practices subverts expectations, disrupting aesthetic and cultural assumptions about propriety and femininity. Both approaches align with feminist theories that position rewriting and transformation as tools for deconstructing binary structures and fostering pluralistic and inclusive narratives. This shared focus highlights the potential of textiles as communicative forms that transcend traditional decorative roles, offering nuanced frameworks for critical engagement and creative innovation.

Amer's work, however, distinguishes itself through its explicit focus on cultural identity and feminist eroticism, using thread to reframe and reclaim female sexuality. While I also engage with feminist themes, the focus of the Ph.D. diverges through its methodological emphasis on the triangulation of the unrepeating-repeat, aspect seeing, and intersemiotic translation. This framework enables my work to operate rhizomatically, inviting audiences into dialogic processes that shift perspectives across textiles, drawing, and text. Ultimately, Amer's and my practices intersect in their transformative potential, leveraging textiles' tactile and conceptual dimensions to engage audiences and encourage participatory reflection. Through shared strategies of re-working through translation, deliberate imperfection, and intersemiotic exploration, both bodies of work contribute to the evolving discourse on textiles as sites of resistance, innovation, and cultural critique, offering nuanced pathways for artistic and social engagement.

Building on Amer's feminist reclamation of traditional embroidery, Clare Rojas similarly reinterprets historical textile motifs, translating quilt patterns into sculptural installations that reshape narratives of femininity and domesticity. Both artists use intersemiotic translation to

57

transform textile traditions, yet Rojas's work emphasises material transitions and cultural history over embodied feminist critique.

Clare Rojas: Folk Art, Feminism, and Narrative in Contemporary Textiles

Clare Rojas draws from folk art and textile traditions to explore themes of gender, identity, and cultural narrative. Her work often incorporates quilt-like patterns, earthy colours, and folk-inspired figures, echoing the visual language of quilting and folk art. Rojas's compositions feature gridded structures and decorative motifs that embody a rhythmic formalism, creating artworks that shift through variation and subtle changes within pattern—an approach aligned with the concept of the unrepeating-repeat. Her method transforms traditional quilt structures within contemporary art, positioning folk art as a medium of critique and challenging assumptions about femininity, domesticity, and labour (Rojas and Platow 2007). As Rojas herself states, "I had the idea that I could manifest the world I wanted, one where the table was turned, and I wondered how that would feel. I, as a woman, would be empowered, men would be exploited, language would work against them." (Rojas 2010, p. 1). This sentiment encapsulates her feminist critique, where quilting patterns—historically linked to women's domestic labour—become vehicles for subversion and empowerment. Like the research discussed here, her work invites audiences to reimagine these contemporary folk narratives as multifaceted and evolving expressions of identity and cultural critique.

Clare Rojas's work uses historical patterns rooted in diverse North American traditions, namely quilting motifs that have long been associated with women's work. Rojas reinterprets these patterns in her practice, often using painted wood panels as a substitute for fabric, reshaping and cutting flat wooden components into geometric shapes that mimic patchwork quilts. Through this translation from textiles to wood, Rojas creates installations that appear quilt-like in their arrangement yet operate within a sculptural, three-dimensional space.

This translation aligns with her belief that "recycling the old to make the new is an awesome metaphor for anything. [...] I redefine it, just in a different way" (Rojas 2010, p. 2). Rojas's reference to 'recycling' functions as a metaphor, not only for the reuse of physical materials but also for the reinterpretation and transformation of ideas, patterns, and images. By working from traditional starting points and translating them into her contemporary practice, Rojas engages in a process of 'recycling' that bridges past and present, merging historical references

with contemporary forms. This metaphor underscores reinterpreting cultural motifs and reimagining their relevance, where the transformation becomes a transformative act of creation.

Rojas's integration of painting, pattern, and sculptural installations highlights an intersemiotic translation, moving between media while preserving the essence of quilting motifs –within the space. Here, the viewer can feel as if they are within a quilted pattern. By painting patterns and incorporating them within her sculptural installations, Rojas bridges two- and threedimensional spaces, inviting viewers to experience shifts in materiality and context. She notes, "With the interior works, I am thinking about how our energy transforms a space, whether we are (actually) there or not. [...] I am exploring ways in which I might present such energy without having to actually present the figure itself" (Rojas 2010, p. 2). This interplay between space and materiality mirrors the research's aim to foster embodied engagement, where audiences actively participate in perceiving and interpreting the works' forms and energies. These shifts support a kind of aspect seeing, as viewers toggle between understanding the pieces as representations of textile patterns and as unique, spatially present objects in their own right while oscillating between folk narratives and painted motifs. Her layered translation aligns with this thesis's aim to reveal diverse perspectives and narratives through embodied engagement, where material transitions create spaces for reconsideration and multiple perspectives. While Rojas's work prompts viewers to reflect on materiality and cultural narratives, it does not intentionally integrate embodied engagement as central to the process, a distinction my work addresses directly.

In creating new iterations of traditional quilt patterns across varying locations and media, Rojas encourages audiences to encounter familiar motifs in unexpected forms, echoing the research's aim of generating a re-evaluation of engagement with pattern. Her practice of reusing older works to create her large patchwork 'quilt' walls mirrors traditional quilt-making processes, as she explains: "I am interested in thinking about my politics in a different way, a more resolved and reduced way [...] so it makes sense that I re-use [older work]; I redefine it, just in a different way" (Rojas 2010, p. 2). This approach underscores the intergenerational and evolving nature of her practice, where fragments of the past are transformed into new narratives, aligning with this thesis's focus on how cultural and personal histories are encoded and reimagined within iterative processes. Through these reconfigured patterns and shifting

material applications, Rojas's work offers a nuanced exploration of how cultural and personal histories encoded within textile patterns can be transformed, inviting audiences to reconsider their expectations of these forms.

In essence, Rojas's work resonates with the themes of my Ph.D. thesis through her innovative reinterpretation of historical North American quilting patterns. She translates these textile motifs into three-dimensional, componential installations, painting flat wooden panels to mimic quilt structures. Her process aligns with this thesis's focus on transforming hand-drawn, repetitive patterns across varied media as she reimagines quilt motifs in unexpected materials, evoking both textile and sculptural qualities. This translation of forms reflects her broader engagement with processes: "I think printmaking influences the way I layer my paint, and the flat solid colours I use" (Ikon Gallery Interview, 2010). This literal and conceptual layering aligns with intersemiotic translation as explored in this research, where the essence of textile traditions shifts across media, bridging two- and three-dimensional spaces.

Both Clare Rojas and David Mabb engage with historical patterns to critically reinterpret their cultural and ideological contexts, yet where Rojas explores the material and spatial transformation of North American quilt motifs, Mabb recontextualises William Morris's designs to interrogate the tensions between utopian ideals and capitalist systems.

David Mabb: Disrupting Pattern, Politics, and Art-Design Boundaries

David Mabb's paintings utilise the fabric and patterns of Arts and Crafts designer William Morris²⁴ (1834–1896) to examine the intersections of politics, design, and fine art, challenging conventional definitions and hierarchies within these domains. By recontextualising Morris's decorative motifs, Mabb juxtaposes art-historical references with contemporary political commentary, questioning pattern and ornament's cultural and social roles. In Mabb's work,

"... the [Morris] pattern, or elements of it, always surface through. This particular use of dialectical methodology produces an unstable picture space where the appropriated Morris pattern and the contrasting image are simultaneously frozen, but never fixed, unable either fully to merge or separate." (Mabb 2010, para. 2).

²⁴ William Morris (1834–1896) was a British designer, writer, poet, and socialist activist, known for founding the Arts and Crafts Movement, which sought to elevate craftsmanship in response to industrialisation. His designs for textiles and wallpapers, characterised by intricate patterns inspired by nature, remain iconic. A committed socialist, Morris integrated his political beliefs with his artistic practice, advocating for the transformative potential of art in improving society.

This "unstable picture space" destabilises the decorative, introducing contextual shifts that align with the framework of unrepeating-repeat where subtle changes prompt the audience to re-evaluate the original Morris pattern and its recontextualisation critically. Mabb's approach mirrors my exploration of how glitches within repetition can encourage viewers to see new connections within familiar forms, here Mabb is using the repeat as the glitch or disrupter for political commentary.

Mabb transforms Morris's decorative patterns from aesthetic elements into tools for questioning capitalism, material culture, and social ideas. "It is the space opened up by the contradictions between what Morris designs would have been and how they have subsequently come to be used and understood, that [Mabb's works] navigates." (Mabb 2010, para. 5). This recontextualisation exposes how Morris's socialist ideals have been reduced by mass production. Morris's designs were utopian critiques of Victorian industrialism, but Mabb's work explores how mass production has stripped them of these ideals and turned them into cultural symbols. "The [work] brings together the residues of the Morris patterns' utopianism and what they have now become ... turning what is domestic and intimate, public." (Mabb 2010, para. 13). While Mabb focuses on reconfiguring Morris's utopian critique through visual and ideological disruption, my work is more subtle, utilising hidden shifts that invite awareness within the translated media.

Mabb's integration of Morris's fabric into his paintings directly connects textiles and painting. Mabb's use of Morris fabric as a 'canvas' draws attention to the historical link between painting and textiles, emphasising that fabric has long been a traditional yet often overlooked foundation for paintings. Mabb states that, "The relationship between the handmade Martinware, the mass-produced Honeysuckle fabric and the industrial object is rendered problematic, as the industrial object is hand-painted." (Mabb 2010, para. 5). Through this, Mabb explores the relationship between the printed Morris textile as a ready-made canvas and the act of hand-painting, blurring the boundaries between industrial production and artisanal creation. This approach resonates with my own investigation, where textiles function as both material and conceptual foundations for translation across forms. Mabb's overpainting of Morris's patterns engages in a semiotic shift, turning the decorative into a critical medium for dialogue. Both Mabb and my creative works explore the tension between historical textiles and their reabsorption into contemporary contexts. While Mabb's work transforms historical patterns into contemporary critiques, it does not explicitly engage the direct perceptual shifts within the translated moment. However, Mabb's juxtaposition of Morris's Arts and Crafts patterns with Russian avant-garde artist Kazimir Malevich's²⁵ (1879–1935) geometric abstraction invites a form of conceptual aspect seeing, where viewers oscillate between interpretations. By layering Morris's designs with Malevich's abstraction, Mabb creates an interaction where patterns shift between decoration and critique, encouraging viewers to explore multiple perspectives.

Through Mabb's painting, "Morris and Malevich oscillate and intersect, while new associations freely emerge. In occupying this in-between realm, Mabb emphasizes both the contingent nature of representation and the paradigms that have shaped painting." (Fleming 2000, p.15). This interaction echoes the concept of pluralistic interpretation, where shifting perspectives foster new understandings of familiar forms. While Mabb's works encourage these perception shifts through conceptual and visual contrasts, my research explores this by integrating softer contrasts, expanding the viewer's engagement beyond critique to embodied experience. Both practices, however, are interested in destabilising fixed meanings and creating spaces for audience engagement through historical textile patterns.

In summary, David Mabb's work reinterprets William Morris's iconic fabric and wallpaper patterns, using them not merely as background elements but as integral 'canvases' that disrupt and reshape the narrative of the painted image. By overpainting onto Morris's fabrics, Mabb strategically allows singular, repeated motifs to break through, subtly undermining Morris's utopian ideals by contrasting them with politically charged imagery that questions these historical designs' continued relevance and commodification. "Morris's decorative designs spread out from under the painted square, filling the space where there should be only blank canvas." (Edwards 2000, p. 22). This intentional 'glitch' created by the pattern—where the familiar floral motifs of Morris reappear amidst the painted surface—echoes this thesis's exploration of repetition with variation, creating a visual and conceptual tension that encourages viewers to look between the decorative and the painted imagery.

²⁵ Kazimir Malevich (1879–1935) was a Russian artist and theorist, renowned for founding Suprematism, an abstract art movement focusing on geometric shapes and pure artistic expression. His works, such as "Black Square" (1915), broke away from representational art, aiming to convey spirituality and universal truths through abstraction.

Mabb's use of Morris fabric as a foundational layer offers an apt link to the historical connection between painting and textiles (i.e. the canvas). Mabb's approach aligns with this thesis's focus on intersemiotic translation, where printed repetition of Morris's designs migrates within the painted media, conceptually translating through time and the interconnections with juxtaposed imagery. The glitch in Mabb's work is the repeated motif that disturbs the painted surface with the familiar and allows for multiple readings or shifting conceptual views between pattern and painted image, inviting audiences to consider how patterns act as both decorative elements and critical voice of cultural meaning. By transforming Morris's patterns, Mabb encourages engagement with the canvas, where the overlay of painting on patterned forms reveals new dimensions, challenging the viewer to reconsider their associations with Morris's designs in a contemporary, politically reflective light. Through this interplay, Mabb's work resonates with this thesis's research by using historical textiles and repetition to generate experiences that expose viewers to varied perspectives.

Summary

The exploration of these artists' works reveals shared themes and methodologies that align with, yet distinctively diverge from, the core inquiries of my Ph.D. Each artist demonstrates the transformative potential of textiles as tools for cultural and political critique, challenging the perception of textiles as solely decorative. Their practices employ repetition, subtle variation, and intersemiotic translation, engaging viewers in layered narratives that cross material boundaries. While their practices incorporate elements of intersemiotic translation, my research advances these approaches by using translation as a deliberate method to foster perceptual shifts and activate aspect seeing. Furthermore, key distinctions in intent, execution, and audience engagement highlight the unique contributions of my practice. My research builds on these intersections by centring embodied experience and fostering dynamic, shifting perspectives, offering a broader framework that encourages pluralistic and interdisciplinary exploration.

Conclusion

In conclusion, the discussion above reveals the depth and diversity with which artists engage with repetition and intersemiotic translation across multiple media to expand the boundaries of textile practice. The artists considered demonstrate the rich versatility of textiles. They showcase its role as a transformative tool that opens layers and shifts of perception, encourages embodied experiences, and provides a critical lens for socio-cultural commentary. However, while they work through interdisciplinary approaches, they do not explicitly consider intersemiotic translation in the manner foregrounded by my research, which frames translation across semiotic processes, my research *explicitly* uses intersemiotic translation to create perceptual shifts. By moving between textiles, text, drawing, and sound, I create a non-linear dialogue that activates aspect seeing, encouraging audiences to encounter familiar motifs anew.

Collectively, these artists provide a foundation for exploring the transformative potential of hand-drawn repetition and intersemiotic translation in enabling embodied, perceptual shifts. By weaving historical textile processes into contemporary, cross-disciplinary practices, their work aligns with my thesis's focus on the performative and perceptual possibilities of textiles. In contrast, my practice distinctly advances the role of translation across forms as a mechanism for unfolding and expanding understanding. It is important to note that the above discussion includes broader rhizomatic themes explored by the artists, which also interconnects with my own wider network of themes and subjects within my practice. However, these themes are not explicitly central to the focus of this exegesis, but they do contribute to the broader landscape of interconnection, complexity, and multiplicity present in both the work of the artists discussed and my own creative works.

Having established a conceptual framework of artistic influences, underpinning the creative works, the discussion now shifts towards situating the golden thread's trio within their specific critical discourse. This next chapter examines how the integration of intersemiotic translation, aspect seeing, and the unrepeating-repeat contributes to and questions existing dialogues in textiles, fine art practices. It specifically explores the artworks through the various lenses of the golden thread, offering an analysis of how these modes interact within the creative works to generate new perspectives and understandings.

Chapter 4: Critical Discourse: Intersemiotic Translation, Aspect Seeing, and the Unrepeating-repeat

Introduction

This chapter demonstrates how the triangulation of intersemiotic translation, aspect seeing, and the unrepeating-repeat enables a rich framework for artistic practice. The creative works reimagine historical textiles as active sites of inquiry, employing iterative processes to foster perceptual shifts and engage intersemiotic translation. Together, these methods deepen engagement with materiality, narrative, and positions textiles within a specific dialogue of expanded intersemiotic translation. The research provides a framework for integrating intersemiotic translation as part of the unrepeating-repeat to enable aspect seeing, and it positions this approach as a means of dissolving disciplinary boundaries and enriches the dialogue between modes.

The translation between textile processes, drawing, and text connects these semiotic forms into one image that holds and shifts between all three modes. These semiotic forms are conjoined to generate the creative works and as the viewer gives attention and looks, these three conjoined modes reveal themselves through aspect seeing. The shifting awareness between these forms encourage viewers to reflect on their initial perspectives, the interconnection and distinction between textiles, drawing, and text, and the nuanced meanings they convey when merged. The creative works examined in this chapter demonstrate how these methods and their theoretical position collectively work to reimagine material. By doing so, the research presents a framework that situates intersemiotic translation as a tool for transferring meaning between semiotic systems as well as an iterative, evolving, and non-hierarchical method of creative inquiry.

Chapter 4 is divided into three sections, each concentrating on one of the core elements that form the golden thread of the thesis. The chapter begins with a focus on an expanded notion of intersemiotic translation. Engaged with as a practical method intersemiotic translation bridges semiotic forms of the creative works—textile processes, drawing, and text—facilitating the movement of meaning across material, cultural, and temporal boundaries. By situating the research within a broader discourse of experimental (Campbell and Vidal 2018) and ludic (Lee 2022) translation, this section emphasises how the transformation of historical artefacts fosters interdisciplinary discussions through translation, offering a novel contribution to traditional modes of textile dialogue. Building on this, the second section introduces aspect seeing, drawing on Ludwig Wittgenstein's concept of 'seeing-as' to explore how shifts in perception are central to the creative works of this Ph.D., enabled through both intersemiotic translation and the unrepeating-repeat. This section examines how embodied and experiential engagement prompts audiences to oscillate between multiple perspectives, shifting their understanding of the works. The chapter ends by discussing unrepeating-repeats, which forms the foundational making process and the first point of engagement for audiences. This personal artistic method—made through the translation of textile processes—embeds repetition with subtle variation, inviting viewers to disrupt expectations and uncover nuances of meaning through an evolving interplay between expectations and shifts of perspective.

Section 1: Intersemiotic Translation

Introduction to Intersemiotic Translation

Intersemiotic translation, as initially defined by Roman Jakobson (1959), refers to the transformation of verbal signs into non-verbal sign systems. In his seminal work, Jakobson distinguishes between **intralingual** translation (within the same language), **interlingual** translation (between languages), and **intersemiotic** translation, which he terms as transmutation: an interpretation of verbal signs by means of non-verbal systems such as images, music, or gestures (Jakobson 1959, p.233). This pivotal concept establishes a foundation for understanding how meaning shifts and evolves across different semiotic systems.

Building on Jakobson's framework, translation scholars Madeleine Campbell and Ricarda Vidal (2018) expand the scope of intersemiotic translation by emphasising its experimental and cross-cultural dimensions. They state that "intersemiotic translation carries a source text (or artefact) across sign systems and typically creates connections between different cultures and media" (Campbell and Vidal 2018, p. xxvi). Rather than merely reproducing a source's content, intersemiotic translation reinterprets its essence within a new semiotic system—for instance, transforming a novel into a film or reimagining a poem as a painting. This approach highlights the generative potential of intersemiotic processes to foster creative reinterpretation while acknowledging the inherent complexities of meaning across diverse communicative modes.

Tong King Lee (2022) introduces the concept of "ludic translation" in his experimental translation work with Chinese concrete poetry. Lee describes this as a form of translation that "imagines translation as working alongside an original work, extrapolating the work in oblique fashion and always maintaining semiotic distance and creative tension with it" (Lee 2022, p. 2). As Lee emphasises, the creative elements of this Ph.D. function "alongside an original work" (or source), maintaining a distance while holding a creative connection. The term 'ludic', originating from the French 'ludique' and the Latin 'ludĕre' (to play), extends to include "serious fun" through play, humour, satire, and lightness. For Lee, ludic translation aligns with intersemiotic translation by emphasising creativity, interpretive flexibility, and the playful

transformation of meaning across semiotic systems, contrasting with rational-scientific models of equivalence and linearity (Lee 2022, p. 1).

This playful, experimental stance resonates with Roman Jakobson's observations on the complexities of translating poetry. As Jakobson explains in relation to poetry,

Only creative transposition is possible: either intralingual transposition—from one poetic shape into another, or interlingual transposition—from one language into another, or finally intersemiotic transposition—from one system of signs into another, e.g., from verbal art into music, dance, cinema, or painting. (Jakobson 1959, p. 238).

Intersemiotic translation operates as a distinct form of creative transposition, allowing meaning to shift across different sign systems (text, image, performance) and generate new layers of interpretation. This synergy highlights the transformative nature of translation, setting the stage for Lee's ludic approach. Lee's ludic translation builds on this idea, in relation to translating poetry, by rejecting the rigid transfer of meaning and embracing the transformative potential of translation. For Lee, ludic translation celebrates the creative dialogue between forms, inviting reinterpretation and experimentation while maintaining an oblique, yet vital, relationship with the source material. In this way, it reflects Jakobson's acknowledgment of the poetic text's complexity, where translation becomes an act of creative reimagining rather than replication.

By extending Jakobson's ideas into a playful, risk-taking framework, Lee's ludic translation foregrounds intersemiotic processes as inherently dynamic. This approach aligns with the ethos of intersemiotic translation, where transformations across sign systems generate new meaning(s) and open up possibilities for creative experimentation. Campbell and Vidal, through their project "Experiential Translation: Meaning-Making Across Languages and the Arts", similarly explore the transformative potential of "experimental translation" (2018), positioning it as a collaborative and cross-disciplinary endeavour that works between and with translators, artists, and other creative practitioners. Their work demonstrates how translation can function as a relational process that transcends linguistic boundaries, fostering interpretive insights through creative engagement across media and cultures. Lee's ludic approach, like Campbell and Vidal's, challenges the idea that fidelity and equivalence are, inviting dialogue and experimentation that embrace the complexities of meaning-making. Together, these perspectives affirm intersemiotic translation as a space of exploration, where the interplay of creativity and transformation may produce dynamic and unexpected reinterpretations.

This research builds on these positions by using intersemiotic translation in artistic practice that functions across and between creative media. Specifically, the creative works of the Ph.D. explores how textile processes are translated into visual and textual forms. In my artistic practice, intersemiotic translation occurs as a dynamic process between different modes of expression where material and conceptual relationships are reinterpreted through creative exploration. By shifting between these modes (through the translation process), my work engages with the transformative relationships across media, maintaining a creative tension with the original object while opening new avenues for understanding its material, cultural, and historical significance. An expanded understanding of intersemiotic translation positions it as a pivotal tool for developing the creative works.

The translating of textile processes into differing visual and textual forms broadens the boundaries of fine art and textiles, offering new perspectives on their relationships. Rather than function as a static reproduction of meaning, intersemiotic translation serves as an active, generative exploration of connections across these media. This exploration of intersemiotic translation as a transformative and dynamic process across creative media provides a foundation for further examining its role within textile discourse. Expanding on this, the research situates intersemiotic translation within the evolving intersections of textiles, fine art, and text, demonstrating how these fields inform and reshape one another through material and conceptual translation.

Intersemiotic Translation in a Textile and Fine Art Practice

Intersemiotic Translation in Textile Discourse

The research's contribution to knowledge specifically emerges through its exploration of intersemiotic translation between the process of textiles and fine art with the inclusion of text, integrating these fields. Although the interdisciplinary nature of textiles²⁶ is widely

²⁶ Textiles as a field is richly explored through interdisciplinary perspectives, bridging the boundaries of art, design, cultural studies, history, and science. Scholars and writers such as Jessica Hemmings, who edited "The Textile Reader" (2012), and Janis Jefferies, who has written extensively on textiles and its intersections with contemporary culture. The journal "Textile: The Journal of Cloth & Culture" is another prominent publication that fosters an interdisciplinary dialogue, examining the socio-cultural, historical, and artistic contexts of textiles. Key texts like Rozsika Parker's "The Subversive Stitch: Embroidery and the Making of the Feminine" (1984) also highlight the intersection of textiles with feminist theory, showing how the field transcends traditional artistic and scholarly boundaries. This interdisciplinary lens allows textiles to be appreciated not just as material objects but as cultural, social, and political artefacts, offering a holistic view of its role across various domains of knowledge.

acknowledged, the application of intersemiotic translation within textile practices has received limited attention. As highlighted in the TEXTILE journal special issue "Cloth and Textile in Translation", "intersemiotic and cultural translations in relation to cloth or textile have been rare" (de la Garza and Jie 2021, p. 106). This special edition of the journal, with its focus on translation as a transformative and relational process, aligns with my research premise, particularly in its exploration of textiles, cultural contexts, and creative reinterpretation. However, my work is distinct to the discussion within the journal, in its emphasis on artistic practice, material specificity, and the integration of a unique framework that combines intersemiotic translation and unrepeating-repeats to enable aspect seeing. By focusing on process-led transformations between textiles, drawing, and writing, my research offers a distinct contribution that situates translation as a generative, creative practice between the fields of textiles and fine art. Therefore, it adds to the limited discourse, offering a timely contribution through artistic practice that unites traditionally separate fields and deepens discourse on the interactions between media that occurs through intersemiotic translation.

This evolving perspective builds on the broader paradigmatic shifts in textile discourse. As Janis Jefferies articulates in "The Handbook of Textile Culture",

Over twenty-five years ago there was a paradigm shift in writing textiles from a gendered and primarily art-based perspective. Ten years ago there was another change in thinking textiles as both a material set of practices and part of a complex semiotic sign system within discourses of translation, and today the paradigm shift concerns the artist-as-researcher, the theorist as artist performing as curator, the community ethos of craft and textiles, performing in and engaging with new forms of public address and commitment and online. (Jefferies, Clark, and Conroy 2015, p. 9).

This statement, from a decade ago, underscores the blurring of boundaries between fields, situating textiles at the intersection of creative practices and public engagement, creating a foundation to now explore and expand intersemiotic translation through the field of textiles. Building on these paradigm shifts, this research extends the discourse by exploring intersemiotic translation as a dynamic process that connects textiles, drawing, and writing and redefines each medium's boundaries, fostering interdisciplinary dialogue and innovation.

By translating ideas, forms, and processes across these media, the work proposes a fresh method for interdisciplinary dialogue within textiles. It echoes previously mentioned scholarly efforts such as "Experiential Translation" and "Ludic Translation", which positions translation as potentially a creative and exploratory process. By aligning with these emerging discourses,

the research introduces a novel method of the golden thread that expands beyond existing frameworks, situating textiles as part of an interdisciplinary dialogue across the field of translation. Ultimately, the creative work reveals how textile practices can shape and be reshaped by drawing and text, fostering new perspectives across media. Additionally, through this engagement the work questions conventional disciplinary divides and hierarchical structures, opening avenues for a richer understanding of how meaning transforms when ideas move between different semiotic forms.

The expanded understanding of intersemiotic translation as a dynamic, transformative process lays the groundwork for a rhizomatic approach, where meaning evolves fluidly across media, enabling new, non-hierarchical connections.

A Rhizomatic Approach within Intersemiotic Translation

Within the creative works, intersemiotic translation became a means to find new connections between drawing and textiles. It allowed for the exploration of the particular possibilities and expressive qualities that arose from merging these creative practices. As Lee states:

[...] it imagines translation as working alongside an original work, extrapolating the work in oblique fashion and always maintaining semiotic distance and creative tension with it. Hence, translation is not subservient to a source text in a vertical hierarchy but articulates the latter sideways to develop a more expansive intertextual network [...] (Lee 2022, p. 2).

This aligns with my research as intersemiotic translation, much like Lee's description, supports the dynamic and non-hierarchical interplay between drawing and textiles within my creative works. It facilitates a "sideways" articulation of meaning, fostering a rhizomatic approach that emphasises interconnectedness and fluidity over fixed disciplinary boundaries. Early in the consideration of the Ph.D., I thought of my approach as transdisciplinary, as in "between, across, and beyond" (Nicolescu 2014 p. 107), the fine art and textiles fields. However, transdisciplinarity implies a wider disciplinary crossover than is relevant to my practice. As a result, I have realised that my research better aligns with a 'rhizomatic' approach, encapsulating the intersections of various fields and methods. The concept of "rhizomatic" is particularly relevant to my approach to intersemiotic translation, as it reflects the non-hierarchical, networked nature of my translation processes.
Originating from Deleuze and Guattari's 1980 work, the term "rhizome" (derived from the Ancient Greek ῥίζωμα, rhízōma, meaning 'mass of roots') characterises a framework that accommodates multiple, non-hierarchical entry and exit points in representation and interpretation (Deleuze and Guattari 1980/2013). This approach offers an alternative to traditional hierarchical structures, instead promoting a decentralised network where interconnected elements hold equal significance. Within my creative works, this rhizomatic approach mirrors the ways in which intersemiotic translation allows for fluid, unpredictable connections between drawing, textiles, and text. By de-centring any single element and fostering connectivity, the rhizomatic method aligns with the absence of fixed origins or endpoints, enabling open-ended exploration and fostering a more inclusive and diverse understanding of complex phenomena. This approach not only questions conventional frameworks but also reflects the dynamic and relational processes within my practice, offering multiple perspectives and pathways through the work. In relation to ludic translation, this rhizomatic approach is supported by Lee, who states,

If straight translation reinforces the vertical filiations between source and target, author and translator, ludic translation opens up a work to differential pathways or lines of flight (à la Deleuze and Guattari 1987), enabling a work to develop rhizomatically across languages, modes, and media. It subverts the top down relation between original and translation, renders irrelevant traditional assumptions about fidelity, and challenges outcome-based thinking around the question of untranslatability. (Lee 2022, p. 3).

Lee's statement directly informs the context of this thesis, as it underscores the ways in which a rhizomatic approach to intersemiotic translation challenges hierarchical structures and assumptions. In my work, intersemiotic translation functions rhizomatically by weaving together an intricate and connected relationship between textile processes, drawing, and writing, mirroring Lee's notion of "differential pathways". The translation of textiles into drawing and text does not impose a separation or vertical hierarchy between the original artefact and its reinterpretation; instead, it fosters a dynamic, relational network in which each iteration remains entangled with the others. The works explore the subtle intricacies of textile production, refracted through the prism of drawing, which, in turn, is imbued with written elements. This expansive framework aligns with Lee's argument that ludic translation "subverts the top-down relation between original and translation", offering a method that resists outcome-based thinking and embraces multiplicity in meaning-making. This approach is founded on the principle that no material hierarchy exists between creative approaches, even though disciplinary fields may reinforce institutional divisions. Within the creative works intersemiotic translation plays a central role in dissolving material borders, allowing materials and processes to interact fluidly without being confined by perceived hierarchies. The works of artist/designer Jorge Pardo and artist Virgil Marti, alongside the ethos of the Fabric Workshop and Museum and the research of specialist Janis Jefferies, (and others as discussed in "Chapter 3. Frameworks and Influences" from p. 26) examine an interdisciplinary approach to textile and fine art. Through their practices, textiles and fine art are reimagined as interconnected modes, where materials and processes speak to each other across perceived boundaries. In my own practice, this connection is evident and engaged with through intersemiotic translation in how drawing, textile processes, and writing interact to foster a rhizomatic approach that encapsulates qualities of multiplicity, dynamism, and the blurring of origins or boundaries in the outputs of the artistic practice.

Building on this rhizomatic perspective, intersemiotic translation's dynamic, networked nature aligns with the broader role of the translator as a mediator, reimagining meaning across semiotic systems. This sets the stage for exploring the nuanced relationship between translator and artist, where transformation, rather than replication, drives creative and conceptual exploration.



Figure 3. Develop of drawings from historical textiles in a temporary studio within the art store at The Collection Museum, Lincoln, in February 2014. Photo Credit: Danica Maier.

The Translator, The Artist

Jakobson highlights the unique challenges translators face, particularly in the realm of poetry, where "verbal equations" such as phonemic similarities, rhythm, and syntax carry autonomous

significance. In such cases, he asserts that "only creative transposition is possible" (Jakobson 1959, p. 238), as poetry demands a transformation rather than a direct replication of meaning. While all intersemiotic translation is a type of transposition, not all transposition is intersemiotic translation; transposition can stay within a single language or move between languages or media, whereas intersemiotic translation specifically shifts the work into a different sign system. Here, the translator's role is not merely to reproduce the formal signs of the source but to reimagine its essence within a new system, ensuring its creative and semantic integrity.

The translator plays a central role in the act of translation, not only as a facilitator of crosscultural communication but, as a creative mediator who reimagines meaning across systems of expression. While Jakobson originally anchored intersemiotic translation within the transformation of linguistic signs into other semiotic systems, subsequent scholars, including Campbell, Vidal, and Lee, have expanded its scope. Campbell and Vidal (2018) introduce its experimental and cross-disciplinary potential, demonstrating how translation can operate relationally across artistic and cultural modes. Lee builds on this further by situating translation as a dynamic, risk-taking process that embraces contingency and play.

In this expanded understanding of intersemiotic translation, the translator acts as a mediator, empowering them to re-create (or create again) the sense of the source artefact. While both translators and artists engaging in intersemiotic translation share a common thread of transforming and conveying meaning, there are notable differences in their approaches and goals. In the traditional sense, translators primarily work with linguistic and cultural translation. As Lee states,

Coming from instrumentalist thinking, straight translation generally operates on the basis of linear, semantic equivalence; it approaches an original work with a keen regard to its formal signs and strives toward a singular, closed-ended product. (Lee 2022, p. 2).

Therefore, "straight translation" focuses on accurately rendering the content and intent of a source text into another language while considering cultural nuances. This foundation for the disciplinary area emphasises fidelity to the original message, preserving both meaning and cultural context. Ethical considerations often come into play, and the goal is effective cross-cultural communication, whether in literature, business, or other domains (Robinson 2023). The view held until recently was "Most people understood [translation] to be essentially an

interlingual operation, and the debates about it revolved around whether it was better to reproduce the formal aspects of the source text or to reformulate it in the interests of fluency." (Bennett 2023, p. 1).

On the other hand, those currently working with intersemiotic translation operate more expansively, transcending linguistic boundaries to translate meaning between different modes. By weaving Jakobson's foundational concept with Campbell and Vidal's emphasis on experimentation and Lee's playful ludic model, my practice further expands intersemiotic translation into the realm of artistic practice in order to facilitate shifting perspectives and narratives. Here, translation becomes a process of creative reimagination between modes of expression where meaning is not replicated but transformed through material and conceptual exploration.

This expanded understanding of Jakobson's intersemiotic translation introduces a different creative dimension than might be expected in traditional translation. Lee extends this in how a playful or 'ludic' approach in translation has –

[...] the potential of translation to transgress and transcend the source text. That is, translation subjects an original work to experimental play replete with contingencies and idiosyncrasies, furnishes it with performative resources for aesthetic expression in excess of the linguistic signs, and extrapolates it toward multiple trajectories and plural media. Ludic translation is therefore diametrically opposed, in strategy and in outlook, to what we may call 'straight translation'. (Lee 2022, p. 2).

The concept of ludic translation, as discussed by Lee, aligns closely with principles of artistic development and creation. Similarly, the creative works of the Ph.D. engage with an "original work" that has been experimentally developed through playful exploration, which is embedded with performative means for "aesthetic expression" beyond spoken or written language. Therefore, in addition to performing an expanded intersemiotic translation, the creative works adopt an approach identified by Campbell and Vidal (2018) that acknowledges multiple potential versions of both source and target artefacts, reducing biases toward static, intralingual translation processes.

Unlike traditional translation, or those working within the area of translation, artists often have more flexibility in interpreting and adapting the source material. These acts become a creative exploration, allowing for personal interpretation, innovation, and the infusion of the artist's contextual perspective. While still engaging with cultural elements, the primary aim is artistic exploration rather than accurate rendering. Both involve the translation of meaning; translators focus on linguistic and cultural fidelity for effective communication, while artists have greater creative freedom to reinterpret and innovate across diverse artistic mediums.

This brings up an intriguing and relevant point about intersemiotic translation: the translator's knowledge and understanding of the two semiotic systems, cultures, or contexts they are working between is crucial to the outcomes. Just as a translator of languages would be expected to understand both French and English, including their cultural nuances, effective intersemiotic translation also benefits from fluid familiarity with the semiotic systems being translated. In the context of this research, the level of knowledge and experience between the 'source' and the 'new'-such as textile processes and drawing-significantly shapes the outcome of the new creation, whether a text, artwork, or other form. Even in instances of creative or playful exploration, this understanding remains a key factor in the process. The creative works of this thesis demonstrate this principle, translating textile processes into writing-as-drawing. These translations draw extensively on my personal²⁷ and professional experience, in both textile media and drawing practices, ensuring an informed and nuanced approach. This gives me the knowledge and expertise²⁸ to engage with intersemiotic translation in a rhizomatic mode, fluidly working and translating between textiles, fine art, and text. In this way, my research builds on and expands Jakobson's foundational ideas, positioning intersemiotic translation as a process-led, artistic exploration that generates meaning between modes of expression.

Having examined the role of the artist as translator, where creative mediation reimagines meaning across systems of expression, this bridging of fields is further explored through the interplay of appropriation and intertextuality. These concepts enhance the complexity of the translation process within a contemporary art practice, deepening its capacity to engage with

²⁷ My dyslexia enhances my ability to translate between media and semiotic systems, fostering a blended understanding and experience of text as both visually fluid and possessing shifting semiotic meanings.

²⁸ I have a BFA (painting major), MFA (expanded painting), and a MA in Textile (expanded textile focus). I worked at two different textile workshops - London Printworks Trust and The Fabric Workshop and Museum in Philadelphia. I co-curated the British strand at the Kaunas Art Biennale in 2007 and co-led an international drawing residencies with the Museum of Loss and Renewal. Additionally, I spend my childhood in my grandmother sewing room learning to stitch, embroider, and knit from a young age. I have knowledge of and experience of multiple textile processes including sewing, embroidering, knitting, weaving, felting, flocking, tufting, repeat printing, and a vast array of 'fine art' processes including painting, drawing, collaging, photoshop, sound work, assemblage, sculpture, and installation.

existing artefacts and histories while generating new connections across materials and contexts.

Intersemiotic Translation, Appropriation, and Intertextuality

Building on the expanded understanding of intersemiotic translation as a transformative process across modes of expression, shares similarities with appropriation in its reimagining of existing content. Appropriation is a central strategy in contemporary art practice, rooted in early 20th-century movements and postmodernism. Appropriation functions as both critique and reinterpretation, inviting dialogue with the source material while situating it within new conceptual frameworks. Within contemporary art, it has evolved beyond its critical origins to include more nuanced, process-led explorations, where the act of borrowing and reimagining becomes a generative method for creating meaning across different contexts and media (e.g. Crimp 1979; Sanders 2016).

In an expanded form of intersemiotic translation, transformation occurs between different modes of expression, while in appropriation, transformation consists of taking elements from one context and placing them in another. The creative works delve into this intricate relationship between translation and artistic exploration. Previously, I located my artistic process within an umbrella of appropriation, as commonly understood within art practice. However, my thinking on this changed due to the broader considerations and contextualities of appropriation in art practice. This reflective shift in thinking during the Ph.D. led to an alignment with intersemiotic translation. The creative works extend beyond incorporation, establishing a distinct connection with the movement of meaning between the origin textile object and its process into writing-as-drawing.

Both intersemiotic translation and appropriation contribute to the layering of meaning in an artwork. As elements are translated or appropriated, they bring with them a history and set of connotations. This layering enriches the text or artwork with external meanings and references, aligning with the interconnected nature of intertextuality. Intertextuality is the idea that no text or creative work stands alone; the work is influenced by and refers to other works. Intertextuality involves incorporating or referencing other artefacts within a new work (Orr 2003). Within the creative works, the intertextual dialogue can extend the reach of intersemiotic translation, enriching the new artefact or artwork with meaning drawn from the

source material. In the creative works, intertextuality is present in the relationships and references between the source item, the context in which it's shared (e.g., publication, exhibition, project), and the process of (re)creation. Intertextuality refers to how different texts (or works of art) interact with and refer to each other. The relationship to the history or external references within the creative works is intended and supports the aspectual shift between the expectation of the aesthetics (from the source) and the word(s) creating the aesthetic pattern.

Intersemiotic translation and intertextuality both involve a relationship with existing artworks. Intersemiotic translation does this by translating meaning across different forms, and intertextuality does it by referencing or being influenced by other texts or artefacts. In a creative process, both may coexist as an artist translates between modes and engages with and references other works. Appropriation draws on existing texts, images, or objects. Specifically, I begin with a textile object and translate it into artwork through writing-as-drawing, referencing both the broader cultural context from which the textile object originates and how its cultural meanings interact with the drawing, its terminology (e.g., tit, pigeonhole), and associated cultural references within an intertextual framework.

Appropriating elements inherently involves dialogue with the source material, creating a web of interconnected meanings. The creative work of the Ph.D. plays with the boundary between these principles, blending nuanced connections between appropriation, intersemiotic translation, and intertextuality. That is, the developmental process of the creative works starts with incorporation (appropriation), followed by engaging the movement of meaning (intersemiotic translation) while referencing other artefacts (intertextuality).

Building on this interplay between intersemiotic translation, appropriation, and intertextuality, the exploration of line as a shared, transformative element across textiles, drawing, and writing further deepens the understanding of how meaning shifts across media, reinforcing the dynamic relationships at play in the creative works. Extending this exploration of intersemiotic translation, appropriation, and intertextuality, the role of line as a fundamental and transformative element across textiles, drawing, and writing further illustrates how meaning shifts fluidly between these interconnected modes of expression.

78



Figure 4. "Skein: DAM Cunt", 2014, detail of 20 cm x 15 cm drawing on Mylar mounted onto aluminium. Photo credit: David Rowen.

The Shared Genealogy of Line: Textiles, Drawing, and Writing in Intersemiotic Translation

The centrality of line as a shared, transformative element across textiles, drawing, and writing resonates with anthropologist Tim Ingold's exploration of their interconnected histories and dynamic relationships. Ingold's work illustrates how lines—whether threads in textiles, drawn marks, or written letters—share a common genealogy and structural parallels (Ingold 2016). His discussion evidences the intersection between textiles, writing, and drawing, revealing them as interconnected forms of line-making that carry meaning across material and cultural contexts. He argues that line is not merely a visual or structural component but an active, generative force that extends across different modes of making, from weaving and stitching to inscribing and sketching. This perspective underscores how each discipline—textiles, drawing, and writing—engages with line as a fundamental means of tracing, connecting, and reinterpreting forms (Ingold 2016). Therefore, lines found within the creative works are not isolated but exist within a network of relationships, where their histories overlap and intersect, reflecting shared origins and processes.

By positioning line-making as a dynamic act of movement, Ingold highlights the fluid boundaries between these practices, allowing us to see textiles, writing, and drawing not as separate fields but as interconnected modes of expression that embody and transmit meaning through their materiality and gesture. My creative works aligns with this position, where translating textile processes into writing-as-drawing becomes a means of uniting the shared histories and connected lineages of text, textiles, and drawing. This understanding of line sets the stage for examining its role within textile discourse, where intersemiotic translation offers a lens to explore how meaning is transformed and reimagined across textiles, drawing, and writing. This exploration of line as a dynamic and interconnected element within textiles, drawing, and writing not only reinforces the shared genealogy of these practices but also underscores the transformative potential of intersemiotic translation. The expanded understanding of intersemiotic translation as a transformative, dynamic process provides the foundation for the creative works of this Ph.D. By integrating the principles of intersemiotic translation with the unrepeating-repeat and aspect seeing, the works explore how meaning evolves through iterative, material, and conceptual transformations across media. The following section examines three of the creative works to demonstrate how this expanded framework operates in practice, revealing new relationships between textiles, drawing, text, and sound.



Figure 5. Jacobean Bedspread, LCNUG:1927/30, 236 cm x 188 cm, part of The Collection Museum's textile collection. Jacobean embroidered bedspread, ornately decorated with merl stitching – intertwining branches and foliage with birds perched on and picking fruit from the boughs. It was heavily restored in 1874. Photo credit: David Rowen.

The Creative Work through the Lens of Intersemiotic Translation

This section examines how three of the creative works—"Stitch & Peacock", "Score: Mechanical Asynchronicity", and "Ghost Heirloom: Blackburn Rug/Maier Wallpaper"— actively employ and expand intersemiotic translation as intertwined with and through the unrepeatingrepeat, enabling shifting perspectives to explore relationships between textiles, drawing, text, and sound. Each work exemplifies intersemiotic translation as a method of reinterpretation and as a generative, process-led exploration of meaning that moves fluidly across mediums, inviting audiences to engage with textile motifs through differing modes and perspectives.

The creative works begin with an initial found source—an image, artefact, text, or historical object—sourced from archives, museum collections, personal writings, or family heirlooms. These bases act as a foundational starting point, guiding the intersemiotic translation process that unfolds through playful and experimental re-creations across modes of expression. By translating a historical textile element, into a drawing, writing, or sound, the works activate new ways of seeing and engaging with the source material.

The act of translation here becomes inherently dynamic and non-hierarchical. The unrepeating-repeat emerges as a key framework to create the works, functioning in tandem with intersemiotic translation to foster iterative variation. Rather than reproducing motifs as static copies, the translation process enacts subtle shifts, ensuring that each iteration retains its relational connection to the source while introducing material and conceptual divergence. A dual operation of translation and repetition generates a recursive dialogue between forms, highlighting both continuity and transformation within the creative process.

Through intersemiotic translation, aspect seeing emerges as a vital mechanism, encouraging viewers to shift perspectives as they navigate the complex interplay of translated forms and materials (i.e. shifting between seeing the translated textile origin object and its process, to seeing drawing, and then words). The interwoven relationships between translation, repetition, and shifts of perception blur the boundaries between the historical origins of the starting points and the newly created works, as well as between the processes of making and the resulting creative outcomes.

The Creative Work: "Stitch & Peacock"

In the exhibition "Stitch & Peacock" (RN1, VS pp. 3-34), intersemiotic translation operates as both a material and conceptual transformation, where historical textile artefacts are translated into contemporary drawings and installations. This act of translation recontextualises the functional and domestic meanings of the original textile, embedding new interpretation and material engagement. For instance, this translation is evident in the meticulous redrawing of the historical sampler's animals, birds, and foliage onto Mylar²⁹ sheets, where embroidery lines were transformed into drawn lines, and text was subtly embedded into the visual structure, shifting the original textile's functional and domestic significance into a new artistic context. This translation between modes creates a liminal space where textile, drawing, and text converge, inviting viewers to reconsider the boundaries and relationships between these semiotic systems. The intersemiotic translation process operates as both a material and conceptual transformation, grounded in the unrepeating-repeat. This method serves as the foundation, allowing each hand-drawn translation of the motifs to introduce deliberate variations that ensure the repeated forms remain distinct while maintaining a connection to the original artefact.

Through the works of "Stitch & Peacock", intersemiotic translation is intertwined with the unrepeating-repeat, as it translates historical textile motifs into contemporary large-scale artworks. Through initial experiments of redrawing the Jacobean bedspread (Figure 5), I realised that the pattern is repeated side to side and top to bottom in the original textile and includes two similar (but variant) "trees of life"³⁰ as the handcrafted nature of the piece introduces inherent variations in the making process, such as subtle shifts in the design of leaves or differences in the construction of birds found between the two "trees of life" that share the same location on each opposing tree (see Figure 6). The act of translation is foregrounded, with the original hand-embroidered patterns from the Jacobean bedspread serving as both a source and a framework.

²⁹ Mylar is a type of stretched polyester film commonly employed in screen printing due to its stable properties as a material. I became acquainted with it while working at the Fabric Workshop and Museum, where it is utilised to create the base image from which the screens are made. I use it within my own work to create the mounted drawings, as it provides a semi-transparent surface with a coated side and a shiny side. The coated side readily accepts pencil lines, while the semi-transparent nature of the material allows the subtle grey tones of the aluminium, of which the drawings are back mounted onto, to show through.

³⁰ The "tree of life" is a common motif in textile patterns, often symbolising growth, connection, and continuity. It typically features a central tree with spreading branches and roots, often adorned with flowers, birds, or other decorative elements. Originating in ancient cultures, it has been widely used in textile traditions across the globe, including Persian carpets, Jacobean embroidery, and Indian chintz, where it often conveys themes of fertility, prosperity, or spirituality.



Figure 6. Details of the repeated elements within the pattern of the Jacobean Bedspread, Photo credit: David Rowen.

In the creative works unrepeating-repeats operate inconjunction with intersemiotic translation, where each hand-drawn iteration reinterprets the source material as it moves across forms. By deliberately introducing nuanced variations, the process of translation foregrounds the shift between semiotic systems, preserving a connection to the original while generating new and distinct reimaginings in each iteration. The wall piece "Nest" (Figure 19, VS pp. 10-16) demonstrates how the unrepeating-repeat facilitates intersemiotic translation. It highlights the rhythmic and repeated qualities of the original historical Jacobean bedspread and re-contextualises it within contemporary artistic practice, inviting audiences to experience the complexity of repetition, variation, and translation. Aspect seeing emerges within the work as viewers engage with the translation by recognising the shifting variations of stitch to drawing within an image or single line.

In "Happy Hunting Ground" (VS pp. 17-20), the large-scale line drawings of embroidered motifs found in the samplers, such as the deer seen in Figure 7, initially appear as decorative renderings. Upon closer examination, the shift in medium—from stitched threads to pencildrawn lines—and the exaggerated scale encourage viewers to see these drawings as reinterpretations of domestic artefacts, transforming their decorative nature into conceptual forms. For instance, upon closer inspection, what may initially appear as a purely decorative motif as stitched work might reveal its drawn origins and hidden textual aspects. This perceptual unpicking by the viewer prompts shifts in focus between the historical textile process, the drawn line, and the textual elements, reinforcing the revolving relationships between these modes. Within the works, aspect seeing encourages viewers to see each translation's subtle nuances and shifts. Once noticed, these nuances allow viewers to shift seamlessly between translations, leading to further insights and shifts in understanding.



Figure 7. "Happy Hunting Ground: Stag" (2014), 180 x 180 cm, pencil on loose Mylar. (right and middle image) Photo credit: Andrew Weekes. Shown on the left is the original crossed stitched detail from the historical sampler LCNUG: 1983/10, (1865) Sarah Scholey, part of the Usher Gallery archive. Photo credit: David Rowen.

In "Stitch & Peacock", aspect seeing enhances intersemiotic translation by encouraging viewers to perceive historical textile motifs as archival artefacts as well as contemporary works. This approach invites a shift in perception, allowing viewers to oscillate between recognising the textile origins, the drawing, and the textual elements within the same image or mark. The same stitched lines that once held meaning as domestic labour are re-presented as line drawings. In "Blue Tit" (mounted drawing seen in Figure 8), the embroidered pattern of a bird within foliage was meticulously redrawn, scaled down, and subtly integrated within the expansive wall piece

"Pigeonhole" (wall drawing seen in Figure 8). Both works originate from the same Jacobean bedspread, offering distinct translations of the same pattern. The contrast between the intimate scale of "Blue Tit" and the monumental scope of works like "Pigeonhole" creates a dialogue and shifts perspectives of the same historical objects as translated through different modes³¹. Aspect seeing allows viewers to shift between recognising the original textile form, engaging with the work as drawing, and seeing the subtle textual element within, creating a layered experience where the historical and the contemporary, the domestic and the artistic, interact.



Figure 8. "Blue Tit" on "Pigeonhole" as part of the installation "Nest" (2014), at The Collection Museum, 25 x 25 cm drawing on Mylar mounted onto aluminium. Photo credit: Andrew Weekes.

In summary, "Stitch & Peacock" demonstrates the interconnectedness of intersemiotic translation, the unrepeating-repeat, and aspect seeing by transforming historical textile motifs into contemporary drawings that traverse the boundaries between stitching, drawing, and text. The translation is intrinsically tied to the unrepeating-repeat, as each iteration of a motif

³¹ To Note: The installation titled "Nest" consists of the historical Jacobean bedspread, the wall drawing "Pigeonhole", and the small mounted piece "Blue Tit." While these elements together form the work "Nest", each component can also stand as its own artwork. All the works in the exhibition "Stitch & Peacock" follow this component-based approach: each element has its own title, and the wider installation is also titled. This is found in other works of the Ph.D.

or overarching pattern introduces subtle shifts, creating forms that maintain their connection to historical origins while offering new outputs. These variations prompt aspect seeing, inviting viewers to shift perspectives between perceiving the works as historical artefacts and autonomous contemporary artworks while also shifting between translated material forms.

For instance, including the Jacobean bedspread within the gallery alongside its drawn reinterpretations allowed viewers to directly compare and reflect on how each medium and translation conveyed different aspects of its history and imagery. Together, these themes work jointly: the iterative variations of the unrepeating-repeat enrich the process of translation, while both translation and repetition create opportunities for shifting perspectives through aspect seeing. As a whole, "*Stitch* & Pea*cock*" offers a layered exploration of craft, gendered labour, and cultural narratives, repositioning historical samplers as sites of artistic and intellectual inquiry.

While "Stitch & Peacock" translates historical textiles into visual and textual forms, "Score: Mechanical Asynchronicity" expands the translation into auditory realms, further enriching the dialogue between semiotic systems.

The Creative Work: "Score: Mechanical Asynchronicity"

In "Score: Mechanical Asynchronicity" (2017-2022) (RN3, Figure 9, VS pp. 61-102), a historical lace draught from the Nottingham Lace Archive becomes the foundation for musical compositions, re-envisioned through graphic scores and traditional notation in collaboration with Martin Scheuregger. The project draws from a singular historical lace draught repurposing it as a graphic score for musicians. With Scheuregger, we each developed individual scores, Side A and Side B, which were performed live alongside vinyl recordings, creating a dynamic, ever-evolving performance piece. The project investigates the tension between similarity and difference through its iterative nature, where each performance introduces new variations of the same scores, blurring the boundaries between shifting live music and static recorded material. "Score: Mechanical Asynchronicity" functions on the edge between installation and performance, offering an experience that evolves over time and is distinctly different in each location.

Here, intersemiotic translation operates as a transformative act that carries the lace draught's visual patterns across multiple semiotic systems—drawing, musical notation, and sound—each imposing new material and conceptual possibilities while retaining a link to the source. The lace's visual pattern extends beyond its original purpose of decorative lace, undergoing transformation into two scores and then again through musical performances. Musicians respond by interpreting and annotating the scores, creating an artwork where lace becomes sound, fostering a collaboration with the musicians that merges visual and auditory interpretations — from historical diagram to contemporary drawings as graphic score, to iterative performance piece.



Figure 9. "Score: Mechanical Asynchronicity" (2019) at Nottingham Contemporary, Photo credit: Christopher Leedham.

The expanded intersemiotic translation within "Score: Mechanical Asynchronicity" highlights a dynamic tension between fidelity and transformation—the visual structure of the lace informs the graphic score, but the act of translation into music generates interpretive flexibility. This process foregrounds the creative agency of the performers, who act as translators themselves, introducing new meaning through their iterative engagement with the graphic score. This aligns with Lee's ludic translation framework, where performative experimentation and contingency are integral to the translation process, enabling the source to "develop rhizomatically across modes and media" (Lee 2022, p. 3).

Aspectual understanding is central to intersemiotic translation in this work, as it allows the lace draught to be perceived simultaneously as a visual pattern (seen through film(s) as part of the performance installation) and a musical score (sound performance) – as lace and sound. Unlike purely visual works, the addition of an aural element means that aspect seeing must operate differently, encouraging both musicians and audiences to engage with the lace draught through listening as well as viewing. Musicians and audiences alike are invited to interpret the lace draught not only as a textile document but as an auditory experience, where each performance introduces variations that reinterpret the visual, drawn line as sound. For musicians, the lace becomes a score—a guide for performance—while for audiences, the lace pattern is experienced as both an image and sound. This dual engagement—both visual and auditory—expands the concept of aspectual understanding by requiring shifts in perception across sensory modes. Aspect seeing here bridges textile heritage and musical composition, enabling viewers and listeners to appreciate lace as a crafted machine-made object and a foundation for creative sound, thus enriching the translation from visual to auditory forms. The work offers audiences the opportunity to engage with the lace as a historical relic, a visual design, and a basis for sound, allowing for interpretations that may build on and shift their understanding of its purpose and significance.

The unrepeating-repeat supports the translation of an historical visual lace draught into music found in "Score: Mechanical Asynchronicity". Originally intended for mechanical production, the lace draught is redrawn and translated into a graphic score that musicians interpret and play repeatedly in each performance. This reimagining activates a dialogue between the precision of the original lace diagram and the hand-rendered qualities of its translations. The unrepeating-repeat enables intersemiotic translation to function as a creative dialogue between visual patterns and auditory outputs. Each movement within the performance functions as an unrepeating-repeat, where the musical interpretation becomes a new translation of the visual source, ensuring the lace pattern's rhythmic essence remains while embracing divergence and improvisation. Each musician's iterative interpretation of the translated score – played alongside the static vinyl recording – introduces slight variations in tempo, dynamics, and phrasing, shifting the experience of the original lace pattern with each rendition. The performance of the score maintains a connection to the lace draught while

embracing divergence. This approach allows the original textile form to be continually reimagined in sound, by both the musician and the audience.

In summary, "Score: Mechanical Asynchronicity" is an exploration of how expanded intersemiotic translations of historical artefacts can create iterative, multisensory, and embodied creative practices. The piece highlights the dynamic interplay between intersemiotic translation, aspect seeing, and the unrepeating-repeat, demonstrating how these principles function together within both the process of making and audience engagement. The work reveals how intersemiotic translation, aspect seeing, and the unrepeating, and the unrepeating-repeat collectively dissolve fixed hierarchies between media, encouraging iterative reinterpretations that blur boundaries between original artefacts and the creative work. For audiences, the piece offers a space to explore shifting meanings and connections, bridging sensory modes and historical contexts. Together, these elements create a dialogue between past and present, material and performance, and visual and auditory forms, positioning.

In contrast to the auditory focus of "Score: Mechanical Asynchronicity", the creative work "Ghost Heirloom: Blackburn Rug/Maier Wallpaper" foregrounds memory and familial narrative within drawings, translating personal histories into multifaceted visual and textual works.

The Creative Work: "Ghost Heirloom: Blackburn Rug/Maier Wallpaper"

"Ghost Heirloom: Blackburn Rug/Maier Wallpaper" (2022) (Ghost Heirloom hereafter) (Figure 10, RN5, VS pp. 123-153) utilises intersemiotic translation, transforming the textile processes of tapestry and wallpaper into linear drawings, while also incorporating names of departed family members, adding an aspect of memorialization. The drawings explore the imperfection and fluidity of memory, with each piece representing an attempt to recreate a lost object through collective family recollections. The iterative process of redrawing and rearranging the works on a 3.5-meter shelf reflects the concept of the unrepeating-repeat, where each configuration of the drawings offers a new perspective, honouring the varying memories and connections to family. "Ghost Heirloom" invites a nuanced exploration of memory, loss, and heritage through iterative, evolving forms.

"Ghost Heirloom" foregrounds intersemiotic translation as a means of reimagining familial memory through material and conceptual processes. The translation process unfolds as lost

sentimental domestic artefacts—an Indigenous rug and floral wallpaper—are iteratively transformed into a series of double-sided, hand-drawn works. Here, intersemiotic translation operates not merely as a reproduction of motifs but as a method for interrogating the relationship between material forms, personal narratives, and memory. Each side of the 12 double-sided drawings reflects a translation of textile elements into intricate, hand-drawn works. For instance, the 'Blackburn side' attempts to captures the indigenous rug's woven textures and geometric patterns (see Figure 10), with pencil lines mimicking tapestry processes. On the 'Maier side', printed motifs from wallpaper are meticulously redrawn, translating the patterns from their original printed forms into hand-rendered marks.



Figure 10. "Ghost Heirloom: Blackburn Rug/Maier Wallpaper", details of Blackburn Rug side. Photo credit: Reece Straw.

This translation process bridges personal memory with artistic exploration, as the drawings are informed by fragmented familial recollections: my sister's hand-drawn sketch from her childhood memory; my own imperfect recollections, and a photographic slide holds a small fragment of the Blackburn rug; serve as starting points for translations, demonstrating how personal narratives are reframed within a broader visual and material dialogue. Integrating lost family member names into the drawings further exemplifies intersemiotic translation. These names are subtly woven into the visual structure, connecting the tangible artefacts (rug and wallpaper) to the intangible memories they represent.

The unrepeating-repeat, operating through and with intersemiotic translation, is central to "Ghost Heirloom", as each drawing iteratively reimagines the rug and wallpaper—translating these domestic artefacts across material and conceptual forms. Each attempt to capture the original 'correctly' introduces variations, as the act of translation foregrounds memory's inherent subjectivity and imperfection. Intersemiotic translation amplifies this process, transforming motifs between the textile source and hand-drawn representations, where shifts in scale, pattern, and overlapping visual memories emerge. These variations are not errors but reflections of translation's generative nature, as meaning evolves across forms. The interplay between repetition and variation highlights how translation processes, through the unrepeating-repeat, reveal the complexity of remembering and reimagining. By embracing divergence in each iteration, "Ghost Heirloom" transforms fragmented family memories— often perceived as 'faulty' or incomplete—into an artwork that fosters an evolving dialogue between past and present. The unrepeating-repeat thus functions as a metaphor for the imperfect yet generative nature of remembering, where translation becomes an act of reconstitution rather than replication.

Intersemiotic translation underpins the interplay of visual and textual elements in "Ghost Heirloom", shaping how aspect seeing is enacted. Here, family names are subtly integrated into the visual compositions, prompting viewers to oscillate between observing the artwork as a visual object and engaging with its layers of meaning. For instance, the name "Mom Mom" (my grandmother) might appear subtly within a rug motif, becoming visible only upon close inspection. This interchange between the visible and the concealed reflects the fragmented and selective nature of memory, enacted through the process of intersemiotic translation.

In summary, "Ghost Heirloom: Blackburn Rug/Maier Wallpaper" demonstrates the interconnected application of intersemiotic translation, the unrepeating-repeat, and aspect seeing to explore how memory and materiality intertwine in creative practice. By translating familial artefacts into iterative drawings, the work reframes personal narratives within a broader material dialogue, bridging tangible and intangible histories. The unrepeating-repeat fosters iterative variations across the drawings, reflecting the selective and fluid nature of memory, while weekly rearrangements disrupt static relationships and invite new

91

perspectives. Intersemiotic translation operates as the core method, transforming textile processes into visual and textual forms, while aspect seeing engages viewers by prompting shifts between translated material processes and family histories, uncovering cultural and personal meaning. Together, these elements position the work as a reflective exploration of memory, offering an evolving dialogue between past and present through material and artistic processes.

Conclusion

The creative works advance the discourse on textiles and fine art through an expanded understanding of intersemiotic translation, positioning it as a transformative, dynamic process that fosters creative dialogue across semiotic systems. Building on Roman Jakobson's foundational definition, this work integrates the experimental translation approaches of Campbell and Vidal (2018) and Lee's ludic framework (2022) to extend intersemiotic translation beyond traditional linguistic boundaries to explore the field of textiles. Here, intersemiotic translation becomes a process of transference as well as one of generative reinterpretation, where material, conceptual, and semiotic relationships are reimagined across textiles, drawing, and text.

The contribution of this research lies in its advancement of contemporary textile discourse, addressing a gap in the application of intersemiotic translation within the field. As highlighted by the *TEXTILE* journal's recognition of intersemiotic translation's underexplored potential within textile discourse (de la Garza and Jie 2021), this research positions intersemiotic translation as a useful tool for reframing textiles, particularly within the context of a fine art practice. By expanding Campbell and Vidal's experimental focus and Lee's ludic exploration, this work introduces a material-led, process-based perspective on translation that fosters interdisciplinary connections and dissolves hierarchical boundaries between media.

The significance of the creative works lies in the development of a unique framework that interweaves intersemiotic translation with the unrepeating-repeat to enable aspect seeing. This triangulated approach transforms the iterative translation of textile processes into visual, textual, and auditory works, situating the creative works as an active site for expanding the boundaries of both textiles and fine art. The unrepeating-repeat, as demonstrated across the creative works, operates both through hand-based recreation—where material and subtle variations emerge—and through expanded intersemiotic translation, where meaning shifts between modes of expression. This process of translation produces repeated yet divergent forms, highlighting the transformative potential of cross-medium reinterpretation while maintaining a connection to the original source.

By foregrounding the expanded application of intersemiotic translation within these creative works, this research demonstrates how historical artefacts and processes can be dynamically reinterpreted through iterative transformations across mediums. The engagement of aspect seeing enriches these translations, prompting audiences to oscillate between recognising the origin textiles, their material processes, and the newly created forms. This approach enables viewers to actively engage with the evolving dialogues embedded within the works.

The creative work situates intersemiotic translation as a method for bridging cultural, historical, and material narratives through artistic practice. It contributes to an evolving textile discourse by demonstrating how translation across textiles, drawing, and text generates new understandings, fostering relational and dynamic engagements with past and present. Through this expanded framework, the research blurs the boundaries of fine art and textiles and offers a model for interdisciplinary dialogue that situates translation as an active, transformative, and creative process.

Section 2: Aspect Seeing

113. I observe a face, and then suddenly notice its likeness to another. I see that it has not changed, and yet I see it differently. I call this experience noticing an aspect

Figure 11. Page xi from Ludwig Wittgenstein's, 1953 posthumous publication, Philosophical Investigation II.

Introduction to Aspect Seeing

Aspectual understanding refers to the capacity to grasp multiple aspects, views, or perspectives. The term "Aspect Seeing" is widely attributed to Ludwig Wittgenstein, although he used various other expressions to convey this idea, such as "Noticing an aspect" and "Seeing-as" (Wittgenstein 1953/2010). I use the term 'aspect seeing' within the exegesis for clarity and simplicity. The concept of aspect seeing explores the phenomenon of aspectual perception. It refers to an embodied and experiential moment when individuals realise the existence of diverse perspectives from which to see, observe, or understand an image or text with which they are engaged.

Tina Melzer and Tobias Servaas expand Wittgenstein's concept of aspect seeing by introducing the synonymous term "Aspect Change" in the context of contemporary art (Melzer and Servaas 2020; Green 1999). In her publication "Atlas of Aspect Change" (2022), Melzer explores how Wittgenstein's notion can be applied across contemporary art practices. She examines how shifts in perception invite viewers to experience dynamic changes in understanding. As Melzer states, "In one sense, everything remains as it was before; but in another sense, everything is seen differently." (2022, p. 29). This builds on Wittgenstein's ideas, positioning "Aspect Change" as a method for fostering complex, nuanced engagements with contemporary art.

In "Atlas of Aspect Change", aspect seeing is described as shifting how we perceive or understand something, while avoiding relativism, which claims all views are equally valid. Aspect seeing recognises shared realities while allowing us to see things in new ways, encouraging a complex understanding of different perspectives. Unlike relativism, it does not dismiss truth or shared meaning, and unlike absolutism, it avoids rigid, fixed interpretations. Perspectivism, which underpins aspect change, values multiple viewpoints and invites dialogue, helping us compare and understand differing worldviews (Melzer, 2022). This approach embraces uncertainty and change while fostering ethical engagement with complexity and difference.

This way of seeing fosters an appreciation for differences, embracing diversity while identifying commonalities and shared experiences. It entails acknowledging various interpretations of a situation, acting as a transformative moment highlighting the importance of embracing diverse viewpoints. This approach shifts away from existing singular viewpoints and promotes considering alternative interpretations. Thus, aspectual seeing emphasises that there isn't a single correct way to perceive or understand something. Instead, various viewpoints and paths exist to approach the same image, object, or topic, leading to enhanced comprehension. As Melzer says, "Aspect seeing is essentially a process of stepping from one perception over to another. Shifting between them is no game of distraction. Aspect seeing is not the plain entertainment of the senses." (2022, p. 30). This perspective connects to my research by highlighting how the emphasis on the act of revelation facilitates a deeper engagement with shifting perceptions.

In the context of the creative works for the Ph.D., the primary emphasis is on the *act* of revelation rather than on *what* is being revealed, i.e., the 'act' relating to aspect seeing while the 'what' relates to the broader rhizomatic art practice. As Melzer notes, "In a shift of aspects [...], there is not just a change in our experience: a change from seeing things one way to seeing them another way. There is also an experience of change: an experience of something changing (or seeming to change)." (2022, p. 100). The creative work emphasises this action and experience of revelation while simultaneously recognising the significance of the subjects and aesthetics encountered within the works. By emphasising the process of revelation, the creative work seeks to instigate meaningful experiences and foster a heightened awareness of the unexpected and overlooked aspects within familiar aesthetics, providing viewers with an embodied experience to engage with, carry forth, and manifest in other contexts. This embodied experience is a core function of the creative works for this Ph.D.



Figure 12. "Kaninchen und Ente" ("Rabbit and Duck") from the 23 October 1892 issue of Fliegende Blätter. Illustrator unknown.

The Act of Revelation: Exploring the Dynamics of Aspect Seeing in a Contemporary Art Practice

The Moment of Discovery

The most common example of aspect seeing is the duck-rabbit illustration³² (Figure 12). When looking at the image above, one may initially perceive either the duck or the rabbit, but upon closer examination or with some prompting, one may start to notice the presence of the other figure within. As Melzer notes, "The expression of a change of aspect is an expression of a new perception and, at the same time, an expression of an unchanged perception." (2022, pp. 129-131). This duality of perception underscores the core idea of aspect seeing: the ability to shift between understandings without altering the physical object itself. This capacity to perceive the same image in multiple ways speaks to the fluidity of meaning and the active role of the viewer in constructing understanding. In my creative works, I aim to extend this principle by creating infused compositions that invite prolonged engagement, encouraging viewers to oscillate between perspectives through intersemiotic translation and within the unrepeating-repeat, uncovering multiple new connections over time. This process extends the dynamic interplay between unchanged perception and the unfolding of new interpretations that Melzer describes.

³² The duck-rabbit illustration was first published by German humour magazine Fliegende Blätter in 1892. After being utilised by psychologist Joseph Jastrow in his 1901 publication "Fact and Fable in Psychology", Wittgenstein included a line drawing of the duck-rabbit image in "Philosophical Investigations II" as an example of aspect seeing.

The crucial part of aspect seeing lies in the embodied experience of becoming aware of something else not initially seen, described by Melzer and Servaas as an "aha" moment, akin to the punchline of a joke—a sudden "bliss of understanding" (2020, p. 125). In my work, this experience unfolds in a delicate way. Rather than offering a single revelation, the "bliss" emerges through the gradual discovery of multiple details and connections over time, fostering a sustained engagement that encourages viewers to continually reflect, re-evaluate, and shift their perspectives. This aligns with the broader potential of aspect seeing to challenge fixed perceptions and invite new understandings.

As mentioned, it is important to understand that experiencing the creative works is not about *knowing* what is there but about the *act of discovery*. The works of the Ph.D. invite viewers to uncover intricacies and dimensions, offering opportunities for continuous engagement. Rather than implying the viewer missed something, the experience encourages an appreciation of the unfolding of perspectives, where new aspects are revealed to connect, elaborate, and enrich the understanding. The process becomes a dynamic and ongoing exploration that deepens the viewer's experience, transforming an initial aesthetic encounter into something richer and intellectually stimulating.



Figure 13. "Nest: Pigeonhole", detail as viewed up close. Photo credit: Andrew Weekes.

This gentle invitation to "see anew" is found subtly within the creative work. What initially appears decorative—such as translated stitch to drawn motif—begins to shift. The lines of the motif gradually transform into letters or words³³, reshaping their meanings and reconfiguring

³³ Look for the word 'pigeonhole' in Figure 13.

the perception of the original pattern. This perceptual shift, central to aspect seeing, highlights the dual, or multi, image quality inherent in the work—akin to the duck-rabbit illusion. Here, the image itself does not change; as Wittgenstein notes, the viewer's awareness and perception transform.

Thus, aspect seeing is not simply about the artefact but the viewer's ability to perceive multiple perspectives. It is an experiential understanding—activated through shifts in awareness— where the recognition of new details or connections reframes the work's decorative qualities, revealing shifting dimensions of meaning. These moments of discovery provide an ongoing sense of perceptual "bliss", offering fresh insights and expanded interpretations that encourage the viewer to see beyond the surface and engage with the work in dynamic, evolving ways. This moment can be profoundly liberating, as Melzer explains: "Seeing things differently can have a therapeutic effect in that it shows that what we take to be the obvious way, the only way, to see them in fact is not. That has a liberating effect, in that it loosens the strict hold that a particular view has on us" (2022, p. 68). Building on this releasing moment of discovery, the following section explores how familiarity, when subtly shifted, invites viewers to experience the familiar anew, challenging established perceptions and encouraging a continual re-evaluation of what is seen.

Seeing Anew in the Familiar

The aesthetics of the work³⁴ – as grounded in the unrepeating-repeat – is a foundation for creating a 'familiar' setting, serving as an entry point for viewers. The works establish a sense of comfort and familiarity by incorporating recognisable decorative patterns and domestic elements – often taken from historical textile patterns. This visual and conceptual baseline, shaped through the iterative yet subtly shifting nature of unrepeating-repeats, is significant because it draws viewers into the work, inviting engagement through established associations. With this familiarity in place, the work opens up possibilities for discovery and shifts in perception.

³⁴ I am aware that the aesthetics of my works engage with Euro-American, white Western-centric heritages. This connection arises from my own personal background and the autobiographical ties often present in the subject matter of the artwork.

The creative work within this thesis draws primarily on recognisable Western decorative and domestic elements to establish this sense of familiarity. Many viewers will most likely have established associations through these purposely recognisable components. Wittgenstein noted that the things most familiar are often left unseen in the following point:

129. The aspects of things that are most important for us are hidden because of their simplicity and familiarity. (One is unable to notice something—because it is always before one's eyes.) The real foundations of [their] enquiry do not strike a [person] at all. Unless that fact has at some time struck [them].—And this means: we fail to be struck by what, once seen, is most striking and most powerful. (Wittgenstein 1953/2010, p. 56e).

Wittgenstein highlights how familiarity is often so deeply ingrained that we fail to notice it, thus we see things not as they are but as we are accustomed to seeing them. As a result, assumptions, or "limiting assumptions", as pedagogue and coaching specialist Nancy Kline (1999) would call them, are formed, creating a foundation upon which the unexpected image, concept, thought, idea, or understanding can conceal itself, only to unveil its presence later. The creative works deliberately use familiarity to conceal alternative perspectives, inviting discovery and changing the viewer's relationship with the familiar. This deliberate interplay between familiarity and subtle variation supports the work's intention to draw viewers in while inviting them to look closer. It encourages an evolving engagement that transforms initial recognition into moments of insight and discovery.

Following the exploration of how moments of discovery and the re-evaluation of the familiar invite understanding, the next section examines the specific tactics employed in the creative works to activate aspect seeing, focusing on how perception, attention, slow looking and detailed engagement encourage viewers to engage deeply and uncover new perspectives within the creative works.

Tactics for Enacting Aspect Seeing Through the Creative Works

Aspect seeing is activated through the unrepeating-repeat and expanded intersemiotic translations, both of which provide audiences engaging with the creative works an opportunity or invitation for an experiential journey. This process invites viewers to explore and question their initial expectations without imposing any strict demands to do so. The experiential moment(s) for the viewer aims to uncover further details beyond initial perceptions, fostering

an embodied tacit understanding that can be applied in other contexts. The core of the artworks lies in fostering an environment where individuals independently develop their own insights, an approach that aligns with my personal and professional ethos as a pedagogue, coach, mentor, *and* artist, which emphasises a non-directive method that values individuals' endogenous solutions.

To fully appreciate the richness and intricacy of the creative works, it is useful to first appreciate the dynamics of perception, the importance of cultivating attention, and embracing slow looking. These positions serve as tactics that provide a foundation for engaging with the work, allowing shifting perspectives and meaning to emerge subtly.

Perception and Engagement in Aspect Seeing

An essential quality of aspect seeing is the process of engagement with the creative work. The process of 'seeing' encompasses more than the physical act of looking at visual information. It involves a complex cognitive process of interpreting and understanding our surroundings – of perceiving. While our eyes capture the raw visual stimuli, the actual act of seeing goes beyond sensory input. Seeing is influenced by many factors, such as our past experiences, cultural background, emotions, personal biases, and complex brain functions. As Melzer and Servaas say, "Seeing is a supposedly objective form of perception. However, people only ever see individual aspects of a whole and interpret them – mentally or in words – in a subjective way." (Melzer and Servaas 2020, p. 124). Our perception is not a comprehensive and unbiased representation of 'reality'. Instead, it is filtered through our perspectives and shaped by our subjective interpretations.

The inherent limitation of our perception is widely understood³⁵ - that our knowledge of the world is not solely derived from sensory experiences but is also structured by our cognitive faculties and preconceived notions. Our perception is inherently subjective, influenced by the categories and frameworks through which we interpret the world. To understand aspect

³⁵ See, for example, Immanuel Kant, "Critique of Pure Reason" (1781); Hans-Georg Gadamer, "Truth and Method" (1960); William James, "The Principles of Psychology" (1890); J.J. Gibson, "The Ecological Approach to Visual Perception" (1979); Ernst Gombrich, "Art and Illusion: A Study in the Psychology of Pictorial Representation" (1960); Richard Gregory, "Eye and Brain: The Psychology of Seeing" (1966); David Marr, "Vision: A Computational Investigation into the Human Representation and Processing of Visual Information" (1982). These works discuss how perception is actively shaped by individual perspectives, influenced by background, historical context, expectations, and prior experiences.

seeing, it is appropriate to recognise that our perception is not fixed or objective. Our cultural norms, personal biases, and individual experiences significantly shape how we perceive and interpret the world around us. In understanding the complexities of looking and perception, it is helpful to consider the insights offered by Gestalt psychology, which focuses on organising visual elements into meaningful patterns.

Twentieth-century Gestalt psychology offers valuable insights into how individuals perceive and make sense of visual information, proposing that organising visual elements into patterns is a natural tendency of the mind. Several principles underpinning Gestalt theory shed light on how we look at and interpret the world around us: 'Closure', where we often perceive incomplete or fragmented visual information as a complete object, demonstrating our innate drive to create order and completeness from what we see; the 'Figure-Ground Relationship' which distinguishes between the main subject (the figure) and its background (the ground), allowing us to focus on specific elements within our field of view; and 'Proximity', influencing how we group and organise visual elements based on their spatial arrangement. These principles highlight the active role of perceptual organisation in shaping our visual experiences and our ability to create meaningful perceptions from complex visual stimuli (Wheeler and Axelsson 2016).

Building on the perceptual insights of Gestalt psychology, which reveal how individuals organise and interpret visual stimuli, the practical principles of Nancy Kline and Marshall Rosenberg extend this understanding into the realm of human interaction and engagement, offering ethical and dialogic methods that inform my approach to fostering aspect seeing within the creative works. Nancy Kline's "Thinking Environment" highlights the role of active listening in facilitating understanding and perspective-taking (Kline 2020). Through her work, she highlights the importance of creating a safe and open space for individuals to share their thoughts and feelings while emphasising active listening and treating others as equals, ultimately cultivating creativity and clarity of thought. Psychologist Marshall Rosenberg developed the concept and method of "Nonviolent Communication", centred on empathetic listening and expression (Rosenberg 2015). Rosenberg and Kline have devised dialogic and listening methods as tactics for engagement, facilitating personal interaction and the occurrence of transformative moments. The ethos of these approaches is integrated into my

creative works and aligns with my artistic practice, taking shape through an embodied, nonmonodidactic³⁶ approach.

As mentioned, the process of the audience observing details contributes to revealing the 'hidden in plain sight' or enaction of aspect seeing. By encouraging audiences to actively participate in this process of exploration, they become integral parts of the creative works. To facilitate a specific experience of aspect seeing within my practice, I employ and encourage tactics such as attention, slow looking, and a focus on detail within the familiar through a non-directive approach. It is to these properties of the work that I now turn.

Slow-looking and Detailed Engagement

When engaging with the creative works, giving time and employing varying types of awareness can aid in uncovering or seeing details. While a cursory glance might offer initial glimpses of intricacies, the patient approach often facilitates aspect seeing. Drawing from "Slow Looking" (Tishman 2018) and "Slow Philosophy" (Walker 2017), it is worth noting that slowness does not always imply depth, just as speed does not necessarily mean superficiality. What is important is the potential for 'more' that arises from a slow engagement with the work (Tishman 2018). In the case of the larger installations, viewers are prompted to physically navigate the space, moving in various directions and at different distances. This purposeful exploration provides fresh insights and opportunities for new awareness through engagement. Slow looking is important as it -

[...] foregrounds the capacity to observe details, to defer interpretation, to make careful discernments, to shift between different perspectives, to be aware of subjectivity, and to purposefully use a variety of observation strategies in order to move past first impressions. (Tishman 2018, p. 6).

Tishman's meaning here resonates within the creative works, which invite a deliberate approach to 'looking' through details, subtle variations, and concealed elements. These qualities encourage viewers to slow down, focus on the familiar, and uncover nuances, thereby aiding aspect seeing when engaging the works. As she highlights, slow is a vital tactic to "move

³⁶ Constructed from the concepts of 'non' (without), 'mono' (one), and 'didactic' (authoritative), this is an approach that avoids a single, authoritative method or perspective for conveying knowledge. Instead, it promotes diverse, exploratory, and open-ended methods that encourage multiple interpretations and active participation rather than simply transmitting fixed information from an authority figure to a passive audience. In the context of artistic or educational practices, it fosters critical thinking, engagement, and personal discovery.

past first impressions", which is necessary to engage with the depth of the creative works. These intentional slow tactics gain significance when navigating the intricate details found within the works, fostering revelation.

'Slow' within the works becomes a process for focused attention, offering richness through slow observation, uncovering intricate details, and fostering heightened awareness. This approach, prompted by the creative works, encourages an embodied experience of truly seeing the work's facets. In the context of aspect seeing, slowness plays a crucial role in giving undivided attention to the subject matter presented to the audience. Viewers can perceive more by deliberately slowing down and immersing themselves in what lies before them: other dimensions, different perspectives, and a nuanced understanding. While the fast-paced, fleeting, and limited attention has become the norm, it is through slowing down or repeating that individuals can unlock the potential for greater comprehension and appreciation. The creative works aim to foster this in audiences.

Michelle Boulous Walker reminds us, "Reading slowly and rereading, returning time and time again to read anew, we return, similarly, to the things in the world anew." (Walker 201 7, p. xv). This sentiment strikes a similar chord to how aspect seeing functions within the unrepeating-repeat: through repeatedly returning and slow engagement, we begin to see anew. The iterative process of slow looking inherent in the unrepeating-repeat allows for the revelation of details and alternative perspectives, embodying the essence of the experience. By engaging with the repeated act of looking as part of a slow process, the 'aha' moments within the artwork can gradually unveil themselves. Through the slow engagement, which the work invites, the experience furthers the internal shifts within the viewer, i.e., the change occurs in their perception rather than a transformation of the object.

Attention

When engaging with the creative works, giving time and employing varying types of awareness can aid in uncovering or seeing details, which in turn primes the viewer's attention. The audience's attention is a crucial element that aids in aspect seeing within the creative works, particularly when combined with slow looking. As poet and writer Kathleen Jamie says, attending to can be an act of resistance or transformation. This is what I'd like to think. That the very act of paying attention, of noticing, becomes what Seamus Heaney, speaking of poetry, called a 'redress'. That attention weaves resistance. A web of attention-resistance. What we subsequently do with that noticing, whether we transform it into poetry, art, science or activism comes a little later. But first, there must arise that primary act of attending. (Jamie 2019, para 6-8).

In my work, this act of noticing serves as a catalyst for further engagement, fostering shifting perceptions and aligning with the process of aspect seeing, enabling this "primary act of attending". The creative work invites viewers to keep questioning, observing, re-evaluating, and challenging their initial expectations, which may encourage similar approaches in other situations. The first step to awareness may happen through a glance or glimpse. This act of first noticing can serve as the audience's initial moment of awareness, signalling that there is more to be observed. This glimpse can increase a viewer's attention, as attention and noticing are interconnected but differ in nature. Noticing is less focused than attention, allowing for a more accidental or spontaneous experience, which may be an individual's initial engagement with the work. With time, the initial noticing can evolve into more focused and intentional attention, a form of deliberate action. Engaging in slow and purposeful actions to 'notice' fosters a heightened state of attentiveness.

A generous focus and attention 'towards' is rewarded by details being revealed within the creative works that alter one's understanding. Simone Weil's concept of attending "towards" is relevant here, which implies a directed and intentional focus on something external to oneself, with the aim of genuine understanding or connection (Weil 2002). "[Attention is] the rarest and purest form of generosity" (Simone Weil in Vetö 1994, p. 45), this sentiment of Weil's is a guiding principle in developing my practice through deliberate research and laborious making processes. Drawing with words of historical, domestic, or familial starting points is intentionally approached with a slow and meticulous engagement. This process involves unravelling, discovering, and giving careful attention to the source object through translation, embodying an act of generosity—a way of honouring the origin object through this, the works invite a recognition of the generosity implicit in this approach, offering an opportunity for the audience to engage with the finished works in a similarly attentive manner.

This dynamic process of discovery through slow looking and attention activates aspect seeing, unveiling hidden details within the works. Next, we explore how this unfolds within specific creative pieces.

The Creative Work through the Lens of Aspect Seeing

This section explores the creative works of "Manhole", "Gape", and "Old Lady" (RN2), along with "Her Words, My Voice" (RN5) and finally "Re:dRawing" (RN4), each work engaging aspect seeing through the interplay of translation and variant repeats. In the works found in RN2, lace draughts are transformed into large-scale installations, where intricate lines reveal themselves as text, shifting perceptions from decorative to linguistic and cultural. The piece "Her Words, My Voice" combines personal and historical narratives, encouraging viewers to explore these dual perspectives, while "Re:dRawing" places text, textile, and drawing adjacent to each other, inviting a re-consideration of how these forms interconnect.

Aspect seeing within the creative works delicately engage the audience, revealing itself in multiple ways. This is seen, for example, in the shifts between the decorative domestic aesthetic and the words that construct the drawing; the initial expectation of stitch, which then reveals itself as words; and playful details within the work's placement. This process of shifting perspectives is examined in action through the following works, where aspect seeing is actively explored through the principles of intersemiotic translation and the framework of unrepeating-repeats, revealing how together these elements shape the viewer's understanding.

The Creative Works: "Manhole", "Gape", and "Old Lady"

The artworks "Manhole" (Figure 14), "Gape", and "Old Lady" (2018-2019) (RN2, VS pp. 35-60) explored archival lace-making diagrams through drawing, text, and installation, emphasising the intricate processes of machine-made lace creation. The creative works sit within a broader exploration, where overlooked aspects of archives are unearthed and presented through a lens of the golden thread—shifting between media and methods, from lace patterns to drawings, words and large-scale installations.



Figure 14. "Manhole", 2018, 6.5 m x 3 m, emulsion wall paint with 34.5 cm x 100 cm pencil drawing on Mylar mounted on aluminium. During the exhibition "Bummock: The Lace Archive" at Backlit Gallery, Nottingham. Photo credit: Ellen Brady.

In the three works, the unrepeating-repeat and intersemiotic translation enable aspect seeing, transforming historical lace diagrams into complex, site-specific installations that invite viewers to explore multiple perspectives. Engaging with the work invites the viewer to shift their understanding, moving beyond a surface-level recognition of decorative pattern to uncover further associations embedded in the materials and language. These works each begin with a different historical lace draught, ultimately shifting viewers' perceptions through the translation and unexpected interplay of medium, form, and language. By starting with the lace draughts and incorporating variations and translations across media, the works encourage audiences to look beyond surface-level aesthetics to see further elements that change the initial understanding of the work. This dynamic engagement reflects Melzer's description of "aspect change" as a shift in perception that is neither fixed nor relativistic but is instead about uncovering new perspectives.

Aspect seeing is activated in the intersemiotic translation of lace diagrams into drawings formed by text. At first glance, these large-scale installations mimic the interwoven lace lines, creating an impression of intricate, decorative linework. However, upon closer inspection, the lines reveal themselves as text, where letters and words emerge, transforming what seems like a stitch yet is found to be text. This shift is aspect seeing, where the viewer is invited to shift their understanding of the visual stimulus, perceiving one thing as something else. The words³⁷ themselves—terms like manhole and gape— add another aspect of meaning, functioning both as descriptors of lace structures and as euphemisms for female genitalia, taken from "The Big Book of Filth: 6500 Sex Slang Words and Phrases" (Green 1999). In these works, the connection between the word and the material lies in the definition of lace as an openwork fabric featuring intricate patterns formed by holes, directly aligning with the suggestive nature of these terms. Thereby, the term itself holds a double meaning to shift between. This creates an opportunity for aspect seeing to unfold, as the viewer perceives multiple dimensions of meaning, moving beyond the initial visual impressions to recognise new associations. This dual significance within the terms used to create the works encourages viewers to re-evaluate their initial perception of the work, shifting from an appreciation of technical and aesthetic intricacy to understanding the multiple associations embedded within the terminology.

Shifting historical lace draughts from functional diagrams into expressive, text-based drawings exemplifies shifting perception enabled through intersemiotic translation, where a functional item (the lace draft) transforms into an aesthetic and conceptual tool in contemporary art. This translation from technical instruction to contemporary artwork enables the works to operate across different media and interpretations. In "Manhole", "Gape", and "Old Lady", this translation sees the lace draughts, originally intended to guide machine lace making, repurposed into newly formed drawings that explore language, drawing, and lace processes simultaneously. Moving between the technical (lace diagrams) and the visual/linguistic (drawing installations), the work invites viewers to appreciate the draught as utilitarian and contemporary artwork. The historical diagram of lace becomes a multi-dimensional artwork through aspect seeing, engaging audiences in a shifting, dialogic exploration between the semiotic forms that transcend the limitations of a single medium.

The unrepeating-repeat further enhances aspect seeing within these works by introducing location-specific variations within each installation. This tactic of subtle variation enables aspect seeing, where familiar elements shift across contexts, prompting re-evaluations. Although the mounted drawing remains the same across each exhibition of the works, the

³⁷ The titles (or part of the title) of the creative works are usually the same term found within drawings.
bespoke wall drawing of each instillation is recreated specifically for each site, adding variations that prompt viewers to see each version of the work as a continuation and a new iteration. Each iteration—anchored by the same historical lace draught—takes on new details and layouts, allowing viewers to experience the artwork anew each time they encounter it. This ongoing transformation enacts an expanded version of aspect seeing by reminding viewers that what they perceive in one context may reveal additional facets in another, thus reinforcing the work's complex nature.

Transitioning from the site-specific installations of "Manhole", "Gape", and "Old Lady", the work "Re:dRawing" explores the shifting perspectives between text, textile, and drawing, emphasising process and variation.



Figure 15. "Damask: Loom", 2019, 84 cm x 28 cm, site-specific drawings within the "No Telos!" publication as part of my chapter titled "Re:dRawing". "Damask: Loom" is a four-page drawing with French folds (shown here in blue/pink colourway and central jog line format).

The Creative Work: "Re:dRawing"

"Re:dRawing" (2019) (Figure 15, RN4, VS pp. 103-115) is a contribution to the "No Telos!" publication by Beam Editions. This work engages with the intersection of thread and drawn

lines, emphasising the publications ethos of process over outcomes. The work comprises of a prose (also) titled "Re:dRawing", a series of quotes titled "Associated Thoughts on: Line", and a site-specific drawing titled "Damask: Loom". Through these three elements "Re:dRawing" invites viewers into an experimental process that shifts between media.

The work "Re:dRawing" enacts and enables aspect seeing through its exploration of text, textiles, and drawing, where repeated damask fabric patterns, textual explorations, and the format of the book itself invite viewers to shift perspectives. The pattern of the drawn damask fabric exemplifies how subtle variations activate aspect seeing by revealing different details as viewers engage with the work over time. This work transforms a familiar decorative motif of woven fabric (damask) into an experience that blurs the boundaries between expected forms, inviting viewers to question their initial impressions.

The use of the word "loom" as the drawing's title—"Damask: Loom"—and as the form to create the drawing is significant. Here, "Loom" serves multiple meanings—referring both to the tool used in traditional weaving to create the damask fabric and as a euphemism for the penis³⁸. This duality of meaning through the use of a word invites the viewer to recognise how multiple interpretations coexist within one element of the work. The subtle shifts in perception that occur when the word "loom" is first recognised in the drawing lead to a shifting understanding when it is then connected to the damask fabric. As viewers continue to engage with the work, the meanings unfold further. These unfolding "aha" moments, where one interpretation shifts to another, create a dynamic process of revelation, allowing viewers to uncover hidden meanings across different readings and experiences of the work.

Aspect seeing is integral to the overall title of the section "Re:dRawing", which is polysemic and designed to be visually and mentally comprehended with multiple meanings through silent reading rather than spoken aloud. Through this 'reading' in the mind's eye, it's intended that three words may be simultaneously seen or slowly revealed through different considerations: i.e., "re: drawing" as in 'regarding drawing'; "redrawing" as in 'to draw again'; and "red rawing" is a playful or fun nonsense reading within the word. This multiple reading or 'seeing' of a word that shifts from one to another is what reading can be like for me as a person with dyslexia and

³⁸ The term "loom" was sourced from "The of Filth: 6500 Sex Slang Words and Phrases", where it appears as a euphemism for penis, adding a layered and playful dimension to its traditional association with weaving.

as a visual thinker³⁹. For me, words shift and oscillate and are seen as a 'visual' element more than 'read' as a text; words can have simulations multiple readings and ways of being seen. This exemplifies how reading or engaging with a single word (e.g., Re:dRawing) can be similar to the 'seeing' of the duck-rabbit illustration – that both can shift and hold multiple meanings.

This multifaceted title encapsulates the essence of aspect seeing by encouraging viewers to perceive various perspectives within a single word. This tactic extends throughout the work as viewers engage with the damask fabric patterns, which reveal themselves through hand-drawn details and hidden fold-out pages explored in different colourways throughout the publication's print run. What might first appear as a uniform design begins to shift upon closer inspection, inviting viewers to see the motifs as both traditional and reimagined.



Figure 16. Showing the French folds and reverse of "Damask: Loom". Additionally, each image here evidence's the diverse versions or colours ways found in different books. Photo Credit: Danica Maier.

The drawing "Damask: Loom" (Figure 15, Figure 16) foregrounds the concept of aspect seeing through the lens of the unrepeating-repeat. Viewers shift between what is immediately visible and what is hidden, uncovering new elements with each interaction. This drawing, based on the intricate patterns of Venetian damask fabric, embodies an ongoing interplay between repetition and subtle variation. The reversible motif—combined with the physicality of the French folds (Figure 16)—conceals and reveals different aspects of the work, depending on how the viewer engages with the publication. Intersemiotic translation augments the work's exploration of aspect seeing within this work by merging textile processes with hand-drawn

³⁹ I have hyperphantasia, characterised by an exceptionally vivid and detailed visual imagination. Individuals with hyperphantasia mentally conjure images that are highly realistic, detailed, and dynamic, enhancing creative processes such as visualising artistic concepts or imagining transformations between semiotic modes. These individuals can tend to think in visuals rather than in words. (Milton et al. 2021b).

and digitally rendered elements. The drawing incorporates a transition from fabric to drawing to printed book, which invites viewers to engage in shifting perspectives.

The prose (VS p. 108) found at the beginning of the section "Re:dRawing", also titled "Re:dRawing", is a critical component of the work, embodying a poetic descriptor of intersemiotic translation and its starting points within the practice. This text is not merely a descriptive or explanatory addition but an integral aspect of the creative work. Through a poetic and open-ended narrative (with a purposeful comma at the end), the text becomes a reflective space that bridges the materiality of the drawings and the intangible, conceptual insights of the creative process. The text serves to explore cross-material exploration, much like the visual components of the work, presenting language as another medium to see and experience the shifting nature of work. In this way, the prose enacts aspect seeing by unfolding an understanding of the work as both a description and an actor in its own right, inviting the viewer to shift between perceiving the prose as a static representation of 'telling' and as a dynamic, evolving process of 'doing'. In doing so, this narrative element helps elucidate the complex interplay between media within my practice. It highlights how meanings can transform as they traverse different semiotic modes, aligning with the very principles of intersemiotic translation. This poetic description bembodies my initial tacit understanding of how intersemiotic translation was a core element within the works.

In addition to the prose, the quotes included in the third part of the work, titled "Associated Thoughts on: Line", play an equally important role by providing contextual richness and multiple perspectives to explore the concepts of line and repetition through other's voices. These quotes⁴⁰ are drawn from various sources that intersect with themes of drawing, materiality, and line and are presented not simply as references but as dialogues that resonate with the unfolding process of "Re:dRawing". They enrich the viewer's understanding by situating the drawings and text within a broader discourse. In the same way aspect seeing encourages a shift in perception, including these quotes allows viewers to shift between different viewpoints and expand their understanding of the work, prompting new meaning to

⁴⁰ The quotes referenced in this section are drawn from the following sources, also found on pp. 111–112 in the VS: Robert Bringhurst, "The Elements of Typographic Style"; Charlotte Higgins, "Red Thread: On Mazes & Labyrinths"; Tim Ingold, "Lines: A Brief History"; Ann Hamilton, "Book Weight BB (Human Carriage)"; Danica Maier, "Grafting Propriety: From Stitch to the Drawn Line"; Rosemary Sassoon, "Marion Richardson: Her Life and Her Contribution to Handwriting"; and Anne Wilson, "Notes on Wind-Up: Walking the Warp".

emerge with each engagement. The quotes align with the experimental and reflective ethos of "No Telos!" where uncertainty and open-ended inquiry are valued. They provide a chorus of voices that echo the themes of 'line', enhancing the viewer's experience by inviting them to think beyond the immediate visual and textual elements. In this way, the quotes act as provocations, encouraging reflection and helping to establish a dialogic relationship between the work, its creator, and its audience, ultimately amplifying the sense of exploration and shifting meaning.

Overall, "Re:dRawing" enacts aspect seeing through its triad structure, requiring viewers to shift their perception as they engage with the interlinking of prose, drawing, and quotes. The French folds conceal and reveal damask patterns, encouraging an active process of discovery where each interaction uncovers previously unnoticed details. The inclusion of the word loom—both as the title of the drawing and a drawn element within the work—reinforces a shifting engagement, serving as both a literal reference to weaving and a euphemism that adds complexity to interpretation. The prose and quotes further integrate these elements, bridging conceptual and material aspects to deepen the exploration of repetition, perception, and materiality. Together, these elements transform a decorative motif into a dynamic interplay of text, textile, and drawing, fostering an evolving understanding of perception and meaning.

Overall, "Re:dRawing" explores the shifting perspectives between text, textile, drawing and line, emphasising process and variation. In contrast, "Her Words, My Voice" focuses on the interplay of multiple voices within a single text, combining Fryn Tennyson Jesse's biography with the artist's personal narrative, as will be discussed next.

The Creative Work: "Her Words, My Voice"

"Her Words, My Voice" (2022) (Figure 17, RN5, VS pp. 03-115) is a text-based artwork created as part of the "Bummock: Tennyson Research Centre" project, during which I specifically focused on the archive of Fryn Tennyson Jesse⁴¹ within the Tennyson Research Centre,

⁴¹ Fryn Tennyson Jesse (1888–1958) was a British writer, playwright, and criminologist with a multifaceted and notable career. The niece of Alfred Lord Tennyson—she initially pursued studies in fine art. Jesse is best known for her crime novel *A Pin to See the Peep-Show* (1928), and for her short stories and plays that explored human psychology and moral dilemmas. In addition to her creative work, she wrote extensively about crime and justice, blending her literary skill with criminological insight. Despite her significant contributions, her legacy has often been overshadowed by her famous male relative, making her an overlooked yet compelling figure in 20th-century literary and cultural history.

Lincolnshire. The work explores shared narratives between Fryn and myself, using quotes from her biography to create a dual perspective where the exact words speak both for and from our different positions. By shifting between these perspectives, the artwork plays with language and text, transforming familiar fragments into a multifaceted exploration of identity, history, and memory. "Her Words, My Voice" is presented in various forms, including a printed multiple in the form of an according fold-out, performative readings, and a sound piece. This work examines personal and cultural narratives while inviting viewers to shift their perception within a singular text, creating a dynamic interplay of voices and meanings.



Figure 17. "Her Words, My Voice", 15 January 2022, 34 cm x 12 cm or 34 cm x 126 cm full length, a printed object used for live reading. Photo credit: Finlay Maier.

In "Her Words, My Voice" aspect seeing is initiated by presenting a narrative oscillating between Jesse's words and my own connected narrative found within the same words. This shifting of meaning within a singular text, directly enacts Wittgenstein's concept of aspect seeing through the move between multiple voices and narratives. The work uses the overlap of voices⁴² and narratives to disrupt viewers' initial expectations and guide them into a nuanced process of re-evaluation. This shift between perspectives encourages the viewer to move between different understandings of the text, much like how aspect seeing facilitates a

⁴² When the term "voice" is used here, it refers to the expression of a perspective or viewpoint rather than the literal production of sound. When used within the title, I am deliberately playing with its dual meaning (viewpoint and sound from month).

shift in visual perception from one understanding to another. At first instance, the text may appear as a straightforward recounting or biographical reflection. Yet, as viewers engage, they start to sense an intricate dialogue where the boundaries shift between Jesse's 'voice' and the artist's 'voice'. This subtle interplay encourages audiences to look beyond a single narrative and to consider how multiple perspectives coexist within the same text.

The experience of recognising different voices within a shared narrative invites audiences or readers to continuously shift their understanding, moving between perspectives and voices rather than settling into a fixed narrative position. Through this unfolding process, audiences are invited to explore how different interpretations or meanings can coexist within a single work, experiencing a complex interplay of empathy, reinterpretation, and personal reflection that resonates beyond the artwork. This multi-faceted engagement asks viewers to embrace the multiplicity of meanings embedded within the narrative, enriching their experience with each encounter and promoting a nuanced understanding of the work.

The unrepeating-repeat reinforces aspect seeing in "Her Words, My Voice" by revisiting the same content in various formats—printed, sound work, and live performance—each time with variations. This tactic introduces repetition with difference, where each iteration of the text within the piece reveals new details or aspects of meaning, prompting viewers to consider how the same words resonate differently in each format. By encountering the text across multiple mediums, the work affords viewers the opportunity to reinterpret Jesse's narrative and the artist's reflections within each new context, noticing details and inflections that may have been overlooked previously. This variation creates an ongoing process of discovery, where each mode of presentation reconfigures the audience's understanding.

On the reverse side of the printed text on "Her Words, My Voice", a petit point image appears (Figure 18, VS pp. 120-122), constructed through intersemiotic translation. The image has been translated from a small black and white photograph (the original object) into a coloured photograph (my digital documentation), then digitally transformed to recreate is as a stitched petit point (a physical artefact) and then turned into a large-scale printed fragment found on the reverse of the printed work. Initially, this image fragment seems to be composed of random digital pixels, but as viewers look closely/again, they will distinguish the details as enlarged photographed stitches. This shift from digital abstraction to tangible craft engages aspect seeing, where the same visual element can be seen in multiple ways, depending on the

114

viewer's perspective. The interplay between digital and textile media invites a transition from one form of understanding to another, highlighting how different media can reframe the meaning of the same content. Additionally, when viewed from a distance, the image (that may initially be seen as abstract) reveals itself as a fragmented part of a larger scene, offering a complex web of visual clues that the viewer must engage with to uncover. Then as they draw nearer, the subtle texture of the stitching becomes visible, revealing the intricate, handmade process that contrasts with the mechanical nature of the digital medium. This duality facilitates an enriched understanding, where viewers oscillate between different ways of perceiving the same image.



Figure 18. Reverse side of "Her Words, My Voice" (2020), 12 cm or 34 cm x 126 cm – showing the three different images of petit point fragments. The piece is an edition of 200, with each of the above images featured on one-third of the printed run.

Conclusion

In conclusion, the concept of aspect seeing serves as a fundamental action within the creative practice, inviting a dynamic process of discovery and re-evaluation for the viewer. As illustrated through works such as "Manhole", "Gape", "Old Lady", "Re:dRawing", and "Her Words, My

Voice" aspect seeing is embedded within the multidimensions of these pieces, encouraging viewers to shift between multiple perspectives and uncover further meanings that may not be immediately apparent. This practice invites the audience into a dialogic space where they are encouraged to slow down, engage attentively, and revisit their initial impressions, fostering a continuous exploration of the work's complexity.

The interplay between aspect seeing, the unrepeating-repeat, and intersemiotic translation creates a nuanced experience that transforms familiar forms into evolving artworks. By bridging text, textile, and drawing, the creative works facilitate a dynamic and ongoing process of engagement that transcends surface-level interpretations, inviting the viewer to experience both subtle and significant shifts in perception. Through this triadic relationship, the works promote a more nuanced understanding of the relationships between traditional and contemporary forms while also offering a broader reflection on how multiple realities coexist within a singular experience.

The creative works embody the potential of aspect seeing to foster empathy through an embodied understanding of diverse perspectives. This capacity to navigate shifting viewpoints is not just an aesthetic or social experience but a transformative process that encourages viewers to engage with multiple realities in art and beyond. By inviting viewers to recognise and transition between different perspectives, the works provide an embodied experience of aspect seeing that has implications for how we interact with the world around us. This aligns with Melzer's notion that competency in aspectual thinking can enhance understanding in human communication and interactions, as it enables individuals to empathise by imagining themselves in others' positions (2022, p. 125). Ultimately, the creative works seek to offer viewers a tool for navigating multiple perspectives. This approach can extend beyond the artwork and enrich how we engage with the world, fostering ethical and social transformation.

Section 3: The Unrepeating-repeat: An Artist's Method



Figure 19. "Nest" 10m x 5m, at The Collection Museum, 2014-2015, Photo credit: Andrew Weekes.

Introduction to The Unrepeating-repeat

The unrepeating-repeat is a practical artist method developed from and through the creative works that form this Ph.D. As a method it is interwoven in a supportive structure with intersemiotic translation to enable aspect seeing for the viewer. Central to the method is repetition and variance⁴³ as fundamental to the unrepeating-repeat. The evolution of this

⁴³ The legacy of repetition and variants by philosophical thinkers such as Deleuze, Derrida, Kierkegaard, and Bergson provide foundational basis for the unrepeating-repeat. Deleuze's notion of "repetition and difference" posits that subtle variations within repetition shape identity and meaning, while Derrida's ideas of iterability highlight the inherent differences in repeated expressions. Kierkegaard's exploration of repetition emphasises its transformative potential, and Bergson's framework of time and memory underscores the dynamic interplay between past and present experiences. However, while these philosophical connections enrich the discourse, they extend beyond the primary scope of this Ph.D.

approach within the creative works covers nearly thirty years⁴⁴ of artistic exploration. Through the creative works of the Ph.D. I have developed it as a core interest and process within my practice, leading to its definition and elaboration in the 2023 chapter of RN6 (VS pp. 154-168). In undertaking this Ph.D., I have deepened my understanding of its interconnection with intersemiotic translation and aspect seeing.

At the heart of the process is the intersemiotic translation between media, which constructs the unrepeating-repeat by translating textile objects into new forms. Textiles inherently lend themselves to exploring repetition, both through surface patterns (e.g., printed or embroidered) and the embedded patterns within their processes (e.g., weaving, quilting). Through drawing, the tactile, textural nature of textiles is recaptured in line within the work, while text reimagines their structure, further displacing the fixed repetition of the original textile process. These repetitive structures, when reinterpreted through drawing and text, are no longer confined to their original, familiar forms. Instead, they are disrupted and transformed, breaking the predictability of repetition by introducing variations that subvert initial expectations.

The unrepeating-repeat enables experiencing something anew in the familiar. It is a practical, experienced reminder that even in the seemingly repetitive, there is an ongoing invitation for discovery, a fresh perspective, and an encouragement to engage with the familiar in new ways. It offers an invitation to re-engage with repetitive elements, unveiling nuances that encourage shifting perspectives over time. The unrepeating-repeat is a tool for disruption within artistic practice, one that invites multiple perspectives through repetition marked by variation. Thus, it serves as a catalyst for aspect seeing, where the viewer is encouraged to notice subtle shifts with a variant pattern. Rather than relying on static repetition, the unrepeating-repeat encourages an active, participatory relationship with the work. It operates as a method of continuous re-formation, were small changes within seemingly identical elements lead to new 'seeings' or perspectives.

⁴⁴ While the creative works presented in this thesis span a 10-year period, it is useful to acknowledge that the core crux of practice and interest explored have been part of a slow and ongoing developmental process throughout my artistic career. The exploration of repetition has been an ongoing consideration within my practice since my MFA. It is through this ongoing investigation that the unrepeating-repeat has emerged and specifically I started to tentatively name it the 'unrepeating-repeat' during or from the "Stitch & Peacock" project.

The role of the variant (unrepeat) within the unrepeating-repeat is specifically to enable aspect seeing by concealing alternative views in plain sight within the familiar, encouraging viewers to shift their focus between details and the whole. This allows details to be uncovered by the viewer, gradually revealing meanings that are not immediately apparent. This deliberate disruption of repetition encourages viewers to look beyond the obvious, revealing different perspectives and details that were previously unnoticed. As a result, the viewer is invited to question initial expectations and foster an evolving understanding of the work.

The hand-made aspect of the creative works embedded within the artwork results in intentional variations that defy mechanical forms of repetition. While machines can precisely reproduce images, they lack the subtle nuances and imperfections that make each hand-drawn piece unique. Walter Benjamin's discussion of mechanical reproduction in art focused on how it stripped away the 'aura' of original work, enabling widespread accessibility. However, Benjamin's insights also emphasise that even with mechanical reproduction, the temporal dimension introduced through engagement plays a crucial role in generating new meanings and experiences, fostering differences (Benjamin 1934/2008). This dynamic process of temporal involvement supports the importance of engagement by the viewer in experiencing the work. Subtle variations found through slow engagement of the hand-made process invite the viewer to activate aspect seeing. The imperfections serve as cues for the viewer, encouraging multiple perspectives to unfold over time, providing an embodied experience and fostering an ongoing dialogue within the work.

Together, the unrepeating-repeat, intersemiotic translation, and aspect seeing create an interwoven framework that invites reconsideration of static interpretations of repetition. By embedding variations within repeated forms, the unrepeating-repeat encourages viewers to uncover hidden details, shifting their perspectives across the pattern as well as each time they return to the work. The unrepeating-repeat is constructed through an intersemiotic translation, which facilitates the movement between different media, deepening engagement by offering multiple perspectives on the same drawn mark. This interwoven approach ensures that each encounter with the work is an evolving, embedded experience, where repetition is not a return to the same, but a continuous unfolding of new insights and understandings.



Figure 20. "Damask: Loom". Celebrating the jog line of the repeated pattern as seen on the right (VS pp. 108-019).

The Creative Work through the Lens of the Unrepeating-repeat

The creative works of this Ph.D. are driven by the framework of the unrepeating-repeat, where a motif or process is repeated in ways that are never truly identical. The small idiosyncrasies introduced by hand-making, memory, installation conditions, audience participation, or mechanical printing ensure that the repetition unfolds with difference, enacting the unrepeating-repeat in each iteration within the creative works. The creative works often begin with seemingly straightforward or recognisable motifs but soon reveal complex facets of meaning. They involve enlarged decorative motifs, references to historical textiles, repeated extracts from euphemistic dictionaries, or re-stagings of the same structural idea. Every instance points to the repeated-yet-shifting nature of the practice, wherein each engagement with the same source reveals new visual, material, or thematic variations. I suggest engaging with the works within the VS to see and experience the unrepeating-repeat; however, here I will highlight a few specific aspects of how the unrepeating-repeat is found within the creative works.

An Initial Familiar Encounter of Pattern and Decorative

Each of the creative works employs an initial familiar experience that then reveals additional richness upon closer inspection or repeated engagement. For example, in "Nest" (Figure 19, RN1, VS pp. 10-16), the starting point is a familiar pattern that appears at first glance to be a straightforward repeated design (like wallpaper); yet, as it is scaled up into a hand-painted 5×10-metre wall drawing, subtle irregularities disrupt the repeat and enable hidden elements to be revealed. "Nest" embodies the concept of the unrepeating-repeat through its development of expanding the pattern from the Jacobean bedspread into a four-way repeat constructed directly on the wall entirely hand-drawn. Each iteration of the bedspread's repeated pattern introduces new dimensions of variation, emphasising the potential for repetition to evolve and transform. This approach not only challenges the notion of repetition as a fixed or predictable process but also creates a sense of continuous discovery, offering an enriching experience that evolves with each new engagement.



Figure 21. "Skein", 2014, 6.5 m x 2.5 m, drawings and historical samplers, The Collection Museum, Lincoln. Photo credit: Andrew Weekes.

Similarly, "Skein" (Figure 21, RN1, VS pp. 21-27) places historical embroidered samplers alongside contemporary drawings, prompting viewers to seek a common lineage. The significance of beginning with a familiar textile pattern or design lies precisely in how it primes viewers to anticipate the expected within the drawings, only to discover subtle deviations that activate an aspect shift. Once the pattern is revealed as inconsistent or embedded with alterative meaning, the viewer's initial assumptions are undermined, compelling a re-evaluation of what is seen.

These glimpses of difference within the familiar shift the encounter, prompting questions about how a single source can manifest anew each time. Ornate floral swirls, repeating birds, and meticulously drawn letters bind the viewer to a common visual vocabulary, enabling a heightened perceptual shift when the expected dissolves. It is specifically because of the familiarity of the pattern that audiences assume they know what they are looking at, causing any unseen aspects to remain overlooked at first glance. Thus, the unrepeating-repeat leverages this familiarity to amplify small but decisive variances, prompting an active process of 'seeing'—a process that uncovers surprising complexity within what initially seemed a straightforward decorative motif.



Figure 22. "Various Iterative un, re, peat(s)", 2023, detail of page 87. One of six drawings from the chapter "The Unrepeating-Repeat".

Re-drawing the Same Line / Image

The act of repeating the same line, image, or text lies at the heart of the unrepeating-repeat. In the drawings such as "Manhole", "Gape", and "Old Lady" (Figure 14, RN2, VS pp. 35-60), the use of a single word repeated hundreds of times becomes a key mechanism for creating and disrupting the decorative pattern. Words such as "manhole" or "old lady", sourced from my slang dictionary, are drawn repeatedly to form intricate motifs. Yet, the process of repetition rendered by hand—ensures that no two instances of the word are identical, nor does the work create an exact replica of the original. Variations in writing-as-drawing, spacing, line weight, placements, and translations introduce differences with every iteration. The unexpectedness of the repeated words draws the viewer into a dual experience, oscillating between reading and seeing. The decorative pattern becomes a container for meaning, while the unrepeating nature of the pattern invites further engagement, emphasising how language and image coexist dynamically. Additionally, the reuse of the same source image—such as the Jacobean bedspread—across multiple works adds another dimension to the unrepeating-repeat. In "Nest", this historical textile is scaled up into a monumental wall drawing, as well as a small (almost) hidden drawing "Blue Tit", while the same motif is also found in the work "Skein: Snatchel" (see Figure 23).



Figure 23. The same bird found in three different drawings (details shown) in the exhibition "Stitch & Peacock", 2014. Drawing titles from left to right: "Skein: Snatchel", "Nest: Blue Tit", and "Nest: Pigeon Hole".

This same historical Jacobean bedspread is the source material for the drawings titled "Various Iterative un, re, peat(s)" (Figure 22, Figure 27), found in the chapter "The Unrepeating-Repeat" (RN6). These drawings build upon the foundations established in RN1. However, in the chapter for RN6, the two (similar yet different) "trees of life" motifs from the bedspread are superimposed to reveal areas of convergence and divergence. These drawings aim to encapsulate the intricate balance between similarities and disparities inherent in the original bedspread's portrayal of two hand-crafted repeated elements. By revisiting and reinterpreting the same historical object, each work becomes a site of transformation, where familiarity is both reinforced and challenged.

Text and Language

The repetition and apparent layering of language within the creative works recontextualise meaning, transforming familiar words and phrases into dynamic sites of discovery that exemplify the unrepeating-repeat – as seen within the repeated use of a single word. Building on this, the focus shifts from the repetition of a single word to the juxtaposing of text, where meaning evolves through context and narrative, inviting new interpretations and perspectives.

The text of the work "Her Words, My Voice" (RN5) and the quotes in "Re:dRawing" (RN4, VS pp. 103-115) explore the unrepeating-repeat by employing a combined narrative to transform meaning and perception. In "Her Words, My Voice", words drawn from Fryn Tennyson Jesse

are entwinned to simultaneously tell narratives of both Fryn and myself, weaving a dual meaning into the text. Fryn's words remain unchanged, yet their context shifts between her narrative and my own. This dual narrative is experienced differently depending on the mode of engagement, with Fryn's clarity contrasting against my more abstract and lateral reflections. This dual storytelling forces a reconsideration of how language can hold multiple meanings, allowing repetition found in the shifting between, serves as an entry point into variant perspectives in the same words.

In "Re:dRawing" (RN4), the use of quotes becomes a strategy for exploring the unrepeatingrepeat. Each quotation in the chapter speaks to the concept of "line", yet from distinctly different voices and perspectives. These quotes form a complex dialogue, encouraging readers to reflect on how a single concept can hold multiple meanings and how diverse interpretations can converge around a shared idea. The interplay of these perspectives transforms the text into a space where variant repetition functions as a means of exploration rather than duplication. Similarly, in the chapter "The Unrepeating-Repeat" (RN6), the deliberate use of quotations builds meaning and understanding, with each quote offering a unique perspective on the same core concept. These intertextual dialogues interact with one another, deepening the complexity of the overarching theme. As readers encounter the quotes in various contexts within the chapter, their meanings shift subtly, inviting reconsideration and fresh insight with each pass.

In these works, reconfiguring words, phrases, or quotations – which are approaching the same idea differently – compels the audience to revisit the content with fresh eyes, engaging with new facets of nuance and interpretation. The language transforms into a generative framework, revealing how even familiar text can be a dynamic site for ongoing exploration and meaning making.

The Performative Loop

The performative loop refers to a cyclical structure where repeated actions, readings, or performances are designed to shift and evolve with each iteration, creating new meanings and interpretations. This is a central mode within the chapter "The Unrepeating-Repeat" (RN6), which invites readers to engage with one of three interconnected elements—text, quotes, or drawings—to the end of the chapter and then to restart with another element. The structure invites a cyclical reading process, as readers explore the page's individual components and

then return to the beginning, looping back to re-engage with another part of the material. Each pass through the chapter reveals new connections between the overlapping meaning of text and imagery, subtly altering the reader's understanding. This perpetual cycle of reading, reflection, and rediscovery mirrors the performative nature of the unrepeating-repeat, where repetition becomes a means of developed understanding.



Figure 24. "Score: Mechanical Asynchronicity", 28 January 2022, Sir Jack Lyons Concert Hall, Photo credit: Christopher Leedham.

Similarly, "Score: Mechanical Asynchronicity" (RN3) embodies this looping process in a live performance context. The music, derived from lace diagrams, is repeated in live events by musicians accompanied by vinyl records. Each 7–10-minute segment repeats within the performance, but each version shifts and changes thereby no two renditions are identical. In both the chapter and the score, the loop becomes a framework for engaging with material anew, inviting an iterative process of discovery where each encounter builds upon the last, embodying the core principles of the unrepeating-repeat.



Figure 25. Showing three versions pp. 27-28 of "Damask: Loom" in "No Telos!". Photo credit: Danica Maier.

Multiple Versions in Print

Mechanical printing processes, when paired with deliberate interventions, can exemplify the unrepeating-repeat. Projects such as "Re:dRawing" (RN4) in the "No Telos!" publication and "Her Words, My Voice" (RN5), reveal how mechanical printing processes can bring new dimensions to the unrepeating-repeat. In "Damask: Loom", a hand-drawn Venetian damask motif is reproduced in several layouts and colourways (see Figure 25), ensuring that different copies of the book offer unique presentations. The drawing highlights the mechanical process of creating a repeated pattern through the use of the 'jog line'⁴⁵ (see Figure 20), celebrating this feature within the drawings. The mechanical nature of printing might suggest uniformity, but the deliberate variation in layout and palette disrupts the illusion of identical multiples, compelling viewers to engage with each version as a distinct iteration.



Figure 26. "Her Words, My Voice", 2022, installation at The Collection Museum during the three-person exhibition "Bummock: Tennyson Research Centre". Photo credit: Reece Straw.

This principle of printed variation within repetition extends to "Her Words, My Voice" (RN5), where the reverse side of the foldout features three distinct fragments (Figure 26, VS pp. 120-

⁴⁵ In repeat printing, a "jog line" is the edge of the repeat on the initial design used for printing. This edge can often have a non-linear or irregular form. The jog line is essential because the irregularity enables the repeated print edges not to be apparent once the printing is finished. It acts as a guide during the printing process to ensure that the non-linear edge aligns correctly in each repeat, preventing misalignment or inconsistency issues in the final printed output.

122), each taken from the same enlarged stitchwork fragment. Although the fragments are derived from the same source, the mechanical printing process has been played with to create three different versions within the edition of 200. These image fragments play a significant role as they repeat distinct parts from another artwork within the broader project⁴⁶.

These printed images, alongside the sound piece, live performance, and textual installation, demonstrate how the same material can be experienced through different modes, further amplifying the concept of the unrepeating-repeat. Through this multi-format presentation, the work layers meaning and perspective, transforming a seemingly single printed source into a dynamic and iterative encounter.

Re-installing or Re-staging the Work

Several works, such as "Manhole", "Gape", and "Old Lady" (RN2) and "Her Words, My Voice" (RN5), demonstrate the unrepeating-repeat by combining consistent elements with components that evolve or adapt in each new exhibition or performance. In both "Gape" and "Manhole", a mounted pencil drawing on Mylar serves as a constant, anchoring each work with a fixed, unchanging element. This mounted component acts as a point of reference, offering continuity across different installations. However, each piece also incorporates a site-specific wall drawing that brings the lace diagram to life on a monumental scale. These wall drawings are re-created in situ for each venue, introducing variations in scale, placement, and spatial relationships that respond to the architectural features of the space. As a result, while the mounted drawing remains unchanged, the overall visual outcome shifts dramatically with each re-installation.

In "Ghost Heirloom: Blackburn Rug/Maier Wallpaper" (Figure 10, RN5, VS pp. 123-153), the installation changes weekly, exemplifying the unrepeating-repeat. During the exhibition, the 12 double-sided drawings are rearranged each week, with their configurations shifting between front and back sides allowing new juxtapositions to emerge. This weekly transformation of the work actively engages the viewer in an ever-changing relationship with the material. While the drawings themselves remain unchanged, their placement and context alter the way they are experienced, emphasising the fluidity and ongoing evolution inherent in

⁴⁶ But is not part of this Ph.D.

the unrepeating-repeat. Whereas the piece "Her Words, My Voice" (Figure 17, Figure 26, VS pp. 116-122) pairs a fold-out text-based edition of 200 with larger immersive presentations. While the textual fragments remain ostensibly the same, the work's format—whether a live reading, sound piece, or spatial installation—transforms its impact. Each iteration offers a fresh perspective on the same material, shifting between intimate and expansive modes of engagement while retaining the core structure of the work.

By re-contextualising the works in new spaces and formats, the interplay between fixed and evolving elements amplifies the unrepeating-repeat. Stable components serve as touchstones, while changing conditions reshape the material's presentation, creating a dialogue between consistency and transformation.



Figure 27. "Various Iterative un, re, peat(s)", 2023, 24 cm x 17 cm, three out of six drawings found in the chapter "The Unrepeating-Repeat".

Conclusion

In conclusion, the creative works presented in this Ph.D. are intricately bound by the process of the unrepeating-repeat, which serves as a method and an active mechanism for intertwining intersemiotic translation and to enable aspect seeing. The unrepeating-repeat creates an evolving interplay between these modes, positioning repetition as a non-static force that enables new modes of perception. By disrupting what might seem familiar, the method allows audiences to engage in embodied experiences that reveal multiple facets of understanding, perception, and narrative. Through this practice, the unrepeating-repeat disrupts conventional repetition to invite further exploration. By creating a framework in which subtle variations prompt the viewer to reconsider and 're-see', this approach becomes an invitation to encounter each work anew, ultimately encouraging embodied, sustained engagement, which enables shifts in perspectives. The performative and evolving nature of these works cultivates an active relationship with the viewer, one that is rooted in the nuances of handmade repetition and the tactile sensibilities of textile processes.

The integration of intersemiotic translation within the framework of the unrepeating-repeat enriches the work. Through translation across textiles, drawing, and text, the creative works resist linear interpretation and encourage a continuous shifting of perspectives between the modes. Textiles' inherent cultural and historical connotations are translated across media, creating a hybrid form that amplifies meaning, positioning each piece within an evolving dialogue.

The enaction of aspect seeing is vital within the works, fostering an embodied experience that allows shifting perspectives for the viewer. Each subtle change within the repeated patterns be it in drawn lines, words within, or the translation from textile to drawing—triggers a reconsideration, an aspect shift that invites the audience to perceive the works from a multiperspective standpoint. Through the unrepeating-repeat, this intertwinement of the three core themes establishes a unique lens that guides the creative process and audience interaction, encouraging a multidimensional and evolving perception of the work.

Chapter 5: Contributions and Conclusion

Aims and Research Questions

The primary focus of the creative works for this Ph.D. was to explore how the creation and performative exploration of hand-drawn repetition, inspired by historical textile processes and realised through intersemiotic translation into varied media, can foster embodied audience experiences that reveal multiple aspects of perception, understanding, and narrative. Central to this research is the integration of three core methods—intersemiotic translation, aspect seeing, and the unrepeating-repeat. Together, these approaches form a framework for disrupting conventional repetition, enabling perceptual shifts, and engaging audiences in multifaceted understandings of artistic works. To summarise the overarching research question underpinning this study: how can these methods, rooted in textile processes, be transformed through artistic practice to foster dynamic and participatory engagement? Through this inquiry, the research positions creative processes as tools for activating embodied and perceptual interaction, prompting audiences to navigate and shift between past and present, material and narrative, and visual and textual forms.

Overview of Chapters

Chapter 1: Introduction

Chapter 1 focused on introducing the three core elements that form the foundation of this Ph.D.—intersemiotic translation, aspect seeing, and the unrepeating-repeat. These elements are deeply interconnected and serve as the cornerstone of the practice research. Intersemiotic translation, grounded in Jakobson's theory, facilitates the movement between the different semiotic systems of textiles, drawing, and text. This process enables meaning to shift across media, encouraging the viewer to engage with the work in varied ways. Within the creative works it provides a fluid platform for aspect seeing, Wittgenstein's concept of perceiving multiple perspectives within a single entity. As meaning shifts across these different systems, aspect seeing prompts the viewer to adjust their perception, uncovering new details and multiple readings of the same image or object.

The artist's method of the unrepeating-repeat acts as the vehicle through which these shifts are activated. By incorporating subtle variations within seemingly repetitive patterns, it disrupts conventional repetition, fostering a dynamic engagement. Each repetition, marked by variation, invites the viewer to reassess their initial assumptions, encouraging a process of discovery. The unrepeating-repeat directly enables aspect seeing by creating the conditions for shifts in perception, while intersemiotic translation enhances the experience by allowing the viewer to engage with the work through shifting media. Together, these elements form a cohesive, non-hierarchical framework that challenges traditional boundaries between the fields of fine art, textiles, and language. The interconnectedness of these elements offers a novel approach to art practice, highlighting how repetition, perception, and translation can be used as tools for revealing new perspectives and understandings.

Chapter 2: Methodology and Methods

Chapter 2 outlines the methodology for this retrospective "Ph.D. by Creative Works", combining practice-based research, performative research, and a rhizomatic approach. Six bodies of artwork serve as both the site and method of inquiry, with the practice-based aspect emphasising the knowledge that emerges from engaging directly with the creative works. Performative research highlights the embodied nature of practice, while the rhizomatic approach offers a non-hierarchical model of knowledge with interconnected pathways. Methods such as intersemiotic translation bridge textile processes, drawing, and text, while drawing and writing transform words into visual elements. Site-specificity ensures that each work interacts with its physical and conceptual space, fostering a dynamic, embodied exploration of themes.

Chapter 3: Frameworks and Influences: Textile Processes, Translation, and Shifting Perspective in Contemporary Art

This chapter examines how contemporary artists engage textiles in ways that expand their material and conceptual boundaries, offering insights into how repetition, intersemiotic translation, and shifting perspectives intersect in creative practices. The first section highlights how artist's approach to sound, digital technologies, and painting challenge traditional notions of textiles by translating them across media. These practices resonate with my work,

particularly in their use of translation, however my research diverges by using intersemiotic translation as a deliberate method to foster perceptual shifts through subtle variations in repetition, linking textiles to drawing and text. In contrast, the second section explores artists whose use of decorative patterns in site-specific installations engages with domesticity, cultural critique, and sensory experience. While these artists blur boundaries between fine art and the everyday, my approach integrates the unrepeating-repeat to explicitly invite shifting perspectives through iterative changes within familiar patterns, offering an embodied experience that moves beyond the visual.

The third section focuses on how artists apply textiles through collaborative, process-driven practices that emphasise materiality and performative engagement. My research intersects with this exploration of materiality, but I expand on these practices by employing intersemiotic translation as a means to integrate multiple semiotic forms, activating dynamic, non-linear dialogues. The final section examines artists who reframe textiles as tools for cultural and political critique. Their use of repetition and variation aligns with my research, yet my focus on the unrepeating-repeat to enable aspect seeing explicitly invites multiple facets of meaning, fostering a more nuanced engagement with historical and contemporary contexts.

Together, the artists discussed in Chapter 3 provide a critical framework to build on, while my work distinguishes itself by integrating intersemiotic translation within the unrepeating-repeat to invite aspect seeing, in order to position textiles as an evolving, dynamic form that invites complex, shifting perspectives across media.

Chapter 4: Critical Discourse: Intersemiotic Translation, Aspect Seeing, and The Unrepeatingrepeat

Chapter 4 examines the critical discourse surrounding the three individual elements constructing the framework of the golden thread, exploring how these three key elements—intersemiotic translation, aspect seeing, and the unrepeating-repeat—interweave within the creative works. The chapter highlights the significance of the interconnection within the golden thread, emphasizing that the unrepeating-repeat is constructed through and shaped by the intersemiotic translation process. Together, they invite aspect seeing, with each mode offering distinct facets that contribute to the viewer's shifting perception.

The first section on intersemiotic translation demonstrates how the creative works advance the discourse on textiles and fine art by positioning intersemiotic translation as a transformative and dynamic process. By building on Roman Jakobson's foundational ideas and integrating experimental and ludic frameworks (Campbell and Vidal, 2018; Lee, 2022), it reimagines intersemiotic translation as a material-led, process-based method that transcends traditional linguistic boundaries. Through iterative translations across textiles, drawing, and text, the creative works dynamically reinterpret historical artefacts and processes, enabling new material, conceptual, and semiotic relationships. The triangulation of the golden thread enriches these relationships, situating the creative works as active sites for shifting perspectives and expanding the boundaries of both textiles and fine art.

The following section on aspect seeing highlights its central role in the creative practice, facilitating discovery and re-evaluation by encouraging shifts in perception. Embedded within the creative works, aspect seeing invites viewers into a dialogic space where attentive engagement uncovers meaning beyond initial impressions. Aspect seeing is invited through and embedded within the unrepeating-repeat and intersemiotic translation, transforming familiar forms into evolving conceptual artworks that bridge text, textile, and drawing. This interplay promotes a nuanced understanding, offering an embodied experience that fosters empathy, ethical reflection, and further engagement with diverse perspectives, both within and beyond the artwork.

The final section highlights the unrepeating-repeat as a foundational artistic method that integrates intersemiotic translation and aspect seeing to transform repetition into a dynamic process of discovery. By embedding subtle variations within repeated forms, the unrepeating-repeat disrupts familiarity, inviting viewers to engage in embodied, sustained exploration and shifting perspectives.

Adjacent Documents: CREATIVE works, pt.1: Visual Submission and pt.2: Research Narratives

An integral part of this Ph.D. is the documentation of the creative works which is found in two accompanying documents. The **Visual Submission** holds the documentation of the site-specific works, artefacts, texts, and performances, providing visual evidence of the creative works as presented in exhibitions, venues, and publications. This document captures the installation and presentation of the works across various contexts. The **Research Narratives** serve as a written

companion to the visual submission. They offer critical explanations, project details and overviews, and insights into the studio development of the works, presented in the form of six narratives. These narratives provide an illumination of the creative process.

Contributions to Knowledge

This Ph.D. makes specific contributions to the fields of textiles and fine art by integrating intersemiotic translation, aspect seeing, and the unrepeating-repeat into a cohesive framework crossing between these areas through translation processes. These contributions address areas of limited theoretical and methodological discourse specifically of textiles through translation. The following sections outline this contribution:

Advancing the Discourse on Textiles through Intersemiotic Translation

This research expands Jakobson's concept of intersemiotic translation, as further developed by translation scholars such as Campbell, Vidal, and Tong. The research highlights the potential of textile-based practices to be examined through intersemiotic translation—a focus that remains underexplored, despite the widespread interdisciplinary discussions surrounding textiles. As evidenced by recent discussions in the "TEXTILE Journal", (as discussed in Chapter 4, pp. 69, 92) scholarly attention has often prioritised the material, cultural, and technical aspects of textiles while underrepresenting their potential as active agents of translation between semiotic systems.

By engaging with textile objects and processes through the mode of translation through practice, the research highlights their capacity to act as intermedia forms, bridging disciplines and expanding their cultural and artistic significance. For example, in "Re:dRawing", damask fabric patterns are reinterpreted as drawings through text, inviting audiences to engage with the interplay between their woven origins and transformed contemporary outputs. This process reveals the potential of textiles to create new meanings across semiotic systems while retaining their material and historical resonance.

While intersemiotic translation has been explored in other contexts, its deliberate application to textile-based practices specifically in combination with variant repeats, and aspect seeing presents a novel contribution. By embedding translation processes into the creative practice, this research expands the role of textiles within fine art, demonstrating their capacity to generate fluid, evolving dialogues across media. It offers a focused framework for understanding textile processes as transformative carriers of meaning and a foundation for further exploration of its role in expanded translation and interdisciplinary art practices.

A Unique Triangulation in a Contemporary Art Practice: Intersemiotic Translation, Aspect Seeing, and the Unrepeating-repeat

The creative works of this Ph.D. integrates three key concepts within a single practice-based framework, offering a distinctive contribution. While these methods have been individually explored through other artistic practices as discussed within the contextual review (from p. 26), their deliberate and interwoven application within this practice research adds a new dimension to understanding how embodied shifts of understanding can be fostered. Together, these three methods form a cohesive and interactive process, creating opportunities for nuanced engagement and evolving interpretations. The unrepeating-repeat fosters attentive exploration; aspect seeing activates shifts in perception; and intersemiotic translation expands meaning across modes. This integrated approach transforms the audience's experience into an active, participatory process, offering a novel contribution to understanding how artistic frameworks can foster embodied discovery and evolving interpretation.

The Unrepeating-repeat as an Artistic Framework

The unrepeating-repeat is a distinct artistic method that specifically invites shifting perspectives and perceptual engagement. Developed through practice-based research, it is a practical method that demonstrates how subtle, iterative changes within a repeated form activate new ways of seeing and understanding. The unique position of the unrepeating-repeat is its ability to enable aspect seeing. Through aspect seeing, the unrepeating-repeat functions as a perceptual device, prompting shifts in awareness that allow multiple interpretations of an image, text, or material to coexist. This process of perceptual engagement aligns with Wittgenstein's notion of seeing-as, where the recognition of alternative views fosters an expanded understanding of the work.

The unrepeating-repeat advances audience engagement and perceptual attention by encouraging a non-linear, multifaceted experience of artistic works. It fosters sustained engagement, where audiences are encouraged to return, look again, and reconsider their initial interpretations. By foregrounding slowness and attention, the unrepeating-repeat contributes to current discussions in contemporary art and pedagogy regarding the role of slow looking and deep engagement in fostering critical and embodied perception. As a framework, the unrepeating-repeat contributes to knowledge by offering a practical artistic approach to repetition as a site of variation and discovery. It proposes that repetition, when infused with subtle variation, can serve as a perceptual and conceptual tool for shifting perspectives.

Impact and Implications

Expanding the Discourse on Textiles through Intersemiotic Translation

A key theoretical contribution of this research lies in its practice-based exploration of textiles, specifically through the lens of an expanded process of intersemiotic translation. While textiles have often been discussed and explored through broader interdisciplinary frameworks, their exploration specifically through intersemiotic translation has been less developed. This research places intersemiotic translation at the core of its exploration, providing a focused investigation into its potential within textiles.

The research integrates textiles into the broader discourse of fine art and foregrounds their potential to foster nuanced, interdisciplinary dialogue within the field of experimental translation. By treating intersemiotic translation as a central, deliberate method, the research demonstrates how textiles can act as carriers of meaning, bridging boundaries between drawing, text, and material processes. This contribution broadens the interpretive possibilities of textiles, offering a focused framework that invites contemporary reimagining's of its role within fine art practices and experimental translation studies. Through this, the research expands the limited theoretical discussion of textiles within intersemiotic translation.

Practical Applications and Interdisciplinary Potential

The primary impact of this research lies in its methodological contributions, particularly the integration of the unrepeating-repeat and intersemiotic translation as tools for fostering aspect seeing for audiences. These methods encourage a thoughtful interplay between familiarity and disruption, enabling viewers to move beyond initial perceptions and uncover

meanings. This approach offers practitioners a practical framework to create works that invite attention and perceptual shifts, actively engaging audiences in their interpretive process. Intersemiotic translation, as applied here, demonstrates how textiles can bridge disciplinary boundaries, linking drawing, text, and material processes. This interdisciplinary approach extends the possibilities for artists, curators, and researchers, suggesting new ways to reimagine historical textile artefacts and create hybrid forms that transform conventional patterns of meaning-making. By positioning textiles as a site of exploration across media, the research broadens its cultural and artistic relevance while contributing tools for interdisciplinary dialogue and experimentation.

Acknowledging Limitations and Future Directions

Building on the contributions outlined earlier, this section considers the limitations inherent in the research while identifying potential avenues for further exploration. This research is rooted in six bodies of work by a single artist, and while these provide a focused and cohesive foundation, applying the triangulated framework of the golden thread to other artists' practices could yield different insights and outcomes. Although this singular perspective may be seen as a limitation, it underscores the uniqueness of the work as a deeply personal and distinctive exploration, offering valuable insights through its individualised lens. Further engagement with theorists, material scientists, or translation practitioners could enrich the understanding of how intersemiotic translation bridges textiles with narrative, material culture, and fine art, thus broadening its relevance and adding depth to the discourse.

Additionally, future studies could further the understanding of audience engagement with the work by gathering empirical data on how diverse audiences experience and interpret perceptual shifts. Participatory studies across various cultural settings could explore how personal history, cultural background, and sensory engagement shape the experience of intersemiotic translation and perceptual shifts, further expanding the relevance and application of the triangulated framework to engage aspect seeing.

Furthermore, the emphasis on hand-drawn and handmade processes may limit the applicability of these findings to digital methods. Future research could explore the integration of digital tools and technologies, such as augmented reality, algorithmic design, and virtual installations, extending the golden thread into contemporary media. These limitations and

137

potential future directions highlight the ongoing and evolving nature of this research, offering a foundation for continued exploration and dialogue across disciplines.

\approx

Postscript: An Invitation to See

The creative works explored in this Ph.D. embody a deliberate invitation to slow down, look carefully, and remain curious. The process of making these works mirrored this invitation—through the slow meditative acts of translating textile processes, drawing lines as words, intertwining images and text, creating space for further understanding and perceptual shifts. Labour and time were devoted to engaging with the historical starting points, transforming them into newly created artworks.

This excerpt from a poetic translation of Katsushika Hokusai's paintings serves as a meaningful parallel for understanding or experiencing my own work. Roger Keyes, a scholar of Japanese art history, crafted this poetic translation of Hokusai's paintings:

Hokusai says look carefully. He says pay attention, notice. He says keep looking, stay curious. He says there is no end to seeing. [...] (Keyes 1990, lines 1-4)⁴⁷

Much like Hokusai's⁴⁸ invitation, the creative works of this research ask viewers to engage deeply and to attend closely to the interplay between materials, narratives, and forms. The creative work of this Ph.D. is quiet and subtle, encouraging a contemplative engagement with its nuanced elements. Through the slow looking encouraged by the unrepeating-repeat,

⁴⁷ The poem "Hokusai Says" is an intersemiotic translation of Hokusai's artwork by specialist Roger Keyes. The poem is widely available on various online platforms; however, specific references to its origin are scarce. It was briefly mentioned in an interview with Keyes, published in "Impressions: The Journal of the Japanese Art Society of America" (2020), with a location reference to Venice, 1990. Additionally, the interview notes Keyes as a "Guest Researcher in the Japanese Section of the British Museum" since 2010 (Keyes and Clark 2020, p. 71).

⁴⁸ Katsushika Hokusai (1760–1849) was a renowned Japanese artist and printmaker, celebrated for his contributions to the *ukiyo-e* genre of woodblock printing. His most iconic work, "The Great Wave off Kanagawa", is part of the "Thirty-Six Views of Mount Fuji" series (c. 1830–1833), which explores Japan's landscapes with a focus on Mount Fuji. Known for his innovative integration of Japanese and Western artistic techniques, Hokusai's works span a wide range of themes, including nature, daily life, mythology, and spirituality. His legacy significantly influenced both Japanese art and Western movements like Impressionism and Japonisme, highlighting his global impact on the arts.

audiences are invited to experience the artworks as spaces of curiosity and discovery. This postscript reflects the essence of the creative work as an ongoing dialogue between seeing, understanding, and finding new possibilities within the familiar.

Reference Section

Acronyms

- FWM Fabric Workshop and Museum
 NTU Nottingham Trent University
 RN Research Narrative
 TRC Tennyson Research Centre
- VS Visual Submission

Glossary

Asemic writing: is a form of written or textual communication that lacks specific semantic content or recognisable linguistic symbols. Instead, it consists of abstract or non-representational marks, strokes, and symbols that may resemble writing but do not convey any clear, decipherable meaning in a traditional linguistic sense. Asemic writing is open to interpretation and invites viewers to derive their own meaning or emotional response from the visual composition of the symbols and marks. It blurs the line between drawing, art, and written language, challenging conventional notions of communication and meaning in written forms (Schwenger 2019).

Archive: A place or collection containing records, documents, or other materials of historical interest (Oxford English Dictionary Online 2020). While it may typically be used for locations that hold paper or other documents, here, this term encompasses any location that houses and contains documents or materials of historical interest.

Aspect change: This is the term used by Tine Melzer and Tobias Servaas. They define aspect change as "synonymous with the practice of aspect-seeing and aspectual thinking, can happen as a sudden shift, or as a gradual process of shifting between interpretations or perceptions." (Melzer and Servaas 2020, p. 125-126).

Aspect seeing / "Seeing as" / "Noticing an Aspect": The term "aspect seeing" is associated with the philosopher Ludwig Wittgenstein in Philosophical Investigation (PI). However, this specific phrasing does not directly appear in the publication. Indeed, within PI, Wittgenstein

uses various terms and phrases such as "seeing as" or "noticing an aspect" but is more generally known as either 'aspect seeing' or 'aspect perspective'. For consistency and clarity, I have used the term 'Aspect Seeing' throughout. All these terms refer to the phenomenon where a single object or arrangement can be perceived and understood in multiple ways or perspectives. It emphasises that individuals can shift their perception, leading to distinct interpretations or "aspects" of the same entity. This concept underscores the subjective nature of perception and highlights how the same stimulus can evoke varying understandings depending on the observer's viewpoint. Wittgenstein used this idea to explore the complexity of language, meaning, and how our perceptions shape our understanding of the world (Wittgenstein 1953/2010).

Calligram: A visual representation of words or texts in which the arrangement of the words forms a shape related to the content of the text. They are a type of visual poetry that combines the visual and textual aspects of communication. Calligrams can be creative and artistic expressions that use typography and layout to convey meaning and engage the viewer in a unique way (Oxford English Dictionary Online 2020). To Note: while calligrams may have some resonance with the Creative Works of this Ph.D., this is <u>not</u> how the creative works use text in drawings.

Collaborative independence: Taken from sociology, collaborative independence gives a "balance between giving priority to [ones] personal interests and considering shared interests." (Thagaard and Stefansen 2014, p. 21). Collaborative independence gives equal consideration and respect for both the individual and the couple/collective. It is a concept that emphasises the synergy between collaboration and individual autonomy and refers to a dynamic where individuals or entities work cooperatively and interconnectedly while maintaining their independence and individual identities.

Exegesis: Defined as "a critical discourse or commentary" (Oxford English Dictionary Online 2020). Exegesis is commonly used within Ph.D. by Published, Established and Creative works (Peacock 2017; Arnold 2005). I use the term exegeses to distinguish or describe the critical discourse of the overall submission for Ph.D., which sits alongside the creative works that form a significant part of the overall submission.

Golden thread: This is the "coherent theme [... or] nub of the thinking that weaves through your work and which you must make sure you elucidate in your synthesis – a fantastic term coined by Sally Brown" (Smith 2015, p. 4).

Hyperphantasia: Is having extremely vivid mental imagery, which is described as mental pictures that are as vivid as seeing the real thing. There is still limited research nor a full understanding of this condition and how far-reaching it is. It is often defined as the opposite of the condition of aphantasia – where mental visualisation is not present within one's 'mind's eye' 'Hyperphantasia' 2023).

Intersemiotic translation: An idea developed by Roman Jakobson (2013) and further extended by Madeleine Campbell and Ricarda Vidal (2018) as "involve[ing] a creative step in which the translator (artist or performer) offers [the source artefacts] embodiment in a different medium. This process is facilitated by perceiving and experiencing non-verbal media through visual, auditory and other sensory channels, for example, through dance or sculpture" (Campbell and Vidal 2018, p. xxvi). Unlike traditional linguistic translation, which deals with language-to-language conversion, intersemiotic translation involves transferring meaning and elements from one mode of expression to another, often crossing boundaries between different art forms or mediums. I adopted this principle to explore the exchange between fine art and textile processes, which forms one focus of the Ph.D. submission.

Intertextuality: This refers to the relationship between different texts and how they influence or reference each other. It's the idea that no text exists in isolation, and all texts are connected to and influenced by other texts that came before them. Intertextuality can manifest in various forms, such as direct references, allusions, parodies, or subtle nods to other works. Intertextuality enriches a text's meaning by drawing on the shared cultural knowledge and context created by previous works (Orr 2003).

Jog line: In repeat printing, a "jog line" is the edge of the repeat on the initial design used for printing. This edge can often have a non-linear or irregular form. The jog line is essential because the irregularity enables the repeated print edges not to be apparent once the printing is finished. It acts as a guide during the printing process to ensure that the non-linear edge aligns correctly in each repeat, preventing misalignment or inconsistency issues in the final printed output.

Liberal Arts: "Liberal Arts is a field of study based on rational thinking, and it includes the areas of humanities, social and physical sciences, and mathematics. A liberal arts education emphasises the development of critical thinking and analytical skills, the ability to solve complex problems, and an understanding of ethics and morality, as well as a desire to continue to learn." (Perkins 2019, para. 1). "A liberal arts education introduces students to a range of disciplines that can later be used to understand issues and problems. [...] more significantly, the liberal arts offer a profound approach to learning and even to life. For much of history and in most of the world today, higher education is based on a philosophy that emphasises deep but potentially narrow learning. Undergraduates are typically educated in a single subject or discipline with the goal of training them to be experts in that area. The liberal arts model is based on a different philosophy, emphasising breadth over depth. While students study a major subject, they are encouraged, and in some cases required, to take half or more of their coursework outside their major discipline. " (Clark 2023, para, 2).

Ludic translation: A form of translation that incorporates playfulness and game-like elements. It can involve creative and unconventional approaches to translation, often emphasising the enjoyment and exploration of language and cultural nuances. Ludic translation may prioritise artistic expression, wordplay, and the creation of new meanings, departing from strict fidelity to the source text. It's a concept that aligns with the idea that translation can be a creative and playful endeavour rather than a purely technical or literal one (Lee 2022).

Parallel play: This is part of the early development stage, typically between 1-3 years of age, when young children can begin to play near each other but not with each other. While the children are not interacting directly, much learning and development occurs from witnessing and imitating each other (Parten 1932).

Performative research: Is expressed in non-numeric data instead of in forms of symbolic data other than words in discursive text. These include material forms of practice, still and moving images, music and sound, live action and digital code. This is related to J.L. Austin's concept of the 'performative' speech (1962) to frame the notion of 'performative research' (Haseman 2006). In this context, 'performative' refers to utterances that, through their enunciation, produce effects and actions. Austin's famous example of saying 'I do' during wedding vows illustrates how the act of speaking itself becomes the action performed (Austin 1962).
Pluralism: Emphasises the coexistence and acceptance of diverse viewpoints, beliefs, and cultural practices within a society or context. It promotes the idea that differences are not only inevitable but also valuable, contributing to the richness and complexity of a community. Pluralism encourages open dialogue, mutual respect, and the recognition that no single "correct" way of thinking or living exists.

Practice research: Is an umbrella term that describes all manners of research where practice is the significant research method conveyed in a research output. This includes numerous discipline-specific formulations, which have distinct and unique balances of practice, research narrative and complementary methods within their projects (Bulley and Sahin 2021).

Practice-based research: As articulated in the recent release of "The Routledge International Handbook of Practice-Based Research", it is a method characterised by a principled approach to research by means of practice in which the research and the practice operate as interdependent and complementary processes leading to new and original forms of knowledge. This definition highlights the four main principles: 1) Practice and research are complementary but distinctive; 2) The research is based within a world-of-concern defined by practice; 3) The practitioner-researcher is at the centre of the research; 4) The research aim is to generate new knowledge. While practice-based research shares many traits with all forms of research, some core features distinguish it. These are: the centrality of practice to the research, the role of artefacts in research, and the forms of knowledge that arise from it. As a methodology, practice-based research is characterised by practitioner researcher-designed strategies that determine the methods, tools, and techniques to be used that draw upon or observe practice, such as the documentation of reflection (Candy, Edmonds, and Vear 2021).

Rhizomatic: The term "rhizomatic" originates from the field of philosophy and was popularised by the French philosophers Gilles Deleuze and Félix Guattari in their work "A Thousand Plateaus: Capitalism and Schizophrenia", published in 1980. In the context of their philosophy, "rhizomatic" refers to a way of thinking and organising knowledge that contrasts with traditional hierarchical and linear structures. "Rhizomatic" refers to a mode of thought and organisation that prioritises decentralisation, interconnectedness, and multiplicity, challenging more traditional linear and hierarchical ways of understanding and structuring information and knowledge (Deleuze and Guattari 1980). This concept has been applied in various fields, including philosophy, sociology, education, and information technology. **Site-specific:** This mode of artistic output transcends conventional boundaries by deeply intertwining the artwork with its physical, cultural, or institutional context. It revolves around the notion that the attributes of a specific location serve as a foundation, shaping the artwork's form, content, and meaning. This approach emphasises the dynamic relationship between the artwork and its settings, ultimately creating an immersive and context-specific experience for viewers. Unlike art forms that prioritise the autonomy of the art object, site-specific installations shift the spotlight from the creator to the audience. These artworks invite viewers to engage with the piece within the context of the site, encouraging them to explore their physical movements and responses as integral components of the overall experience. Site-specific installations are inherently performative, forging a reciprocal relationship between the artwork and the site. They challenge conventional artistic practices, prompting critical reflections on the intricate interplay between art, space, and the viewer. Whether permanent or temporary, these installations have the capacity to reveal the underlying mechanisms of the art system, fostering critical discourse (Kaye 2013; Scholte 2022; Meyer 2000).

Thesis: Is the 'full' submission for the award for a degree (Ph.D. in the case). This encompasses the artistic practice itself, publications that serve as evidence of the practice, an online journal article, and the exegesis. When I use the term 'thesis' within this exegesis, I am referring to the complete submission required to achieve the Ph.D. qualification. I maintain that this thesis is the overall submission (artworks *and* exegesis) supporting an academic degree (or similar) that presents the author's research and findings.

Transdisciplinary: Transdisciplinary describes an approach that transcends traditional academic boundaries, encouraging collaboration among experts from different fields to address complex real-world problems. It emphasises integrating knowledge, methods, and perspectives from various disciplines, breaking down boundaries, and focusing on practical problem-solving. This approach values the contextual understanding of issues, promotes systems thinking, and fosters a multidirectional flow of knowledge among participants, making it particularly valuable for tackling multifaceted challenges that require diverse expertise and a holistic understanding of complex systems (Hammond and Wellington 2020).

Unrepeating-repeat: "A regular recurrence that contains variations and difference. It is found in configurations that seemingly repeat but include deviations or differences at some point within or throughout the recurrence. The unrepeating-repeat is a term I developed to describe

what could also be named as an iterative variant: 'the repetition of a process or utterance' including 'a form or version of something that differs in some respect from other forms of the same thing or from a standard.' It can be found conceptually and/or practically within objects, images, and patterns; actions, sounds, and music; histories, cycles of life, and beyond." (Maier 2023, p. 76).

Figure List

Figure 1. "Nest: Blue Tit", 2014, 18 cm x 18 cm pencil drawings on Mylar mounted on Aluminium, within larger 5 m
x 10 m wall drawing titled "Nest: Pigeonhole", at The Collection Museum, Lincoln. Photo credit: Andrew
WEEKES
FIGURE 2. VISUALISATION ILLUSTRATING THE INTERRELATED TRIANGULATION OF THE THREE CORE FOCI OF THIS THESIS
FIGURE 3. DEVELOP OF DRAWINGS FROM HISTORICAL TEXTILES IN A TEMPORARY STUDIO WITHIN THE ART STORE AT THE COLLECTION
Museum, Lincoln, in February 2014. Photo Credit: Danica Maier
FIGURE 4. "SKEIN: DAM CUNT", 2014, DETAIL OF 20 CM x 15 CM DRAWING ON MYLAR MOUNTED ONTO ALUMINIUM. PHOTO
CREDIT: DAVID ROWEN
FIGURE 5. JACOBEAN BEDSPREAD, LCNUG:1927/30, 236 CM x 188 CM, PART OF THE COLLECTION MUSEUM'S TEXTILE
COLLECTION. JACOBEAN EMBROIDERED BEDSPREAD, ORNATELY DECORATED WITH MERL STITCHING – INTERTWINING BRANCHES
and foliage with birds perched on and picking fruit from the boughs. It was heavily restored in $1874.$ Photo
CREDIT: DAVID ROWEN
Figure 6. Details of the repeated elements within the pattern of the Jacobean Bedspread, Photo credit: David
Rowen
Figure 7. "Happy Hunting Ground: Stag" (2014), 180 x 180 cm, pencil on loose Mylar. (right and middle image)
PHOTO CREDIT: ANDREW WEEKES. SHOWN ON THE LEFT IS THE ORIGINAL CROSSED STITCHED DETAIL FROM THE HISTORICAL
sampler LCNUG: 1983/10, (1865) Sarah Scholey, part of the Usher Gallery archive. Photo credit: David
Rowen
FIGURE 8. "BLUE TIT" ON "PIGEONHOLE" AS PART OF THE INSTALLATION "NEST" (2014), AT THE COLLECTION MUSEUM, 25 x 25
CM DRAWING ON MYLAR MOUNTED ONTO ALUMINIUM. PHOTO CREDIT: ANDREW WEEKES
Figure 9. "Score: Mechanical Asynchronicity" (2019) at Nottingham Contemporary, Photo credit: Christopher
Leedham
FIGURE 10. "GHOST HEIRLOOM: BLACKBURN RUG/MAIER WALLPAPER", DETAILS OF BLACKBURN RUG SIDE. PHOTO CREDIT: REECE
Straw
FIGURE 11. PAGE XI FROM LUDWIG WITTGENSTEIN'S, 1953 POSTHUMOUS PUBLICATION, PHILOSOPHICAL INVESTIGATION II94
FIGURE 12. "KANINCHEN UND ENTE" ("RABBIT AND DUCK") FROM THE 23 OCTOBER 1892 ISSUE OF FLIEGENDE BLÄTTER.
Illustrator unknown
FIGURE 13. "NEST: PIGEONHOLE", DETAIL AS VIEWED UP CLOSE. PHOTO CREDIT: ANDREW WEEKES
FIGURE 14. "MANHOLE", 2018, 6.5 M X 3 M, EMULSION WALL PAINT WITH 34.5 CM X 100 CM PENCIL DRAWING ON MYLAR
mounted on aluminium. During the exhibition "Bummock: The Lace Archive" at Backlit Gallery, Nottingham.
Photo credit: Ellen Brady
FIGURE 15. "DAMASK: LOOM", 2019, 84 CM x 28 CM, SITE-SPECIFIC DRAWINGS WITHIN THE "NO TELOS!" PUBLICATION AS PART OF
my chapter titled "Re:dRawing". "Damask: Loom" is a four-page drawing with French folds (shown here in
BLUE/PINK COLOURWAY AND CENTRAL JOG LINE FORMAT)
FIGURE 16. SHOWING THE FRENCH FOLDS AND REVERSE OF "DAMASK: LOOM". ADDITIONALLY, EACH IMAGE HERE EVIDENCE'S THE
DIVERSE VERSIONS OR COLOURS WAYS FOUND IN DIFFERENT BOOKS, PHOTO CREDIT: DANICA MAIER

FIGURE 17. "HER WORDS, MY VOICE", 15 JANUARY 2022, 34 CM X 12 CM OR 34 CM X 126 CM FULL LENGTH, A PRINTED OBJECT
USED FOR LIVE READING. PHOTO CREDIT: FINLAY MAIER
FIGURE 18. REVERSE SIDE OF "HER WORDS, MY VOICE" (2020), 12 CM OR 34 CM X 126 CM – SHOWING THE THREE DIFFERENT
IMAGES OF PETIT POINT FRAGMENTS. THE PIECE IS AN EDITION OF 200, WITH EACH OF THE ABOVE IMAGES FEATURED ON ONE-
THIRD OF THE PRINTED RUN
Figure 19. "Nest" 10m x 5m, at The Collection Museum, 2014-2015, Photo credit: Andrew Weekes117
FIGURE 20. "DAMASK: LOOM". CELEBRATING THE JOG LINE OF THE REPEATED PATTERN AS SEEN ON THE RIGHT (VS PP. 108-019).
FIGURE 21. "Skein", 2014, 6.5 m x 2.5 m, drawings and historical samplers, The Collection Museum, Lincoln. Photo
CREDIT: ANDREW WEEKES
FIGURE 22. "VARIOUS ITERATIVE UN, RE, PEAT(S)", 2023, DETAIL OF PAGE 87. ONE OF SIX DRAWINGS FROM THE CHAPTER "THE
UNREPEATING-REPEAT"
Figure 23. The same bird found in three different drawings (details shown) in the exhibition "Stitch & Peacock",
2014. DRAWING TITLES FROM LEFT TO RIGHT: "SKEIN: SNATCHEL", "NEST: BLUE TIT", AND "NEST: PIGEON HOLE"
Figure 24. "Score: Mechanical Asynchronicity", 28 January 2022, Sir Jack Lyons Concert Hall, Photo credit:
Christopher Leedham
FIGURE 25. Showing three versions PP. 27-28 of "Damask: Loom" in "No Telos!". Photo credit: Danica Maier 126
FIGURE 26. "HER WORDS, MY VOICE", 2022, INSTALLATION AT THE COLLECTION MUSEUM DURING THE THREE-PERSON EXHIBITION
"BUMMOCK: TENNYSON RESEARCH CENTRE". PHOTO CREDIT: REECE STRAW
FIGURE 27. "VARIOUS ITERATIVE UN, RE, PEAT(S)", 2023, 24 CM x 17 CM, THREE OUT OF SIX DRAWINGS FOUND IN THE CHAPTER
"The Unrepeating-Repeat"

Bibliography

- Ades, Thomas, and Tom Service. 2012. *Thomas Ades: Full of Noises: Conversations with Tom Service*. London: Faber and Faber. http://www.myilibrary.com?id=854892.
- Aktulum, Kubilay. 2017. 'What Is Intersemiotics? A Short Definition and Some Examples'. International Journal of Social Science and Humanity 7 (1). IACSIT Press: 33.
- Arlander, Annette. 2012. 'Performing Landscape as Autotopographical Exercise'. *Contemporary Theatre Review* 22 (2). Taylor & Francis: 251–58.
- Arlander, Annette, Paulo de Assis, Rosi Braidotti, Esa Kirkkopelto, Lucia D'Errico, Laura
 Gonzalez, Leif Dahlberg, Tor-Finn Malum Fitje, David Pirrò, and Hanns Holger Rutz.
 2018. Transpositions: Aesthetico-Epistemic Operators in Artistic Research. Leuven
 University Press.
- Arnheim, Rudolf. 1974. Art and Visual Perception: A Psychology of the Creative Eye. New version, Expanded and rev. Ed. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Arnold, Josie. 2005. 'The PhD in Writing Accompanied by an Exegesis'. *Journal of University Teaching & Learning Practice* 2 (1): 39–53.
- 'Asemic Writing'. 2021. In *Wikipedia*. https://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=Asemic_writing&oldid=1026111719.
- Atkinson, Kate. 1995. Behind the Scenes at the Museum. Ed. reissued. London: Black Swan.

———. 2014. *Life After Life*. London: Black Swan.

Atwood, Margaret. 2000. The Blind Assassin. London: Virago.

- Austin, J.L. 1962. *How To Do Things With Words: A Book for Mastering Things That Words Would Shape in Our Daily Communication.* lectures from Independently published (22 Jun. 2021).
- Bal, Mieke. 2002. 'Autotopography: Louise Bourgeois as Builder'. *Biography*. JSTOR, 180–202.
- Barnett, Pennina. 2003. 'Letter from the Editors'. *Textile: The Jounral of Cloth and Culture* 1 (1): 1–7.
- Baudrillard, Jean. 2005. The System of Objects. Radical Thinkers 3. London: Verso.
- Benjamin, Walter. 2008. *The Work of Art in the Age of Mechanical Reproduction*. Translated by James Amery Underwood. Penguin Books Great Ideas. London: Penguin.
- Bennett, Karen. 2023. 'Translation as Springboard for Artistic Creation'. *Translation Matters* 5 (1): 1–6. doi:10.21747/21844585/tm5_1int.
- Ben-Zadok, Rachel. 2010. 'The Art of Louise Bourgeois: Moving from the Personal to the Universal'. PhD Thesis, University of Florida.
- Berger, John. 2003. 'From Ways of Seeing'. *The Feminism and Visual Culture Reader* 38. London&New York: Routledge.
- ———. 2009. *About Looking*. London: Bloomsbury.
- ———. 2018. *Ways of Seeing*. Routledge.

- Bergson, Henri. 2014. *Henri Bergson: Key Writings*. Edited by Keith Ansell-Pearson and Melissa McMahon. London ; New York: Bloomsbury.
- Bernstein, Jay H. 2015. 'Transdisciplinarity: A Review of Its Origins, Development, and Current Issues'.
- Betts, Simon. 2011. 'The Bigger Picture of Drawing: A New Curriculum, A New Pedagogy'. In *Thinking Through Drawing: Practice into Knowledge*, edited by Andrea Kantrowitz, Angela Brew, and Michelle Fava, 27–33. New York: Teachers College, Columbia University.
- Bishop, Claire. 2005. Installation Art. Tate London.
- Bohm, David. 2004. *On Dialogue*. Routlege classics ed. Routledge Classics. London ; New York: Routledge.
- Borgdorff, Henk. 2012. *The Conflict of the Faculties: Perspectives on Artistic Research and Academia*. Amsterdam: Leiden University Press.
- Bracey, A., and D. Maier. 2018. Bummock: The Lace Archive. Edited by null. Vol. null. Null.
- Bracey, Andrew, and Danica Maier. 2017. 'Rummage to Bypass: Alternative Ways of Accessing the Archive'. In . Cardiff University.
- — . 2021. 'Controlled Rummage as Artistic Strategy: Exposing the Bummock of the Lace Archive'. *TEXTILE* 19 (2). Routledge: 161–82. doi:10.1080/14759756.2020.1831895.
- Bracey, Andrew, Danica Maier, and Sarah Bennett. 2022. *Bummock: Tennyson Research Centre*. Lincoln: FTB Press.
- Bracey, Andrew, Danica Maier, and Lucy Renton. 2018. *Bummock: The Lace Archive*. Waddington: Flipping the Bummock Press.
- Briggs-Goode, Amanda. 2020. *Crafting Anatomies: Archives, Dialogues, Fabrications*. Edited by Katherine Townsend, Rhian Solomon, and Amanda Briggs-Goode. London New York Oxford New Delhi Sydney: Bloomsbury Visual Arts.
- Budd, Malcolm. 1987. 'Wittgenstein on Seeing Aspects'. Mind 96 (381). JSTOR: 1–17.
- Bulley, James, and Ozden Sahin. 2021. 'Practice Research-Report 1: What Is Practice Research? And Report 2: How Can Practice Research Be Shared?' Practice Research Advisory Group UK (PRAG-UK).
- Calvert, Sheena, and Nanette Hoogslag. 2019. 'Decriminalising Ornament: The Pleasures of Pattern'. *Journal of Illustration* 6 (1). Intellect: 3–8.
- Campbell, Madeleine, and Ricarda Vidal. 2018. *Translating Across Sensory and Linguistic Borders Intersemiotic Journeys Between Media*. Basingstoke, Hampshire: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Campbell, Mary. 2023. "As an Emerald Is Green". Waiting, Poetry and Affliction: Simone Weil's Concept of Attention'. Doctoral, Dublin City University. https://doras.dcu.ie/27994/.

Candy, Linda. 2006. 'Practice Based Research: A Guide'. CCS Report 1 (2): 1–19.

- Candy, Linda, Ernest Edmonds, and Craig Vear. 2021. 'Practice-Based Research'. In *The Routledge International Handbook of Practice-Based Research*, 27–41. Routledge.
- 'CCA Wattis Institute for Contemporary Arts'. 2024. Accessed November 21. https://wattis.org/our-program/on-view/laura-owens-ten-paintings-2016.
- Chaimowicz, Marc Camille. 2007. *The World of Interiors*. Edited by Valérie Knoll, Migros Museum für Gegenwartskunst, and Exhibition Marc Camille Chaimowicz, Zürich Suite. Zürich: JRP Ringier.
- Clark, Cliff. 2023. 'Liberal Arts Education: What It Is and Why It Matters Carleton College'. Accessed March 1. https://www.carleton.edu/provost/ai-seminars/liberalarts/(accessed 01/03/2023).
- Claro, Andrés. 2011. 'Borgean Transpositions: From Ear to Eye'. *CR: The New Centennial Review* 11 (1). JSTOR: 161–211.
- Clüver, Claus. 1982. 'Concrete Poetry into Music: Oliveira's Intersemiotic Transposition'. *The Comparatist*. JSTOR, 3–15.
- Clüver, Claus, and Burton Watson. 1989. 'On Intersemiotic Transposition'. *Poetics Today* 10 (1). JSTOR: 55–90.
- Cocker, Emma, and Danica Maier, eds. 2019. *No Telos!* Nottingham: Beam Editions.
- ———. 2023. 'Performing Process'. Accessed August 7. https://www.researchcatalogue.net/view/1603812/1604532.
- Colenbrander, Joanna. 1984. A Portrait of Fryn: A Biography of F. Tennyson Jesse. London: A. Deutsch.
- Coles, Alex. 2012. The Transdisciplinary Studio. Vol. 1. Sternberg Press.
- Crimp, Douglas. 1979. 'Pictures'. October 8: 75. doi:10.2307/778227.
- Csikszentmihalyi, Mihaly. 2002. *Flow: The Classic Work on How to Achieve Happiness*. Rev. and Updated ed. London: Rider.
- ———. 2013. Creativity: The Psychology of Discovery and Invention. First Harper Perennial modern classics edition. New York: Harper Perennial Modern Classics.
- Dalke, Anne, Paul Grobstein, and Elizabeth McCormack. 2006. 'Exploring Interdisciplinarity: The Significance of Metaphoric and Metonymic Exchange'. *Journal of Research Practice* 2 (2): M3.
- Day, William, and Victor Krebs. 2002. 'On Being Surprised Wittgenstein on Aspect-Perception, Logic, and Mathematics'. *Compare* 306: 15.
- Day, William, and Victor J. Krebs. 2010a. 'Seeing Aspects in Wittgenstein'. in *Seeing Wittgenstein Anew*. Cambridge University Press.
- Deleuze, Gilles, and Félix Guattari. 1980. *A Thousand Plateaus: Capitalism and Schizophrenia*. Bloomsbury Revelations Series. London New York Oxford New Delhi Sydney: Bloomsbury Academic.
- Derrida, Jacques. 1998. Archive Fever: A Freudian Impression. Translated by Eric Prenowitz. Paperback edition. Religion and Postmodernism. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

- Downes, Tina, Acti Tessa, and Donna Rumble-Smith. 2016. 'Digital Embroidery Practice'. In *Crafting Textiles in the Digital Age*, 35–46. Bloomsbury Publishing.
- Driscoll, John. 2007. 'Supported Reflective Learning: The Essence of Clinical Supervision?' In Practising Clinical Supervision: A Reflective Approach for Healthcare Professionals (2nd Edition), 27–50. London: Bailliere Tindall.
- Edwards, Steve. 2000. 'The Trouble with Morris'. In *The Decorating Business*. Oakville, Ont.: The Galleries.
- Egleson, Annie, and Anne Wilson. n.d. 'Anne Wilson, Artist Rewinds'. *Anne Wilson Artist*. https://www.annewilsonartist.com/rewinds-credits/.
- Ellison, Christine. 2023. 'POLLYFIBRE: Craftwork'. Accessed August 24. http://www.pollyfibre.com/index.php?/project/craftwork/.
- Enderby, Emma. 2021. 'In and Out of Place'. In *Jorge Pardo: Public Projects and Commissions, 1996-2018*, 11–33. New York, New York: Petzel.
- Evans, David, ed. 2009. *Appropriation*. Documents of Contemporary Art. London : Cambridge, Mass: Whitechapel ; MIT Press.
- Farge, Arlette, Thomas Scott-Railton, and Natalie Zemon Davis. 2013. *The Allure of the Archives*. The Lewis Walpole Series in Eighteenth-Century Culture and History. New Haven: Yale University Press.
- Firestein, Stuart. 2012. Ignorance: How It Drives Science. New York: Oxford University Press.
- ———. 2016. *Failure: Why Science Is so Successful*. Oxford ; New York: Oxford University Press.
- Fisher, Elizabeth, Rebecca Fortnum, and null, eds. 2013. *On Not Knowing: How Artists Think*. Vol. null. Null. Black Dog Publishing.
- Fleming, Marnie. 2000. 'INTRODUCTION DAVID MABB: THE DECORATING BUSINESS'. In *The Decorating Business*. Oakville, Ont.: The Galleries.
- Foer, Jonathan Safran. 2010. *Tree of Codes*. London: Visual edition.
- Ford, Sarah-Joy. 2017. Cut Cloth. PO publishing.
- Forster, Ian. 2013. 'Ann Hamilton: "The Event of a Thread". Art21 Magazine Online Version. https://magazine.art21.org/2013/04/19/exclusive-ann-hamilton-the-event-of-athread/.
- Fox, Dan. 2024. 'Issue 39: Partial Views of an Interior'. Substack newsletter. *Keep All Your Friends*. May 29. https://foxdan.substack.com/p/issue-39-partial-views-of-an-interior.
- 'Fred Wilson | Pace Gallery'. 2023. March 2. https://www.pacegallery.com/search/.
- 'FWM Website: Jorge Pardo'. n.d. *The Fabric Workshop and Museum*. https://fabricworkshopandmuseum.org/artist/jorge-pardo/.
- 'FWM (Website): Laura Owens'. n.d. *The Fabric Workshop and Museum*. https://fabricworkshopandmuseum.org/artist/laura-owens/.

- Galli, Giuseppe. 2004. 'The Role of Parts in Intersemiotic Transposition'. *GESTALT THEORY*. 26. KRAMMER: 122–27.
- Genova, Judith. 2016. *Wittgenstein: A Way of Seeing*. Routledge.
- Ginzburg, Carlo. 2012. *Threads and Traces True, False, Fictive*. Berkeley: University of California Press. http://site.ebrary.com/id/10516173.
- Gleiniger, Andrea, and Georg Vrachliotis, eds. 2009. *Pattern: Ornament, Structure, and Behavior*. Context Architecture. Basel ; Boston: Birkhäuser.
- Glendinning, Simon. 2011. *Derrida: A Very Short Introduction*. Very Short Introductions 278. Oxford New York: Oxford Univ. Press.
- Goffman, Erving. 1986. Frame Analysis: An Essay on The Organization of Experience. Northeastern University Press ed. Boston: Northeastern University Press.
- Gombrich, E. H. 2002. *Art and Illusion: A Study in the Psychology of Pictorial Representation*. 6th ed., with New pref. London: Phaidon.
- González, Jennifer A. 1993. 'Rhetoric of the Object: Material Memory and the Artwork of Amalia Mesa–Bains'. *Visual Anthropology Review* 9 (1). Wiley Online Library: 82–91.
- Green, Jonathon. 1999. *The Big Book of Filth: 6500 Sex Slang Words and Phrases*. London: Cassell.
- Halliwell, Lesley. 2013. 'Lesley Halliwell: Negotiated Postitions'. September. http://www.lesleyhalliwell.com/writings-by-lesley-halliwell/2013/9/27/negotiatedpostitions.
- Hamilton, Ann. n.d. 'Art21'. Art21 Magazine Online Version. https://art21.org/artists/.
- Hamilton, Ann, and Brian McHale. 2020. 'The Process: Ann Hamilton in the Twenty-Teens'. *ASAP/Journal* 5 (2). Johns Hopkins University Press: 209–39.
- Hammond, Michael, and Jerry J. Wellington. 2020. *Research Methods: The Key Concepts*. Second ed. Routledge Key Guides. Abingdon New York, NY: Routledge.
- Han, Byung-Chul. 2017. *The Scent of Time: A Philosophical Essay on the Art of Lingering*. English edition. Cambridge, UK ; Medford, MA: Polity.
- Harlizius-Klück, Ellen. 2017. 'Weaving as Binary Art and the Algebra of Patterns'. *TEXTILE* 15 (2). Routledge: 176–97. doi:10.1080/14759756.2017.1298239.
- 'hARTslane: Website'. 2023. hARTslane. Accessed August 6. https://www.hartslane.org/.
- Haseman, Brad. 2006. 'A Manifesto for Performative Research'. *Media International Australia* 118 (1). SAGE Publications Sage UK: London, England: 98–106.
- Hemmings, Jessica, ed. 2012. The Textile Reader. New York: Berg Publishers.
- Hester, Marcus B. 1966. 'Metaphor and Aspect Seeing'. *The Journal of Aesthetics and Art Criticism* 25 (2). JSTOR: 205–12.
- hooks, bell. 2018. *All About Love: New Visions*. First William Morrow paperback edition. New York: William Morrow.

'Hyperphantasia'. 2023. In Wikipedia.

https://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=Hyperphantasia&oldid=1136186119.

Ingold, Tim. 2015. The Life of Lines. London ; New York: Routledge.

———. 2016. *Lines: A Brief History*. London ; New York: Routledge.

- Jakobson, Roman. 1959. 'On Linguistic Aspects of Translation'. In *On Translation*, 232–39. Harvard University Press.
- Jamie, Kathleen. 2019. 'Lissen Every Thing Back'. *Little Toller Books*, September. https://www.littletoller.co.uk/the-clearing/lissen-by-kathleen-jamie/.
- Jastrow, Joseph. 1901. Fact and Fable in Psychology. London: Macmillan. https://www.gutenberg.org/files/48869/48869-h/48869-h.htm#Page_294.
- Jefferies, Janis. 2008. *Contemporary Textiles: The Fabric of Fine Art*. Edited by Nadine Käthe Monem. London: Black Dog Publ.
- ———. 2011. 'Loving Attention: An Outburst of Craft in Contemporary Art'. In *Extra/Ordinary*, 222–40. Duke University Press.

———. 2012. *Pattern, Patterning*. Routledge.

- ———. 2017. 'Cloth, Language and Contemporary Art Discourse'. In *Cut Cloth*. PO publishing.
- Jefferies, Janis, Hazel Clark, and Diana Wood Conroy. 2015. *The Handbook of Textile Culture*. Bloomsbury Publishing.
- Jefferies, Janis, and Kelly Thompson. 2017. 'Material Codes: Ephemeral Traces'. *TEXTILE* 15 (2): 158–75. doi:10.1080/14759756.2017.1298327.
- Jones, Rachel. 2013. 'On the Value of Not Knowing: Wonder, Beginning Again and Letting Be'. In *On Not Knowing: How Artists Think*, edited by Elizabeth Fisher and Rebecca Fortnum. London: Black Dog Publishing.
- Kant, Immanuel. 1781. *Critique of Pure Reason*. Edited by Marcus Weigelt. Translated by Friedrich Max Müller. Penguin Classics. London: Penguin Books.
- Kantrowitz, Andrea, Angela Brew, and Michelle Fava, eds. 2011. *Thinking Through Drawing: Practice into Knowledge*. New York: Teachers College, Columbia University.
- Katz, Anna. 2019. *With Pleasure: Pattern and Decoration in American Art, 1972-1985*. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- Kaye, Nick. 2013. *Site-Specific Art: Performance, Place and Documentation*. Routledge.
- Keogh, Rebecca, Joel Pearson, and Adam Zeman. 2021. 'Aphantasia: The Science of Visual Imagery Extremes'. In *Handbook of Clinical Neurology*, 178:277–96. Elsevier.
- Keyes, Roger, and Timothy Clark. 2020. 'A Conversation with Roger S. Keyes'. *Impression: The Journal of the Japanese Art Society of America* 41: 71–107.
- Khaikin, Irena. 2005. Method for generating non-repeating patterns for printing, issued April 2005.
- Kline, Nancy. 1999. *Time to Think: Listening to Ignite the Human Mind*. Business Personal Development. London: Cassell Illustrated.
- ———. 2020. *The Promise That Changes Everything: I Won't Interrupt You*. U.K.: Penguin Life.

- Kolb, David A. 1984. Experiential Learning: Experience as the Source of Learning and Development. Englewood Cliffs, N.J: Prentice-Hall.
- Krauss, Rosalind. 1979. 'Sculpture in the Expanded Field'. October 8: 30. doi:10.2307/778224.
- Kwon, Miwon. 2004. *One Place After Another: Site-Specific Srt and Locational Identity*. 1. MIT Press paperback ed. Cambridge, Mass.: MIT Press.
- Lane, Victoria. 2013. 'The Artist in the Archive: Frederico Câmara'. In *All This Stuff: Archiving the Artist*, edited by Judy Vaknin, 89–94. London: Libri.
- Lawson, Thomas. 2003. *The Unbearable Lightness of Painting*. Los Angeles, Calif: Museum of Contemporary Art.
- Lebeter, Neil, and Bob & Roberta Smith. 2013. *How to Let an Artist Rifle through Your Archive*. Walsall: The New Art Gallery Walsall.
- Lee, Tong King. 2022. *Translation as Experimentalism: Exploring Play in Poetics*. 1st ed. Cambridge University Press. doi:10.1017/9781108917292.
- Littler, David. n.d. 'David Littler Tumblr Site'. Tumblr. *David Littler*. https://davidlittler.tumblr.com/about.
- 'Locks Gallery: Virgil Marti'. n.d. https://www.locksgallery.com/artists/virgil-marti.

Mabb, David. 2000. 'The Decorating Business'. Goldsmiths, University of London.

- ———. 2010. 'Hijack: Morris Dialectically (book, online source)'. *William Morris in the Twenty-First Century*.
- Mabb, David, Paddy O'Brien, Marnie Fleming, Steve Edwards, and Matthew Higgs. 2000. *The Decorating Business*. Oakville, Ont.: The Galleries.
- Maier, Danica. 2016. *Grafting Propriety: From Stitch to the Drawn Line*. London UK: Black Dog Publishing.
- ———. 2019a. Her Words, My Voice.
- ———. 2019b. 'Looking Again'. Edited by Desdemona McCannon and Sheena Calvert. *Journal* of Illustration 6 (1): 183–204.
- ———. 2019c. 'Re:dRawing'. In *No Telos!*, edited by Emma Cocker and Danica Maier, 24–31. Nottingham: Beam Editions.
- ———. 2023. 'The Unrepeating-Repeat'. In *Pattern and Chaos in Art, Science and Everyday Life*, edited by Sarah Horton and Victoria Mitchell, 75–87. Intellect.
- Margulis, Elizabeth Hellmuth. 2014. *On Repeat: How Music Plays the Mind*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Martinovski, Vladimir. 2016. 'Ekphrasis and Intersemiotic Transposition: Literature, Visual Arts, and Culture'. *Primerjalna Knjizevnost* 39 (2). Slovenian Comparative Literature Association/Slovensko Drustvo za ...: 11.
- McGinn, Marie. 2013. *The Routledge Guidebook to Wittgenstein's Philosophical Investigations*. Routledge.
- McGregor, Sue LT. 2015. 'Transdisciplinary Knowledge Creation'. In *Transdisciplinary Professional Learning and Practice*, 9–24. Springer.

- McLean, Alex, Ellen Harlizius-Klück, and Janis Jefferies. 2017. 'Introduction: Weaving Codes, Coding Weaves'. *TEXTILE* 15 (2). Routledge: 118–23. doi:10.1080/14759756.2017.1298232.
- McNally, Anna. 2013. 'All That Stuff!' In *All This Stuff: Archiving the Artist*, edited by Judy Vaknin, Karyn Stuckey, and Victoria Lane, 97–108. London: Libri.
- Melzer, Tine. 2019. 'Aspect Change and Poetic Charge as Tools for Artistic Research in Literature'. In Artistic Research and Literature, edited by Tan Wälchli and Corina Caduff, 145–58. Brill | Fink. doi:10.30965/9783846763339_014.
- ———. 2022. Atlas of Aspect Change: A Book on Shifting Meanings. Zürich: Rollo Press.
- Melzer, Tine, and Tobias Karel Servaas. 2020. 'Practising Aspect Change'. transcript-Verlag.
- Merewether, C. 2006. *The Archive: Whitechapel: Documents in Contemporary Art*. Edited by null. Vol. null. Null.
- Meyer, James. 2000. 'The Functional Site; or, The Transformation of Site Specificity'. In *Space, Site, Intervention: Situating Installation Art*, edited by Erika Suderburg, 23–37. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.
- Michelkevičus, Vytautas. 2018. *Mapping Artistic Research: Towards Diagrammatic Knowing*. Vilnius, Lithuania: Vilnius Academy of Arts Press.
- Milton, Fraser, Jon Fulford, Carla Dance, James Gaddum, Brittany Heuerman-Williamson, Kealan Jones, Kathryn F. Knight, Matthew MacKisack, Crawford Winlove, and Adam Zeman. 2021. 'Behavioral and Neural Signatures of Visual Imagery Vividness Extremes: Aphantasia versus Hyperphantasia'. *Cerebral Cortex Communications* 2 (2). Oxford University Press: tgab035.
- Munder, Heike. 2006. 'Marc Camille Chaimowicz Zürich Suite'. https://migrosmuseum.ch/storage/product-pdfs/MCC-Besuchertext-d.pdf.
- Mundry, Isabel. 2009. 'Regular Irregular On the Fleeting Quality of Pattern in Contempoarary Music'. In *Pattern: Ornament, Structure and Behavior*, 85–96.
- Nelson, Mike, ed. 2001. A Forgotten Kingdom. London: Institute of Contemporary Arts.
- Nelson, Robin. 2013. *Practice as Research in the Arts: Principles, Protocols, Pedagogies, Resistances*. Houndmills, Basingstoke, Hampshire ; New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Newman, Avis, and M. Catherine de Zegher, eds. 2003. *The Stage of Drawing: Gesture and Act*. London : New York: Tate Pub. ; Drawing Center.
- Nicolescu, Basarab. 2014. 'Methodology of Transdisciplinarity'. *World Futures* 70 (3–4). Taylor & Francis: 186–99.
- Nimkulrat, Nithikul, Faith Kane, and Kerry Walton. 2016. *Crafting Textiles in the Digital Age*. Bloomsbury Publishing.
- Olalquiaga, Celeste. 2008. 'Dead Stock: The Research as Collector of Failed Goods'. In *What Is Research in the Visual Arts? Obsession, Archive, Encounter*, edited by Michael Ann Holly, Marquard Smith, and Sterling and Francine Clark Art Institute, 33–46. Clark Studies in the Visual Arts. Williamstown, Mass. : New Haven: Sterling and Francine Clark Art Institute ; Distributed by Yale University Press.

OpenAI. 2023. 'ChatGPT'. Accessed October 20. https://chat.openai.com.

- Orr, Mary. 2003. *Intertextuality: Debates and Contexts*. Cambridge, UK : Malden, MA: Polity ; Distributed in the U.S.A. by Blackwell Pub.
- Oxford English Dictionary Online. 2020. 'Oxford English Dictionary Online'. In OED Online. Oxford University Press. Accessed August 18. https://www.oed.com/view/Entry/168817.
- Paola, Modesta di. 2018. "'Re-Belle et Infidèle". El Feminismo Canadiense y Sus Reflejos En Las Narrativas Artísticas Del in-Betweenness: Mona Hatoum, Chantal Akerman y Ghada Amer'. *Anales de Historia Del Arte* 28 (September): 133–46. doi:10.5209/ANHA.61608.
- Pârlog, Aba-Carina. 2019. Intersemiotic Translation: Literary and Linguistic Multimodality. Springer.
- Parten, Mildred B. 1932. 'Social Participation among Pre-School Children.' *The Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology* 27 (3). American Psychological Association: 243.
- Peacock, Susi. 2017. 'The PhD by Publication'. *International Journal of Doctoral Studies*. Informing Science Institute.
- Perkins, McKenzie. 2019. 'What Is Liberal Arts? Definition and Examples'. ThoughtCo is a premier reference site with a 20+ year focus on expert-created education content. *Thought Co.* April 29. https://www.thoughtco.com/liberal-arts-definition-4585053.
- Phillips, Adam. 2019. Attention Seeking. UK: Penguin. https://www.overdrive.com/search?q=FF8FB3D5-86E1-4267-B36A-EFA993A2CC19.
- Plant, Sadie. 1998. Zeros + Ones: Digital Women + the New Technoculture. London: Fourth Estate.
- Prince, Mark. 2012. 'On Functional Art'. Art Monthly, no. 360: 7–10.
- Richardson, Marion. 1935. Writing & Writing Patterns. London: University of London Press.
- Roberts, Margaret. 2020. 'Expanded Drawing'. *The National Centre For Drawing*. April 14. https://drawing.nas.edu.au/expanded-drawing-talk/.
- Robertson, Jean. 2003. 'Artistic Behavior in the Human Female'. In *Feminine Persuasion: Art and Essays on Sexuality*, edited by Betsy Stirratt and Catherine Johnson. Indiana University Press. doi:10.2979/FemininePersuasion.
- Robinson, Douglas. 2023. *Translation as a Form: A Centennial Commentary on Walter Benjamin's 'The Task of the Translator'*. London New York: Routledge. doi:10.4324/9781003247227-1.
- Rojas, Clare. 2010. 'Clare Rojas We They, We They: Exhibition Guide'. *Ikon Gallery Exhibition Guide- from Email Interview*.
- ———. 2011. *Everything Flowers*. San Francisco, CA: Chronicle Books.
- Rojas, Clare, and Raphaela Platow. 2007. *Clare Rojas: Hope Springs Eternal*. Waltham, MA: Rose Art Museum, Brandeis University.
- Rolph, Danny. 2006. 'File Note #16 Laura Owens'. Camden Arts Centre: Camden Arts Centre.

- Rosenberg, Marshall B. 2015. *Nonviolent Communication: A Language of Life*. 3rd edition. Encinitas, CA: PuddleDancer Press.
- Rubin, Rick. 2023. *The Creative Act: A Way of Being*. Edinburgh: Canongate.
- Saarbach, Pascale. 2021. 'Ann Hamilton: The Conditions of Attention'. In *Installation Art as Experience of Self, in Space and Time,* edited by Christine Vial Kayser and Sylvie Coëllier. Curating and Interpreting Culture. Wilmington, Delaware: Vernon Press.
- Sanders, Julie. 2016. Adaptation and Appropriation. Second edition. The New Critical Idiom. Landon\$aNew York: Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group. doi:10.4324/9781315737942.
- Sassoon, Rosemary. 2012. *Marion Richardson: Her Life and Her Contribution to Handwriting.* Bristol; Chicago: Intellect, Limited Chicago Distribution Center [distributor. http://public.ebookcentral.proquest.com/choice/publicfullrecord.aspx?p=769820.
- Scheuregger, Martin, and Danica Maier. 2023. 'Score Mechanical Asynchronicity'. *ECHO, a* Journal of Music, Thought and Technology, no. 4 (February). doi:10.47041/NRKT8828.
- Scholte, Tatja. 2022. *The Perpetuation of Site Specific Installation Artworks in Museums: Staging Contemporary Art*. Amsterdam: Amsterdam University Press.
- Schulz, Bruno. 1934. The Street of Crocodiles. https://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=The_Street_of_Crocodiles&oldid=1169 373158#cite_note-1.
- Schwab, Michael, ed. 2018. *Transpositions: Aesthetico-Epistemic Operators in Artistic Research*. Orpheus Institute Series. Leuven (Belgium): Leuven University Press.
- Schwenger, Peter. 2019. Asemic: The Art of Writing. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.
- Serra, Richard. 1994. Writings, Interviews. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Service, Tom. 2016. 'Stuck on Repeat: Why We Love Repetition in Music'. *The Guardian Newspaper*, April 29. http://www.theguardian.com/music/2016/apr/29/why-welove-repetition-in-music-tom-service.
- Sheets, Hilarie M. 2014. 'Chasing the Sublime in Forest Park'. In *Forest Park: Virgil Martin*. Philadelphia, PA: Locks Gallery.
- Shonibare, Yinka, and Pennina Barnett. 2018. *Criminal Ornamentation*. London: Hayward Gallery Publishing.
- Skelly, Julia. 2017. *Radical Decadence: Excess in Contemporary Feminist Textiles and Craft*. 1st ed. Bloomsbury Publishing Plc. doi:10.5040/9781474284981.
- Smith, Susan. 2015. *PhD by Published Work: A Practical Guide for Success*. Palgrave Research Skills. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- St Clair, Kassia. 2019. The Golden Thread: How Fabric Changed History.
- St-Gelais, Thérèse, and Ghada Amer. 2012. *Ghada Amer*. Montreal: Musée d'art contemporain de Montréal.

- Stockholder, Jessica, Lynne Cooke, and Dia Center for the Arts, eds. 1996. *Jessica Stockholder:* Your Skin in This Weather Bourne Eye-Threads & Swollen Perfume ; Dia Center for the Arts, [October 5, 1995 - June 23, 1996]. New York: Dia Center for the Arts.
- Stroud, Marion Boulton, and Kelly Mitchell, eds. 2002b. *New Material as New Media: The Fabric Workshop and Museum*. 1. MIT Press ed. Cambridge, Mass.: MIT Press.
- Thagaard, Tove, and Kari Stefansen. 2014. 'Expressions of Commitment and Independence: Exploring Men's Emotional Responsibility in Heterosexual Couple Relationships'. Nordic Journal of Social Research 5 (February): 21–38. doi:10.7577/njsr.2073.
- The Fabric Workshop and Museum. 2023. 'The Fabric Workshop and Museum Website'. *The Fabric Workshop and Museum*. Accessed August 30. https://fabricworkshopandmuseum.org/about/.
- Tishman, Shari. 2018. *Slow Looking: The Art and Practice of Learning through Observation*. New York, NY ; Abingdon, Oxon: Routledge.
- Townsend, Katherine. 2020. 'Reflections on Bummock: The Lace Archive Symposium'. *TEXTILE* 18 (1). Routledge: 92–99. doi:10.1080/14759756.2019.1648724.
- Tversky, Barbara. 2011. 'Obsessed by Lines'. In *Thinking Through Drawing: Practice into Knowledge*, edited by Andrea Kantrowitz, Angela Brew, and Michelle Fava, 15–17. New York: Teachers College, Columbia University.
- Van Alphen, Ernst. 2008. 'Archival Obsessions and Obsessive Archives'. In What Is Research in the Visual Arts? Obsession, Archive, Encounter, edited by Michael Ann Holly, Marquard Smith, and Sterling and Francine Clark Art Institute, 65–84. Clark Studies in the Visual Arts. Williamstown, Mass. : New Haven: Sterling and Francine Clark Art Institute ; Distributed by Yale University Press.
- Vetö, Miklós. 1994. *The Religious Metaphysics of Simone Weil*. Translated by Joan Dargan. SUNY Series, Simone Weil Studies. Albany: State University of New York Press.
- Walker, Michelle Boulous. 2017. *Slow Philosophy: Reading Against the Institution*. London ; New York: Bloomsbury Academic, an imprint of Bloomsbury Publishing, Plc.
- 'Weaving Codes Coding Weaves'. 2024. Accessed November 21. https://kairotic.org/.
- Weil, Simone. 2002. *Gravity and Grace*. Translated by Emma Crawford and Mario Von der Ruhr. 1st complete English language edition. London New York: Routledge.
- Wheeler, Gordon, and Lena Axelsson. 2016. *Gestalt Therapy*. Theories of Psychotherapy Series. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association. doi:10.1037/14527-000.
- Wilson, Anne. 2012. Anne Wilson: Wind/Rewind/Weave. University of Press.
- ----. 2018. 'Notes on Wind-Up: Walking the Warp'. November 11. https://www.annewilsonartist.com/pdfs/wind-up2.pdf.
- ----. n.d. 'Anne Wilson, Artist'. *Anne Wilson Artist*. https://www.annewilsonartist.com/bio/.
- ———. n.d. 'Anne Wilson, Artist Topologies'. Anne Wilson Artist. https://www.annewilsonartist.com/topologies-credits/.

Wittgenstein, Ludwig. 2010. Philosophical Investigations. John Wiley & Sons.

Appendices:

Appendix A: Additional Partners, Legacies, and Related Outcomes for each RN

Research Narrative 1: "Stitch & Peacock", 2014-2015, The Collection Museum, Lincoln.

The project received funding from the Arts Council England (£7,000) and The Collection Museum (£7,500). Lucy Renton of Kingston University reviewed it in her article "Redrawing Craft: Archival Sources and the Mark in the Work of Artist Danica Maier" in "Craft Research" (2015), a special issue titled "Craft and the Handmade: Making the Intangible Visible. The Collection Museum commissioned a response to the work exhibited in "*Stitch & Peacock*", which resulted in artist Rob Flint's sound piece titled "Flock Mnemonics"– an accompanying work during the exhibition. This sound piece was played daily on a bespoke Sound Wall, a distinctive architectural feature that enables directional soundscapes to be projected across a 40-meter-long space. The "*Stitch & Peacock*" research and exhibition initiated and were further explored in the solo publication "Grafting Propriety: From Stitch to the Drawn Line", published by Black Dog Publishing (2016). This publication showcased the "*Stitch & Peacock*" artwork alongside previous drawings that employed similar methods and processes, exploring the development of works that use historical references while mimicking textile techniques through the drawn line.

Research Narrative 2: "Manhole", "Gape", and "Old Lady", as part of the artistic research project "Bummock: The Lace Archive".

The project was funded by the Arts Council England (£12,925) and further supported by NTU, University of Lincoln, Birmingham University, and Kingston University. The work has been presented at the conferences "Textile and Place" (MMU/Whitworth 2018) and "The Archive Unbound" conference as part of the Digital Cultures Network, (Cardiff University 2017). An accompanying publication, "Bummock: The Lace Archive" (Bracey and Maier 2018), is distributed by Cornerhouse Publishing. Kathrine Townsend reviewed the residency and symposium in "Textile: Journal of Cloth and Culture" (Townsend 2020), a special edition on lace. This work was also discussed alongside my previous Ñandutí lace works in the 2020 Bloomsburg publication "Crafting Anatomies: Archives, Dialogues, Fabrications" (Briggs-Goode 2020).

Research Narrative 3: "Score: Mechanical Asynchronicity", 2019-2022, live performance and installation-based project held in numerous venues.

The project's exhibitions and live events took place at prestigious venues, including the Sir Jack Lyons Concert Hall at the University of York (2022), Kings College in London as part of the "Performance and Experimental Translation Network" Conference and Exhibition (2022) and will form part of upcoming online publication (dates TBC) resulting from the conference proceeding. A version of the piece was performed at Orgelpark in Amsterdam during the Prix Annelie de Man International Harpsichordist Festival (2021) and the Lincoln Performing Arts Centre (2020) by famous harpsichordist Jane Chapman. Additionally, it contributed to public programming as part of the "Still Undead" exhibition at Nottingham Contemporary (2019), which was the Nottingham chapter of the international "Bauhaus Imaginista" project. Maier and Scheuregger participated in conferences like "Music and/as Process" at the Institute of Contemporary Music Performance in London (2019). Recent publications include "Score: Mechanical Asynchronicity" by Beam Editions (2023), featuring text by Daniela Cascella, Danica Maier, Martin Scheuregger, and Lauren Redhead. The project received funding from the Arts Council National Lottery Project Grants in 2018 (£13,835).

Research Narrative 4: "Re:dRawing", 2019, contribution in "No Telos!", editors Emma Cocker and Danica Maier, with Beam Editions publishers.

The "No Telos" project was funded by Nottingham Trent University (£15,000), and the "No Telos!" publication was part funded by Beam Editions and launched the start of their publishing venture. "No Telos!" was launched as part of the "Convocation: On expanded language-based practices" within the Research Pavilion at the 58th Venice Biennale (2019), for which I did a live performative reading titled "Associated Thoughts on: Line". The text "Re:dRawing" in collaboration with artworks from RN1: "Stitch & Peacock" was recently featured in a translation conference presentation for the "Multimodal Translation in The Arts" conference, at the School of Modern Languages, Cardiff University (2023). Connected to this, the works related to this performative presentation will be featured in upcoming publications (dates TBC) resulting from the conference proceedings.

Research Narrative 5: "Fryn Tennyson Jesse: Her and Me", 2022, as part of "Bummock: Tennyson Research Centre".

Partners for this project included: Lincolnshire Archives, The Collection Museum; The Hub, Sleaford; Nottingham Trent University; University of Lincoln; Kingston University; Birmingham City University; and NCCD. Funders included: Arts Council England £14,375; Nottingham Trent University £1,500; The Collection and Usher Gallery £5,000; NCCD £1,500; and a-n Artist Bursary £830 for the Hospitalfield artists residency. At the start of the project, on 6 October 2017, we held a launch event on the 125th anniversary of Lord Alfred Tennyson's death on 6 October 1892 in partnership with the Waddington Cultural Collective. Online Journal article by Bracey, Bennett, and myself title "Controlled Rummage Approaches for Bummock: Tennyson Research Centre" as part The Journal for Artistic Research (2024, edition TBC) was accepted just prior to the Ph.D.'s submission date.

Research Narrative 6: "The Unrepeating-Repeat", 2023, Chapter in "Pattern and Chaos in Art, Science and Everyday Life: Critical Intersections and Creative Practice", edited by Sophie Horton and Victoria Mitchell, Intellect publishing, Bristol.

Elements of this Chapter and its performative nature had previously been explored at the 9th International Illustration Research Symposium "Decriminalising Ornamentation: The Pleasure of Pattern", led by the Illustration Network and held at Anglian Ruskin University (17 - 18 Nov 2018). Alongside delivering a conference paper, I exhibited artwork in the accompanying exhibition held at the Ruskin Gallery, Cambridge (1 - 26 Nov 2018). Afterwards, I was selected through peer review to contribute to the journal paper "Looking Again" in "Decriminalising Ornament: The Pleasures of Pattern" special edition of The Journal of Illustration, 6 (1), edited by Calvert, S. and Hoogslag, N. (2019), pp. 183-204. Elements from the chapter "The Unrepeating-Repeat" were recently shared in a performative paper presentation as part of the "Radical Repetition" strand of the "London Conference of Critical Thought"⁴⁹ (30 June – 1 July 2023) at London Metropolitan University.

⁴⁹ See - <u>https://www.londoncritical.co.uk/</u> (last accessed 3 September 2023).

Appendix B: Collaborative Statement: RN3 "Score: Mechanical Asynchronicity"



Statement of collaboration / contribution to Score: Mechanical Asynchronicity

Score: Mechanical Asynchronicity has been developed jointly by me, Martin Scheuregger, and my collaborator, Danica Maier, following initial research from Maier into the source material for our creative work.

As a whole, the project is entirely co-created, including staging, exhibition, publication and other artistic decisions. The live elements of the project – primarily performances and exhibitions – were created with equal contribution from us both.

Within the project there are distinct musical-visual work (which we describe as 'Side A' and 'Side B'. These works were created with a higher degree of single authorship, and we each see the works as our own (mine, side B; Maier's, Side A).

If further details are needed, please contact me via email at the address below.

Dr Martin Scheuregger Senior Lecturer in Music BA (Hons) Music Programme Leader <u>mscheuregger@lincoln.ac.uk</u>

Lincoln School of Fine & Performing Arts

University of Lincoln Brayford Pool Lincoln LN6 7TS United Kingdom www.lincoln.ac.uk

Appendix C: Mapping the Golden Thread: Matrixes

personal narrative		temporal		lab our/hand made		d om estic		a pp ropriation		p attern/Decorative/ ornate		unrepeating repeat	Expand	Core themes:
													Expanded textiles,Unerpeating Patern/deccalities Ap propriation.Domestic. Laboout/handmake. Laboout/handmake. Termpool, Personal natrative, Memory Acthival research. Acthival research. Language. Collaborative exclorestructures.	Core Theme Connections
what where how	how	what where	how	what where	worl	what where	how	what where	how	what where	how	what where		
													Stratungski jezera stala postava svenska na na vojeni organi jezera svenska na na vojena na voje svenska na vojena na vojena na voje svenska na vojena na vojena na voje svenska na vojena na vojena na vojena na vojena na vojena na vojena na voje svenska na vojena na vojena na vojena voje vojena na vojena vojena na vojena na vojena na vojena vojena na vojena na vojena vojena na vojena na vojena na vojena vojena vojena vojena voj	unrepeating repeat
											(in which publication in the period his in cost on the uniportation. This is would all informa- tion that the theory expected on the theory of the theory of the theory expected on the theory of the theory and the deviced of the theory of the theory of the theory and the deviced of the theory of the theory of the theory and the deviced of the theory of the theory of the theory and the deviced of the theory of the theory of the theory and the deviced of the theory of the theory of the theory and the deviced of the theory of the theory of the theory of the theory and the theory of theory of the theory of the theory of theory of the theory of	In al fe tils worktiven en patterns of some sort. Patterni i socre bulden g block of a reperition - or vita verka.	The Department of Linguistic	pattern/decorative/ornate
									wan a wiskow - sporpodia mi mathatika capace pater and have a access starting pater that reasons - I ke more autority, in the reasons - I ke m	pallam stakenvipprovided from other neuros I costron. Historical, personal, archive research. Changes and shifts to create patternor make it less of pattern.	 re conjego za king a demodi r ve polity or king la demodi surreparting la tra separat barrit an surreparting la tra separat barrit an verbus citatao) 	in the act of copying from another nource.		a pp ropri ation
							perhips not as rehard	in the seletion of patterns and objects taken from -	con operadly the works paying with the connection backtory or our association of the discretistic (backtor in maccalization another are a paying with signed and workser taking a well as the appendichange.	diter Use pallar na Galen Inom domesia dojectafiskorca	cost be - devento or the subject roarbe or version of Kero subdo Hiels to the devenues - reveal paper, teading home funchings.	would be found within the source material and treaterment	para himing basis ban waa	d am estic
					use of oralt methods through other processes & Drawing, sound words, Creation by hand in a bibourbos time consuming processes that minics dormalic processes and methods	use of craft - petit point, craft te chniques	nià	oppropriation of processes - transported	We converted to a black to partial with the use of notification of the black to partial process - this convector to will an more - Arabito unrepeating repeat - of hear partial participant of the participant of hear partial participant of the participant hear participant repeat - will always could be application repeat - will always used to an participant repeat - will always used to the participant repeat - will always used to the participant repeat - will always used to the the repeat and will always used which the repeat and will always used with the repeat and will always used which the repeat and will always used with the repeat and will always used with the repeat and will be appresent and with the repeat and and will be appresent and the second and with the repeat and t	Utrough the matical aus hand anadian of the pattern Specifically in the drawing works, but also written and sound too.	Introducible process of makings impairing these works. According Responder process of margins contract. This have the harves of the start of the pro- metal and charmest addressly contracts with an ethodology. 1 We Bellepinetic Without Monday. 1 We Bellepinetic	in the repeated action of making.	harder den der Ander Ansettenge bester Ser ansettense of transformer, ander ander a Ander ander and	labour/hand made
			Uses and consideration waved the time that the hardmode lates. Then consuming, hardware or waven on its present lives. This address waiking - lithcare or all on the hardmode and the waven that walk in the hardmode. This is an the detailed within hardmode and contideration of this.	within the making process, long and tabourous by hand Labour = time.	777 perhaps - Urough pait expectation of doments:	3	perhapi in the approprieting from the past - historical works into contemposity time frame		cine al view ing or easing the pattern. creating and an author for easity of the connected to this Marmory also connected to this	i nithe crastion of the pattern (labour) takes time, is labourous. The viewing or experiences gof the piece takes time - to see	Improvide administration is imposited information in opportunition, take indexiding in extension of the interpret and advect deviation is interpret and interpret advection advects in the interpret and interpret index to the advection part of the contraction is a memory as well as contraction is a memory as well as	(dourd in r máking the time consuming tabour i nermixe works in the viewing time to lock and block in the listering expensione, in giving attention. (slow tooking)	provide the manage of pagesta	temporal
	across personal n arraboes	historys and ghost memorials the time or past that comes through or	Baron ai hann sa suidh muig a' crift. Baron Fan dinaide. Suiddy within rea Great.	oralito telí di person al narrative s	use of the exploration of craft processes through drawing/other methods. Personal reteiling of family/thome sories or memory of family objects.	in her words, my volice, person al interest in craft stitch processes	the person lauratives directly and indirectlytaken to use as starting points of creation of works	taken my own memorysand objects to create works		dojects and come cts tope nenal dojects and come cts tope nenal hakorys. Family patterns, 5 ome more dover then others.	With remove (the dange and later)		aspert of animap post and	personal na rrative
Instruction and the procession of the instruction o	ard shan a memory corres from or is placed back. The memory: a experit exit or colin a pack is well typeling d'emporal positions (the then and now)	in remembering the past - time is taken and is experienced these are intervalment in terms of where	drawing. labour to coms mative as w	memory of being taught particular stories. Of tring to remember dbject through the labour of drawing.	thernough personal narrative. Nem embering or not. Mem arythrough w the personal experiences: Incodi- others personal experiences: I kading to playing with their expectations.	ghaitheirlean, her words, my volos, othermare suble connections	essurption and expectations within the assumption and expectations within the works. Our memory <i>Answell status</i> of the course matter and need that is deep shifted or altered with the change of sepect.	connection of past, our personal and outputsl memory to dbject/image apponntisted.	the actual manage of patterns connect in the aspectations of the values of the work. The memory of nexting of the works of the mobile cone to see the at the pattern.	m en ory is seening the pattern. Ne mory of cormetts of where the pattern (culturally) might be from.	Vietrogia Imposana skrimet in "Rectory" consensationet in temposati condere to see in heart in california descharandy memory alka instala event hearts shall be special annex desages understand dings	mency of the work-while viewing the unrepeat is needed, important	scender single sources many of costead - plasman of techniques	memory
yrr en gant allen e ner one helds. Ther en gant allen helds the expected States was block as expected on. This expect the spectra of familiar to can only are what we know.		ti ma takan to ra sa arch th rough. n /a	bein herd septemation on unpack and from the objects and different. The the endings are disclosed serging of the endings are disclosed and the set of the endings of the set of the disclosed and providence of the set of the disclosed and the providence of the set of the disclosed and providence of the set of the disclosed interactive temporarity parts. Set the set the set of the set of the disclosed and the disclosed and the disclosed and the disclosed and the disclosed and the disclosed and the disclosed and set of the disclosed and the disclosed and the disclosed and the disclosed and set of the disclosed and the disclosed and the disclosed and set of the disclosed and the disclosed and the disclosed and set of the disclosed and the disclosed and the disclosed and set of the disclosed and the disclosed and the disclosed and the disclosed and set of the disclosed and the disclosed and the disclosed and set of the disclosed and the disclosed and the disclosed and set of the disclosed and the disclosed and the disclosed and set of the disclosed and the disclosed and the disclosed and set of the disclosed and the disclosed and the disclosed and the disclosed and set of t	exploring /Teaming objects through fabour / making processes.	through my pansonal interests and where tend to find interest.	fryn , laos, penional		and found and found	The hasken through no light exemption in the works cred. The starting point is and this - or correction to pattern etc.	otten my choose and warred corns i from items with pettern/decorative	com vedidi for approgramati on		entri the baser vado or frand enter	archival / collection research
renzive in known skraue periodial renzive in known and explored month family white ray read month of the strain of the strain renzy and periodial that do its renzy and periodial do its renzy and the strain of the renzy and the strain of the strain of the strain of the renzy and the strain of the strain of the strain of the renzy and the strain of the strain of the strain of the renzy and the strain of the strain of the strain of the renzy and the strain of the stra	time media dirar diang tisa wank. The ana itar experiencing itan diseding again.	time and labour within the making processes. Looking and seperiencing the work as well takes time. the duration of come of the work: The	ncarin's processes that are time ncarin's gan d'Albourtes dev. T ncf m ade is used as well as mini- n	oors as incluided han dimade and our (labour is time)	through provanses used - crift or boundry of texteles/tine at	through promises used - craft or boundry of textiles/fine art	 Utified bis is where transposition or model asian might intersect? That methods from one process are appropriated and used forby another 	the way that the appropriate d image is capture d and changed/ manipulated.	refats researchins art methods on the origin of leades through the potenti- and choice of the decorative.	the methods used are creating pattern and mimising pattern and temposing pattern.	consecutivativa un espanding terpate- connectors to fe used en methods and interfacebolies. If them methods unrepare an alorem for accentation.	(curd in drawing, install abor, sound and writing - all methods usethe unrepeaking repeak	ober molec and possible of the second broad	
 writing,		parkips in the topics as time. Through reading, unpidding and understanding	Libourous process & writing/bilewing bit testion and brings path pathin and brings	use of te xX-word to create pattern - decortive and oth ervise (seen in the visuals works and written heats al one d	through the use of the penetrek / domination to the function of wilder points. Using metapolarithrough the dominatiopersonal	penonal namatives use ditol d	bowth use of others words for my own vide or use of quade to 'say' something about asubject.	spose apreb	bits as of data repeated to or watche visial impair to rear to the proceeds parties with it watche work also played with.	decative and athewise (see n in the visuals works and written heatural ones)	C) and a single working an endigate by the endigate of the endigate by the provide of the endigate by the endigate by provide the endigate by the endigate by the endigate by the endigate by the endigate provide the endigate by the endigate by the board within our of the of synamics. The difference is provide the endigate hyperboard test for your the first of endigate by the endigate by the endigate within which the of the endigate by the endigate by the endigate by the endigate by the ending the end of the end of the end of the ending the end of the end of the end of the ending the end of the end of the end of the end of the ending the end of the end of the end of the end of the ending the end of the end of the end of the end of the ending the end of the ending the end of the ending the end of the ending the end of the en	(standrin bach written to stat (practice)) as well as in the rune of toxic as visuals within drawnings/installation.	Vormen der aus der Anderson	expanded language g based, language inkhrough drawing

Cross reference of Core Thematics (a singular document spread over multiple pages)

ieat: reversal, once morett ickburn rug, M. wallpaper b	Drawings as score	echacnical Asynchronicity ha	Looking again - (chapter) ×	APE I PIU	Manhole	Flock		Happy Hunting Grounds ap	Nest	cited works:			intertextuality	modulation		transpostion			audience expereince, viewing the work		attention to detail, Macro-micro	attantions to date 11 Minano selare			aspect change		collabortive, collaborative independence, Dialogue		expanded language based, Language in through drawing		methods - Drawing, installation, sound, writing, (artistic research)			archival/collection research			memory
reversal, once more um rug, M. wallpaper	Drawings as score	acnical Asynchronicity	king again - (chapter)	Old Lady	Nanhole	Flock	Skein	opy Hunting Grounds	Nest	cited works:																											
											how	what where	now	what I where	how	what where	(how	what where	how	what where		how		what where	how	what where	how	what where	how	what where		how	what where		how	what where
								y es	pattern in the																												
																																			the wew et.	of the object(general memory), is context, place, etc. this build scetain expectations or contextuliazation for	in the archive object.
																																	source material for the processes to work from	in the making		y and memory or outing, or eacour, or represent action. Skill development and mussel memory creation	in process, skills, doing, mussel memory.
																														use of quotes to 'speak' or tell for me. Performative withing	through use of text in drawing, through	mon o d they form a superbood t mode with	perhaps assource material for the writing/ or quotes taken	in the making		or permispisionering, we memorize the d words as repetied throughout	

																	Her Wards, My Vaice
					ĺ			ĺ	ĺ			ĺ	ĺ	ĺ	1	Andream and and an an and an	Her Words, My Voice

																			nda	nda	arching rides and considerations are acting rides and shared but my own practice is used to independ andy explore white sitt serving the wider odubces whe sitts through dubgue of odubces we sitted taken fictness and depindent week and idea fictness and depindent week cours.	process and projects	connection to overview projects	Bummock, Score	nů	N0
															haw days contridition fit?	We head out protection to outplot and hum the objects outplot allowers. The object or outplot was shown. If the outplot of the outplot outplot is the superator of the shift for the shift is not the response pare. Lade is shift here is superator of the shift the same shift all the same of the shift the same shift allowers outplots and the shift outplot outplot all diseases. The shift the sum outplot is all diseases. The shift the same of allowers are shift for an event in the same of allowers are shift for an event shift and the bar outplot outplot and diseases.	nů	N	Now the use of text within drawing drifts expectations. Is not seen then seen. The drift between cpuckes - expectation and what they built up to sep-1	text in drawing/ quotes/ written prose	 the drawing process and context occurs the drawing process and context within enables the dramge - or hids the various podram. This connections to transposition/modulation - ne its of through this within the method sused that appret dramge occurs 	within the work / michings or or east on	one side of the 'sign ed' the expected (perfugps) the known or familitaror expected	within the work	connections to seeing 'tail based on co expectences and sourced are not source the server as particulars and the source tail the second of the memory and boorded get to see and understand, both in what we bring to v the work as wells as once we're see at the work as wells as once we're see at the work as wells as once we're see at the source as wells as the second of the appet of	It is through memory that one begins to see both
															over to seeing the asplicit drange - attention is need to understand the may be a shift and to 'see' or understand this shift, important connection between them		top erhaps see links bit ween. Det als that cross over and connect. The wider project aims within the individual works. How the indevidual		attention is needed to see the words within the drawings. To lear or read the repetition and make the connections between or through them.	drawings, written text and quotes	orante invarios sued to create evadore and convide line marcraftero and need for attention to details	drawings/works	exploring details of collection research forough details and subtle links - need to pray attention to see and explore these links, to understand them and and the wewing exploritimos.	within the work	someed on to appet change - and ur memory. Is we need to 'see' and her nemember what we're seen. S den tood both the musico and the inco. Attention to detail and seein inco. Attention to detail and seein rifous details relation on memory to nd entand they are details within,	vemory of the overall when seeing ve detail and visa versa
													coverfor the audience to delifiber weets. To fave deliris threads of data to the details how one section larger protect and when weeting of the details within and them weeting of the details within once a detail is seen, more may be looked for	in the overall work	this is core to a spect change - that it is the audience or view that will activate it.		6 N		Tanguage is treated the same as visuals and the expectations on the viewing experielence (sithe same.	in the work	institution and sources - special safet per institution and sources - it is set up for a viewing expensionen. That attention to details is needed, appect change may occur, memory.	instantations (percentances	perhaps reason for certain autidence to come. Cross own between the historical and contimporary.	within the exhibition	ow cons see dealls and therefore officer them in relation to the large increase and und enstands or resets the spect change. Memory of the speat, seeling / understanding	rithin the looking process,
										transpoal ion from one to another. That by removing from organal source material situate process may be examined - to esen three from expectations of norm - see it anew, differently.	It is in the attention to details that one mouse fault section.	and the state of t	t is in the activities to details that one may we letted (pocluce) the transposition from organity acutes. That by removing from organity acutes material details a processmary be examined - to seen (thee from expectation) of norm, see it anew.		this could be Found within the understanding of different making processes within the creation method. Shifting from seeing stiching to drawing	an Francisko gorozana	nda	n/0			cnts is a core part to whith is created, and the methods - they one method can be file another. How other, other,	wear are and date to metad	source processes to create work from (score). Shift from archival materiality to and her mode.	within the works	10 have knowledge of processes - to or produce is order mansar. To connect write the saveth or knowledge of writeness one process somes from a store is explored through other means	within the viewing experience
									b etween these two	transpool kon from one to another. That by removing from orginal source material start a process may be examined - to seen free from explectations of norm, see it anew, differently.	it is in the attention to details that one may and fault module at the	Constant of	It is in the attraction to clearly that one may see used (product) the transposition from orginal source by semolog from orginal source materid shot a process may be examined - be seen to see from examined - be seen to see our examined - be seen to seen.		name as previous		n0	0/0			explicated within the methods - how one method can be like another. How method storrep ose between each other.		same as previous	same as previous	same as providua	same as previous
							b et wean thiese two!	need to understand the differences	b of wears these two!	transposition from one to another. That by removing from orginal source materials that a process may be examined - be even free from expectations of norm, see it anaw, differently.	It is in the attention to details that one many one fund to conduct a the	ann anns anns.	it is in the attention to data is that one many well (and) podule this is an appaired in the regional source. That by removing from orginal source material/shift is processimal be sourced. The second removes interaction.		same as previous. Shifting between seeing imag e to seeing text.		nů	n/0	through the connection to the source text and the others that connect to that. Through the combination of quotes and connection between them.		explored within the methods, tow one method can be like another. How method stranspore between each other.	warn the condition of the methods	same as previous	same as previous	same at previous	same as previous

Identifying Themes	Cross references	with Research Narrati	ves (a multi-page document).
identijying memes,	CIUSS TEJETETICES	with Research Nariati	ves (a mani-page abcament).

Cross referen Danica Maier mapping Core themes (down)	Cross references - mapping Danica Maier mapping statch & Peacock (2014-2015)	Burmock: The Lace Archive (2018- 2019)	Looking Again, Journal of Illustration (2019)	Score: Mechanical Asynchronicity (2019-2022)	Unrepeating-repeat P&C (2022)	Fryn Tennyson Jesse: Her & Me (2022)	_
			(manual)	(hover even)		Ghost Heirloom: Blackburn Rug/Maier Wallpaper Should there be more included here? Or keep It focused on drawing.	
Titles/works	Nest, Happy Hunting Grounds, Skein, Flock	Gape, Manhole, Old Lady	Looking Again	Side A / Score: Mechanical Asynchronicity. (Score)	Unrepeating-repeat text	Perhaps the her words my voice - connects to comparisons to past works. Sample creators and me? Sound and repetition, Details and aspect change. Micro/macro	KEY words that come from the tex boxes and beyond.
Pattern : pattern 'pat(a)n noun 1 a repeated decorative design: a		Pattern is taken and dissected from an historical lace draft. Each work is a fragment or part of this historical diagram.					
 a reparted decorative design: a neat blue herringbone pattern. an arrangement or design regularly found in comparable objects: the house had been built on the usual pattern. 		Patern also found in the repetition of words, initially seen as a series of lines, which construct the works. Gape: repeated triangles are found					
• require an university to control sequence discerning happens or is done: a complicating factor is the change in working patterns the murders followed neared pattern the school is located a few kilometers away and located a few kilometers away and s run on the pattern of other and second a few kilometers away and s run on the pattern of other and second s run on the pattern of other and s run on the pattern of other and s run on the pattern of other and s run of the pattern of the pattern of other and s run of the pattern of	Pattern in found in multiple and various places within each work. Nest has an overall pattern taken from the background of the Jacobean hedgroead. It has been turned into a full repeat – both pdown & r/left. It also have a	when uter house use with the second and drawn is from over and the second and drawn overhapping partially to create connections. Building thit has a constructed new. There are also gast off. The partial second are also gast of the simple colour choices of yellow, black, and green - with the gast blackdown black.					
 2 a model or design used as a guide in needlework and other crafts: make a pattern for the zigzag edge. a set of instructions to be 	and the Jacobean bedspread which both are derived from. Happy Hunting Grounds: pattern is found within these free hanging	spiders-like web initial design the radiating out loops are still seen but the colour changing. At times singular colours start to create rhythm but then falter as there is no accurate					Origin object Drawing Samplers Decorative motifs within source material
followed in making a sewn or knitted item: <i>the bag contained</i> wool, <i>needles</i> , <i>and a pattern for a</i> <i>sweater</i> . • a wooden or metal model from	drawings within the drawing its self. Drawing from and enlarging from small stitched samplers – there is pattern in the repeated stitch as drawn.	pattern to follow. The wall drawing obviously follows the same similar pattern but treated with a line rather than filling in the spaces the line makes.		The drawn line taken from historical lace draft – recreated into a series of lines that are played by 4 musicians + music box.			Repeated line Layout, installation Fragment Repetition of words (in drawing) Repetition of words (in text)
 casting: to make a split mould a wooden pattern has to be made first. a sample of cloth or 	Skein: a combination of historical samplers and my drawings. Pattern is found within the individual works. Decorative edges, constructions by Decorative edges, constructions by	Old Lady – pattern is initially found within the subtlety of the mounted drawing. A white background created of herrinebone - assue nattern. The		Rhythm and pattern are heard in the music box sound work. Beautifully taken from the lace line a single line is created and played – it is the repetition	Pattern within the repetition within the text. Words, phrases and texts. The piece is an example of	Double sided drawings – these works have pattern within the line/text drawings found on the surface. On the	Colour Subtle Negative space
wallpaper: [as modifier] : it is easier to choose carpets from the roll than from a pattern book.	stitch, etc. similar pattern is found in the drawings as these are appropriated copies from the	piece sits on different backgrounds in different locations. In AirSpace gallery an more elaborate pattern is created		that gives the sense of pattern. With in the wider score piece there are	performative research. It enacts what it discusses. It holds pattern and repetition within its enacting.		Flow rhythm again, and again
3 an example for others to follow: he set the pattern for	originals.	of an unjulating series of pink mounts. This is a fragment blown up	Pattern is found in the flow and rhythm	 further patterns found in the following: Taken from historical starting 	Each page offering similar three	The works are moved and shown	play with words subject/object relation (performative)
subsequent study . verb [with object]	HOCK: enlarged stitched birds taken from historical samplers. Pattern is found in the repeated stitch/drawn	and when considered at a distance – the while space can begin to be seen as the bottom of decorative lace.	of the text. I here are repeated paragraphs again and again, also in the play with words and word layout.	 Dots on film Layering of 4 drawings 	components yet differing. The topic is on pattern and	differently throughout the exhibition. Pattern is created through this change as well as the new configurations.	sound same but different repletion of others words – quotes.
design: he was sitting on a soft carpet patterned in rich colours the boxes are patterned	layout of the birds. While not a direct repeat or formal 'pattern' the birds are mimicking a traditional V	Manhole: a long wall drawing of dual colour way – drawing the negative space between the lines – creating a	Images / documentation of drawings – all show pattern of various types.	 Lines Lines Repeated playing of the same piece but each time variant. 	The drawing repeats. It holds the pattern of the two trees of life within	Her/me Pattern of repetition of each section,	Multiple versions of same thing (repetition)
with black and white chevrons.	shape of migrating birds.	web or website structures it flows	Subject of the text as well as embodies it.	 Pattern from side a/side b 	it. Pattern of drawn line and text.	Pattern in the stitched background	

unrepeating	2 give a regular or intelligible form to : the brain not only receives information, but interprets and patterns it. • (pattern something on fifter) give something a form based on that of (something else): the catching is patterned on arbitrary ways and the category of the catching is patterned on arbitrary of the category of BIGIN Middle English pattors' something serving as a model, from 0:4 French (see gatzon). The change in sense is from the idea of a pattorn giving an example to be copied. Meatheast in the second syllable occurred in the Stechartury by description of the sense.	Cross references - mapping Danica Maier mapping
The unrepeating is found in the following: thundering of the 3d stitched line thundering the 3d stitched line thand for awing painted (within the pieces) -band for aduced / Copy from original/appropriation Same aducet - birts - but different is anne east source material insage - bird - but treated different is anne east source material insage - bird - but treated different elements - Letters, and words. - Letters, and words. - Letters, and words over and over again - Salen - was mintra on the come of two walls. Both sides similar but differents.		ces - mapping
The unrepeating is found in the following: +Hand drawing/painted (within the pleces) -read produced / Copy from the original/pappropriation -Text and words. Repeating but through hand -Smilar plece in different situations Mounted plece changes site plece changes -Hand drawn patterns	down from top right hand comer and is matched with the mounted drawing ontop. The mounted drawing also holds are repeated next pattern – through with bright and more varied colours.	
There are only 9 pangraphs throughout. All are repeated a variety of times, Each time different parts of the paragraph are greed and crossed reares are used when repeated. (For variants and elaboration) Text/words within the writing, similar words used/highlighted. Use my drawn works but with words. About its ablied and 'doing' its subject. It preforms the unrepeating repeat. All the text is taken from leave are my other text used as a starting point develop this work. Say something new. Playton of words. Deteriorating text		
 In the four scores - each differently noticed and played yol different musicians Historical lace draft for a Northgham Lace Machine. Re-drawing and dissection of the lace draft. Placing this now one long accompositional decision making. This pleve draft score through the found draw line returned the transit process of sound creation or compositional decision making. This pleve was both sculptural installation and sound creation accorned the this. Martin e-turning the recorded sound creation occurred the this. Anarin e-turning the recorded sound creation the by the 72 notem music boxes of sound creation accorded the sub-score for the musicians to select from streng the resorted sound the sculptural addition of each make to be a sound creating through drawing the lines onto along apphic.core the musicians score was to be found and the same notational with simple rules of where a base note was to be found and the musice drawing of the final apphic score for the ways of the found apphic score and a length of each the scores drawing of the final apphic scores. Musicians notated apphic scores and a second on why investors. Performance of combination of live and area and recorded conversed on sound records. 		
 Subject of the text and performance of the text Subject Quotes – are all focused on this subject Invitation within the text to restart knowledge – it will be different experience. Invitation experience each part (of three) to the end then start from the beginning again. Drawing – band created of the same image over and ver again each thre. 		
-Drawings are all of the same thing but different each time. In size and image, rug - drawn overtop each other. -Nemories of the rug, in incomplete in accuracy with real rug in the mix too. - Text, words - Text, words - Redrawing from original 'other' - Regravition in form of each starting Reposalition in form of each starting Reposalition in form of each starting Reposalition in form of each starting		
Unrepeating Minicking Hand drawing / hand production 34-24 Same subject different elements (birds) Same subject different set thing Letters and words Copy from original – approach Minroring but not – same idea treated differently on each site piece Mounted piece and site piece Various components About the subject and doing the subject Distection Different approaches through Collaboration Performance Different sites Spronyme Scorting again Doubling Temporal Scarle Scarle		2

appropriation	memory	Personal na rrative Autoethography	en state s	Danica Maier mapping
Jacobean bedspread Various samplers	Cultural memory – through historical samplers. Personal memory – not directly. However, underlying connections as discussed in the GP text Memory of viewer plays a part in Memory of sever plays a part in	ner-haps narrative connects in a non-direct manner. Connecting to past historis of denir aught to past historis of denir aught to coming from mother how did to but only because 'It was what one did'. The interesting to stich but not for hobby. That the desire to do what hobby. That the desire to do what is of interesting but also to move and stich as hobby – but engage in a critical examination of it through and stich as hobby – but engage in a critical examination of it through and stich as hobby – but engage in a critical examination of it through and stich as hobby. The start was due to my morn's fascination and the to my morn's fascination and the to me about it but I ve never become that interested in I. I did ask here that interested in the samplers		
A series of historical lace diagram/draft	Cultural / historical memory – through lace drafts. Personal memory – not so directly Memory of viewer plays a part in viewing repeats	Similar to previous box. Interest in lace and lace making but not as hobby or even necessarily as the material action. But to explore the material action. But to explore the drawing.		
Yes, from my own previous texts	Personal memory discussed within the text and its connection to practice interests Memory of viewer plays a part in viewing repeats	Yes. Direct, personal narrative within, speaking of background and personal history – interspersed with discussion of line, decoration, pattern, repetition		
One historical lace draft	Cultural / historical memory – through lace drafts. Personal memory – not so directly Memory of viewer plays a part in listering repeats	history of music from childhood and within family. Mother and grandmother both musicians and music trackets: in interest in lace through a critical examination of drawing.	 Performance of multiple versions of same 'piece' seth time building or descending in scale. Different locations create different and every changing permeation. Each piece never the same (more so than within usual performance yet different to improv) 	
Others words/quotes	Memory of viewer plays a part in viewing repeats	Direct discussion of unrepeating- repeat. This topic flows much through my life in entros of critical intreests, education, personal, cycles of like ext.		
Wallpaper, Native American nug	Personal memory and enerothered/imagined past of another- failed memory, processes of trying to enerother something it toought was clear. Adving mcfamily for their memory of it. but younger sister has some memory of the das collided it with other domestic objects. My mom misunderstood and found a picture of it for me. And my data had no memory of it. Memory of viewer plays a part in viewing repeats, memory of the changes. The wallpaper place was directly from the wallpaper place was directly from the wallpaper place was directly from removed and sent to me. Her/me Yes – intersection of my remembered and imagined connections between both frym and my own histories.	Direct personal narrative of remembering. Both side of family coming together on a single double side her average and side b both sides her and together or becomes a hole. (much like I an from both side of family) Names (and nicknames) of older generation family used on the different drawings.		
Appropriation	MEMORY Cultural memory Personal memory Memory of 'vewing/stening experience Family memory	Personal narrative Embedded Embedded Childhood taught skills Subject/objecti.interest Direct personal stories Past narrative Past narrative Family histories – non direct narrative Memory Remembered Inserpret memory Remembered Chost helioom		

S

line	drawing	Archive/collection research	hyperphantasia		Cross referen Danica Maier mapping
Line of letters, line of text. Lots of consideration around the drawn line and how it can be like or mimic the stitched line.	Yes. Back mounted drawings, free handing drawings, wall drawings.	Working within and from the Collection and Usner galleries texple collections.	Not sure how this is within the workbut very much a key part of how I think and conceive of the word.		Cross references - mapping Danica Maier napping
Yes. Line of letters, works Line of lace. Lines within the draft – all different colour, unpicking through redrawing to understand them	Yes. Back mounted drawings in collaboration with wall drawings	Working within and from the Lace Archive at NTU	Not sure how this is within the work - but very much a key part of how I think and conceive of the word.		
Yes – lines of written text – discussing the line of thread and line of pencil. Crossed out lines of text	Drawings are used alongside the text- to aid in embedded understanding of what I an specifically/ not specifically discussing	Not so much - other than use of my own text. The images within though are from works that have used archinu/collection research	Not sure how this is within the work- but very much a key part of how I think and conceive of the word. The text creates a highly visual experience within my head. One reason why my writing is highly evocative of visuals.		
Yes. Lines redrawn from historical draft. Separated out to enable them to become music.	Yes, Drawing as initial graphic score	Work developed from a single historical ace draft found within the Lace Archive	Not sure how this is within the work – but very much a key part of how I think and conceive of the word.		
Lines of text – in the writing. lines of words in the drawing.	Yes. Drawings as 1 third of the chapter	Working again with the Jacobean bedspread. Plus quotestat fact of others as material.	Not sure how this is within the work - but very much a key part of how I think and conceive of the word. The text creates a highly visual experience within my head. One reason why my writing is highly evocative of visuals.		
Lines of letters, words, in the drawings. Each one different, each similar. Some of the drawings purposly have lines in	Yes. Double mounted drawings. Morable to show both sides. Her /me	Index and process and my own imagined memory and uses suffer connection between her imagined memories and my own remembered one. This intertwining led to thinking a lot about the imagined and remembered memory of both her and 1. This piece directly uses my memories of my misce all grand parents native American rug and the exclual wall paper from my paternal family cottage visa - from archive research - 14 boxes within the IRC and septicially from the biogenburb by Javane celebrander.	Direct us of visual memory to explore and create the run piece. 	Her/me Yes directly from Joanna C. blography	
LINE Mimic of stitch/other Letters/words	Drawing Hand done Words Built up from text Re-drawing Other starting point Copy Copy Mounted Installation Installation In ad of text (writing) Graphic score Point of collaboration – discussion Movable Double siled	Archival/collection research Working with and from Controlled rummage Residency Single and multiple Presental archive/memory	Hyperphantasia Personal connection to cognation and therefore development and experience of the world.	Historical starting point Personal texts Others words (quotes) Biographics Archival research Controlled rummage	4

Text/eppanded Language - based	Writing	Sound	Installation/site specific		Cross refere Danica Maier mapping
Ves, drawings all created with words connected to birds, sitch and mean fremal genitalia	Writing about the overall wider exploration in Grafting propriety.	Commissioned Reb Filnt to create a sound work for the sound wall outside the galaction	Yes, Using the wall as the picture plan. I wanted to use the full space and allow it to fill. Each work was fung or installation in how it was fung or made in the space mounted work Wall paintings with mounted work and historical bedpread and historical bedpread as a picture of a large 'doud' or cluster of works. Flock to mimick the V of birds migrating home.		Cross references - mapping Danica Maier mapping
Yes, drawings all created with words connected to lace and mean female genicalia	No. writing about wider overall project in Burmnock: Lace Archive	5	Yes. All three, wall painting and mounted work.		
Ves Expanded language. While aspects of a are more traditional writing other areas are playing with word sounds, happes and meanings.	Yes this is a text-based piece (practice) Expanded languages for sure within the	There are other version of the piece as spoken word.	Page layout is important. But no so much 's the specific this text	Subtle/hidden connected lines throughout	
The language of music is corrupted and created through drawing	No. wrting about wider overall project in our publication	Yes. Point of piece	Yes, combination of installation and performance	Lines on the record player – going round and round. One long line. Line of the music box tape Line of dots to be played by music box	
Yes, through the written piece as well as within the drawings. The drawings are using the various unpicking parts of the work un-re- peat — which is reflected in the written text	Yes. This is a written piece	5	Sked within the book. It is an installation of sorts. The elements are specifically thoreographed to work together in a specific way.		
The words are the names of my 'greats' from both sides of the family. Her/me Viss - I: is primarily a text-based piece. Using language as a mode to explore quotes, meaning, blography. Playfulness of what is the quote and the 'rest' of the sentence(s).	No. writing about wider project in Burmock: TRC Her/Inse Yes: This pice has a contextual written part as well as the core of It which is selected quotes from Fryn's Biography	no Her/me Yes - spoken word both live and recorded	Yes. The works are moved weekly. On a shelf. 	them mimicking of the woven lines of the rug. 	
Text/expanded Language - based Drawings Letter/words to create a visual image Subversive use of words in the visuals Playful use of words Quotes to speak of a topic Change of use of kppts of words in drawing	Writing Usuals of text Writing about Performative writing Espanded languages Elayful, subversions	Sound Commissioned sound – led to my own creation Spoken words Spoken words Cubers Others words my voice Music	Installation/site specific Well - full Space Cloud/cluster Subte connections Mimick other rhapes Connections between wall and mounted drawings Composed parts Composed parts Concestion/cluster Choreographed elivents Microeble/champeable works Various iterations	Line of text Unpicking Redraving Pencil Penc	U

Drawing	Aspect Change	Collaborative	Domestic	Decorative/ornate	Cross refere Danica Maier mapping
Yes, mounted drawings and wall drawings.	Yes. How you view the work changes from your understanding. Especially with the large wall been it seems like wallpaper at first, then you understand it is hand painted, then that it is line, letters, words the audience and rot all will see it female gentalia. Additionally, there is a small mouried drawing that might be invisible to begin with. Until looking with attention has occurred. Each stage of 'seeing' ore perceiving reveals that the work is not as expected. That it shifts. This is different but also similar in the drawn works are cross over between, that works are cross over between, that works are created from deters not lines and then words not enters. This again takes time and attention. Slow looking or close observation.	No, expect with the original makers of the historical items.	Wallpaper, samplers, stitch,	Yes, taking the Jacobean bedspread to created wallpaper like works and taking decorative elements from them to re-draw. All this work is highly decorative. Yet this is completed /undermined by the reading/realisation of the terms/text being used. Desire to have people think twice about the expected norm around them	Cross references - mapping Danica Maier mapping
Yes, mounted drawings and wall drawings.	Yes very similar to previous. That the works are drawings not stitch. That they are ines not sould letters not lines, words not letters.	Collaborative overall project to create independent works	Lace, decorative	Yes. Taking lines from lace diagram reates a highly ornate outcome. Also, my treatment and colour choose add this the ornate nature of the works.	
As supporting documentation.	Yes. You have to switch between the black words/seen words and the unseen/greyed out words. To shift between what is being said and how it is	ō	Ves. Subject and narrative have elements of the domestic. As do some of the mages of works	Yes. The pattern within, the subject discussed.	
There is a drawing that is the initial score.	This occurs within the unpicking and understanding of where the sound has been created from. That the slow-moving film is actually moving not static. That the blow film is score being parset	Yes, collaborative project, with some independent elements	Lace, decorative	There are elements within the performances that are perhaps considered	
Yes, series of drawings sited within the book.	Yes, through the slow unpicking of the text. That it preforms itself and reveals. Each element seen as a single unit to the end and then to over between the quotes and my own words. That the drawing is 'sited' in the book and unfolds on each turn of the paok and unfolds on each turn of the paok and unfolds on each turn of the paok the words will also through itself. But never fully. That the drawing is not aut order drawing. letters	5	Drawings based on bedspread	Yes, the drawings are based on decorative Jacobean bedspreads	
Yes, double sided back mounted drawings	Yes, similar to all the other drawings the shift from stich to line, to letter to words (names in the case). Additionally, that they are doubled drawings that they are doubled drawings while throughout the exhibition. 	Collaborative overall project to create independent works	Based on my family wallpaper and rug Her/me Yes - domestic nature of exploring a persons previoual life	Yes, the source materials are domestic with a decorative element. This comes through in the works greated. Her/Inte Yes in stitched piece. Perhaps in layout?	
Drawing Drawing with words Use of line and letters Series of drawings	Adjence Viewing the work Adjence viewing the work Movement in space to see Macro/micro Decails Time and attention Decails Time and attention Decails Time and attention Decails Time and attention Cross over Hidden works Hidden works Cross over Hidden works Hidden vorks Matching connections Cross over Matching connections Matching connections Shift of expectations Shift of expectations Shift from one to another Hidden text	Collaborative Collaborative Independence Dialogue (Bohm) Project v practice	Domestic Wallpaper Lace Auterials Subject and narrative Personal subject/life Home	Decorative/omate Wallpaper Historical starting point Pattern Corrupted Convolt Colour	6

Appendix C: Identifying Themes, Cross references with the Creative Works

Hand made	Labour/process					Expanded Tectile	Cross referen Danica Maier mapping
Yes. All work is hand drawn. Playing with mimicking the hand stitched processes through the drawn line.	acts Mimicking of processes from origin source	Labour is important within the work as it is the handmade. Time 'giving' to the work and the repetitive, laborious process. Connections to flow and mediative	2) time and labour within the making processes.	the original sampler. And my hand labour of 1) attempting to draw like stitch	Labour plays a key role here in both the labour of young girls creating	Yes. The project was exploring how to 'draw like sitch. Exploring the line found in both – one is 2d the other is 3d. the works appared as drawn line. Working with and from an historical textle collection	Cross references - mapping Danica Maier mapping
Yes. My hand drawings of the hand drawing before the mechanical processes would have kicked into the lace making process.	acts Mimicking of processes from origin source	Labour is important within the work as it is the handmade. Time 'giving' to the work and the repetitive, laborious process. Connections to flow and mediative	2) time and labour within the making processes.	And my hand labour of 1) attempting to draw like stitch		Yes. Refrawing and exploring the making processes of lace – through mechanical lace sets of lace through mechanical lace sets.	
Directly discusses the hand made both in writing/visuals and stitching/making	Discusses labour and time-consuming nature.					Yes, discusses I- part of the core focus on the text. It is in a sense a repeated textile. Woven with lines crossed our and words raise differ warp and warf)	
Hand-made graphic score – that allowed the musicians to add their mark	Labour in construction of first graphic score. Labour of playing the piece?					Yes. Redrawing as music score an historical lace diagram the sounds are essentially a transposition of the sounds of lace.	
Yes – the drawings are. All of the same (two) images but all different. – interesting they will then be reproduced within the publication.	Labour within the creation of drawings, time and repeated action, taken over and over again differently each time.					Ves, the drawings are based on the Jacobean bed spread. It is the handmade eress of this bedspread that creates the difference between the tree to trees of the sets.	
Through the hand drawn memory explored and aided in finding the 'real' version of the run.	Her/me Yes, labour of the stitch piece. Plus the labour in the reading, go through	Labour within the development process. Using memory of my family – recreasing again and again different versions to find the 'correct' or 'real' one. Creating a new overlapping version of the piece.				No Her /me no ves. One side of the drawings are based on the memory of my grandparents kilm. The linier drawing recreates the woven line that created the piece. Her /me The sitch piece on the background. Discussion within – links to textiles and wider textile agends. (explore this uniter perhaps)	
Hand made Hand drawn Copy of stitch works Copy of other textile processes	Over and over, again Labour of viewer to 'see' Labour through memory	Time – giving to the work Flow and mediative acts Mimicking of original labour processes Time – consuming Hireing labour of musicians Repeated action	and contemporary Repeated labour Handmade Time	Labour/process Labour of historical making processes		Sute specific drawings Noturned drawings Static and changing drawing point Drawing of other things – copy, mimic Drawing as sore – starting point for sound works Collaborative with musicians Double stated Hidden drawing Colour penci Double stated Hidden drawing Sut face of the drawing Colour penci Double stated Hidden drawing Prevents mimics Stitching through drawing Women's issues Stitching through drawing Women's issues Stitching through drawing Women's issues Labour More and a traves Refrawing through textile methods (with Net extiles) Hidden drawing Hepeated neture Historical issues around labour and Method neture Historical sous around labour and Historical sous around labour and Historical sous around labour and Historical sous around labour and Method (girls doing samplers, industrial making processes)	7

Transposition: transfer to a different place or concet: an evacuation order transposed the school from kent to Shropshire in the sphere of love to that of work. • write or play (music) in a different ker from the orginal: the bases are transposed down an octave. Translation: • the conversion of something from one form or medium into another; th (seems to be primarily language focused) Modulation: is defined by Gérard Hardin and Gyntha Picot (1990) as the allow us to orgens the anne allow us to express the same allow us to another.	Practice research/performative	Cross references - mapping Danica Maier mapping
Yes - frem stitched line to drawn line. This project was perhaps the first time (directly considered this for stich work - followed this for stick haves to exist (although this had exercised)	Yes - the work preforms within it the one themes it is discussion. It had to be experienced to understand fully.	es - mapping
Yes - re-creation of drawn lace line from diagram into drawn line. Through the unpicking and redrawing – understanding occurs.	Yes - the work preforms within it the core themes it is discussion. It had to be experienced to be the state and fully.	
Text taken from other writings and turned into performative piece. There are two ways this piece has been experienced -through the reading.	Yes - the work preforms within it the core themes it is discussion it had to be experienced to understand fully.	
 Nets definitely – multiple versor interaction or transposition or canoparation or canoparation or occurring. Historical lace draft for a Northgran dissection of the process of the lace draft. Placing this new one fue lace draft. Placing this new ore the lace draft. Placing this new ore transitional decision making. This part was both scular lace and so be played on 20 note music lows. Careful to be played on 20 note and 30 note music lows. Careful and the lace draft. Placing this new one found draw line trafter than musical or compational decision making. This place was both scular line lace draft music notations. The correlation of sound creation occurred the this en Marinn rectiming the musical to score that sone was then drawing the 27 note to create a choice-based soure for the amendations. Dankar to realing a different version from the same notations. Dankar to be dured and multiple through the lines onto a long graphic score a base note was to be found and the simple rolated on the drawings - to form collaborative erading structure of the fue graphic score a base note weeken the scalaborative ender the same notations. Musicians roctated and multiple trafter we spaphic score ender the graphic score a base note weeken the graphic score a base note weeken the score was the fue and multiple roctation score and and rescored on vinyl records. 	Yes - the work preforms within I the core themes It is discussion. It had to be experienced to understand that	
Could the three elements here be considered for any position of the elements of the modulations of a tear sposition there? Each is "discussing or exploring the same focus but each offerently. Together then build on each other	Yes – the work preforms within it the core themes it is discussion. It had to be experienced to understand fully.	
Yes – from memory to drawing. From real to drawing. Playing with the printed and the weave – how to do in drawing The cross between her words and my voice – how does this connection to these ideas – modulation perhaps the change in point of view from her to my	All the erawings are meticulously hand drawn. Her/me Blown up biolograph of sitch piece. Shows the hand made-ness of the sitch core themes it is discussion. It had to be experienced to understand fully. Her/me The works preforms the research. Working through the archive. Speaking of her and me. Embedded or embodied knowledge.	
Transposition: / Modulation: from stich line to drawn from draw to text from todraw to text from rougen to drawn from draw to text unpicking and redrawing others words always drawn with word always drawn with word words as visual/asimage (side note: what about the similar way in which tus transposition/modulation and intertextuality-sition/modulation and intertextuality-site the squal from sure word in the similar way in the same way? At these three equal- part of I)	Hand drawing as part of mechanical processes Creative process – addition with the musiculars adding their own "hand" in Exploring memory through the hand drawing Practice research/performative research The work preforms the research The work preforms the research The work preforms the research the experimented in the real to fully see it (Jundestand the work Pretty much the fully way in which I undestand or learn. Through the experiential	~

	unsure – perhaps the use of terms in the works relies on this. Cultural understanding of the double meaning of server and the terms of the double meaning the terms of terms of the double meaning the terms of term	the use of terms on this Cultural the double the double the double understanding of the double meaning of terms.	the use of terms on this Cultural the double understanding of the double meaning tasks to see and statis to see and statis to see and statis to see and statis to see and unfold for those ever, the work details to see and unfold for those to not spent. The	the use of terms on this Cultural the double the double understanding of the double meaning all to see and at spend the every the work sis not spent. The the spent the sis not spent. The the spent the double of the spent of the details to see and unfold for those reward those the spent the the spent the the spent. The details enrich the spent the double of the spent. The details enrich the spent the the spent. The details enrich	aps the use of terms lies on this Cultural of the double ms. Unsure – perhaps the use of terms in the works relies on this. Cultural of the double meaning of terms. In decision of terms in the speed the series speed the source and unriad for those in the speet. The the speed the source and unriad for those throwers. It howers, the work also works' if time is not spent. The details enrich in reward those throw is not spent. The details enrich in the stance and location of the weeks to the work is important, part the distance and location of the the distance and location of the the distance and location of the the distance and location of the	les on this. Cultural the works relies on this. Cultural of terms. Taills crucial here: and remain to S&P: There are many dealis to see and unfold for those that spend the time to look. The dealis to see and unfold for those that spend the time to look. The dealis on the time to look. The dealis on the time to rot spent. The dealis end the work is important of seeing deavor and location of the viewer to the work's important part the work is montant une, letter, words une, letter, words	n aning a aning
	nns in Yes, own Intertectuality - taken my own anng vound and reusing them does this	nrs in Yes, own intertectuality – taken my own anng words and reusing them does this count?	nns in Yes, own Intertextuality – taken my own aning words and reusing them does this count?	nrs in Yes, own interextuality - taken my own aning words and reusing them does this count? Lupicking the 5 origoated paragraphs. f Unpicking the 5 origoated paragraphs. f Seeing/hearing the repetition of the paragraphs in the exact seneres suut	ms in very words and reusing themdoes this count? tots of details to follow and find. f tot Seeing/hearing the orepeated paragraphs. f tot Seeing/hearing the repetition of the also in the surgence part The unread/unsaid lines	nrs in Yes, own intertextuality - taken my own aning words and reusing themdoes this count? Unpicking the 5 orepated paragraphs. f th Seeing/hearing the repetition of the paragraphs in the exact sameness but also in the subtle divergence. aart The unread/unsaid lines The connection to the works shown lace Connection to sounds and letters.	 Yes, own Intertextuality - taken my own aning words and reusing themdeet this count? count? Lots of details to follow and find. Units of details to follow and find. See Units of details the appeared paragraphs. f Seeing/hearing the expection of the also in the subtle divergence. aart The unread/unsaid lines The connection to the works shown laters. lace Connection to the details. a word, or What is happing overall and what is happening in the details. a word, or
ms in aning	Childo	count?	count? Lots of details to follow and find. Unpicking the 9 repeated paragraphs.	count? Lots of details to follow and find. Unpicking the 5 repeated paragraphs. Seeing/hearing the repetition of the paragraphs in the exact sameness but	count? ee Lots of details to follow and find. f Unpicking the 9 repeated paragraphs. f Daragraphs in the exact sameness but also in inthe sufficience. and The unread/unsaid lines	count? ee Lots of details to follow and find. f Unpicking the 9 repeated paragraphs. f also in the subtle divergence. also in the subtle divergence. The unread/unsaid lines The unread/unsaid lines The connection to the works shown lace Connection to sounds and letters.	count? ee Lots of details to follow and find. f Unpicking the 9 repeated paragraphs. f th paragraphs in the subtle divergence. also in the subtle divergence. ant The unread/unsaid lines The unread/unsaid lines The connection to the works shown lace Connection to the works shown lace What is happing overall and what is happening in the details. a word, or

	The big picture / large piece verses the small details within, then need to see the work on these two levels as well as in between The installation verses the works. The installation verses the works the installation verses the component title (or like a family name) and there an individual title. Nest: pilgeon hole the drawing v the stitch or pencil installation verse the component parts. The need to 'see' both.	Unpicing the visuals within the drawings crossing over 5 from out to another to make links and connection. There are pairs as well as other versions to find.	Cross references - mapping Danica Maier mapping
		Is within the overs from one links and ne pairs as well find.	oing
Time of viewing slow looking to unriol and understand	The big picture / large piece verses the small details within. Then need to see the work on these two levels as Additionally, the mounted / static Additionally, the mounted / static work verses the whole larger piece/ wall drawing.		
Time to read – a temporal and linear action. Within the text there are various cycles that tely on memory (inherently temporal)	Directly discusses the macro-micro while also enacting it within the text. The need to see the repeating of paragraphs. Of repeated words the directions of words out of a larger text. The flow of text, how different emphasis in on different themes form the same paragraph. Seeing what is crossed out and what is left in - repeated.		
Yes-In process of production. In listening experience To memory to capture repeat or Just to hear. Slowness to experience and understand Slowness of the historical film going in and coming out. Music box piece performance – durational for me – watching the historical piece go slowly in and out. While winding the music box piece along.	Lace diagram moving in very slowly. The sound from the drawing lace The graphic score The dots/notes on the floor The sounds of the record v live One instrument amongst the whole		
Temporal in reading. Needing three sweeps. Temporal in discussion within, the seeing and reserve as pages turn.	The 'whole' plece is three components - text, quotes and drawing, Invited to experience each separately and then as a whole.	The gaps between the quotes and words. What is being said and what is not. The fall into 'choos' from pattern. The pattern within the text	
Temporal in the need to see details - to look closely. Temporal in memory and time to process and create the work. Temporal in listening or reading Temporal across time frames in the past Vesi to see and read of sep back for the larger details and seep back for the larger	Line, letter, word. The unit (each drawing) verse the whole. The narrative verse the piece The hidden backside of each drawing – also a drawing. The change of the display – weekly – bigger picture of change verse the daily expectation of what you might see. Her / Ine Her / Ine Her / Ine the double meaning of quotes (firer / me) in the preamble text book ist. Mostly within the three book ist. Mostly within the three book ist. Mostly within the three the dud 'quotes' and then context of the other words		
Labour of making Labour of making Of experience the work Time to make connection between the details Macro-micro Attention to details Slow looking Reading and reneating Looking and relooking Cycles Listening Memory of experience Slowness Slowness Slowness Hernory – mine Across time frames (past/present) Across time frames (past/present)	Macro-micro Big picture v small Installations – details attention to detail Installations – details attention Drawing – where from What drawing is Connection with the original Mounted / static work v wall piece Woods for the trees Pay attention Flow of text and mage Experience of the work Durational = moving slowing Interlinks details within One instrument v the whole Vihole v details Caude Component parts – that create a whole Whole v details Caude Component parts – that create a whole Whole v details Caude Component parts – that create a whole Vihole v details Caude	Gaps between Fail into chaos Unpicking Memory – of viewer with Looking/experiences Temporal Background	10
How to evidence/share with examiners	Development from one piece to the	Autoblic: or something that has a purpose in, and not apart from, itself.	
---	--	---	--
Grafting Propriety hard copy	The work developed from more general explorations of rextile design and pattern through drawing processes the works had component processes but work and to necessarily be whole 'without them all. Is specifically started the use of component parts that create a 'whole' without them all. Is specifically started the use of individually. Also started the 'hosting' of the wall painting with the mounted work on top. The wall painting connects on top. The wall painting connects past works of face wall drawings. This also led to specific focus on the past works of face wall drawings. It also specifically led to the development of the Bummock project and working together with Andrew Bracey.	Not sure about this one – this is perhaps more connected to methods – not sure its within the works or is so within all the works as to not be a 'thing' I sit not the point of artistic practice?	
Bummock: Lace Archive hard copy	Burmack developed out of conversations that Bracey and Ihad after the Stitch and Peacock show. The combination of wall painting and mounted drawing developed out of the Net installation. The drawing the line of thread also developed directly from stitch and peacock as well as previous works to this.	See to the left	
Journal of illustration Publication/PDF (hard copy????)	Developed from two texts - one from grafting propriety about the sitch and peacote exhibition amongst other past drawing works. The repeated action and embeddedness of is also derived from the repeat within the previous works	See to the left	
RC and publication (hard copy)	Developed directly from the Bummock Lace archive research, projects and work. It has been a key moment of undestanding and clarify about several things including collariation this perpendence. It has helped with also the undestanding of the unrepeating repeat, glich line and treative modulation.	See to the left	
Pattern and chaos publication/pdf of publication (hard copy??)	Directly links to all previous works as subject matter as well as experience process. Also links to looking again – as to the 'performative' mode of the works, text. The drawings within a subject of the the previous works with the lacebean bedspread.	See to the left	
Bummock: Tennyson Research Centre publication (hard copy) Her Words, My Voice – hard copy	Directly connection to previous drawings, mimicking of pencil line to woven line, of words. These uses names rather than previous genitalia un repeating repeat chapter, Her/me Links to use of quotes as previously used within unrepeating repeat (and other works beyond here) as well as readings to audience from the original format of looking again text. Additionally connects to other works within the wilder Gros Cut Mil.	See to the left	ves, to listen, to read. To consider the various view points. To see the back,
How to evidence/share with examiners	Development from one plece to the next From one to the next. Connections back to Jacobean bedspread Litearned from one to the next Autotelic – response above – 	Autotelle:: or something that has a purpose in, and not apart from, itself. Connection to artistic research all being autotelic. That the focus in on the discovery and unpricking, Learning rather then creating for the space.	Hearing/Istering looking for the subtle details/ Attention needed Surrounding the vewer Consideration of the different components Bringing components together in ones head

Other evidence in publication - Craft and the Handmade: Making the intangible visible, no telos, Spode: publications, Returns, (could attached as appendix or have in real life if restaged a wall peice?)

Further evidence: what about restating a work?

Cross references - mapping Danica Maier mapping



Example of Mapping process undertaken on LiquidText.

19	19: A	19	19	19 19	19	19
1972/24	LCNUG : 1927/2710 A	LCNUG : 1927/2696	LCNUG : 1927/2681	LCNUG : 1927/2593	LCNUG : 1927/2508	LCNUG : 1927/2271
Lillwall. Elizabeth	Stoakes, Maria	Vickers. Mary	Jackson, Elizabeth	Clayton. Mary	Foster, Ann	Johnson, Hannah
sampler	sampler	sampler	sampler	sampler	sampler	sampler
A sampler worked in finely stitched coloured silks on linen with four verses surrounded by various motifs of flowers, plants, animals and insects and enclosed in a border of white and red roses. The maker's name and date are stitched below.	A sampler worked in coloured silk on woolen fabric, with verses and small motifs of crowns with initial (e.g King. Queen etc), birds, flowers, and a large flower spray in centre. Signed and dated at the bottom with the age of the maker, 13 years.	A sampler worked in thick, vibrant coloured wools on coarse white canvas, with alphabets divided by lines of decorative stitching. The worker's name, age(10), school and date are stitched in red below, and the sampler is enclosed in a blue border.	A sampler worked in coloured silks on a loose weave fabric, depicting alphabets, numbers and the maker's name, with a verse and the maker's name, home, age and the date below. A man and woman and various motifs along bottom, with strawberry border.	A sampler worked in coloured wools on linen in coloured wools, with two verses of a hymn, top centre, the West Front of Lincoln Cathedral (named) surrounded by small motifs of trees and flowers etc. Signed at the bottom with place and date.	A sampler worked in coloured threads on linen canvas, with a verse from the Bible and the makers name 'Anne Foster. Harmston. aged 11 years 1851'. The text is surrounded by simple motifs - birds, flowers, trees, animals, angels and Adam and Eve.	A sampler worked on linen in cross and tent stitch with various motifs in coloured wools - a peacock in the centre surrounded by flowers, fruit and landscapes and a border of flowers and the text 'Hannah Johnson. Her Work Aged 10. 1847'.
	W III					and the second

Appendix D: The Collection Museum, Historical Textiles from "Stitch & Peacock"

	verse and a short dictum - "I was born in Ireland in the ye nd I landed in Quebec in 1832".			1980/126
	A sampler worked with two alphabets (upper case and lower case), numbers 1-20, and a central design of stylized trees, flowers and birds. An inscription below reads "Mary Marshall Her Sampler Aged 10 Years Bardney", with motifs below. A sampler worked in coloured wool on cream canvas by Nancy Bell stitched with the alphabet numbers	sampler	Mary Mary	1972/198
	A sampler worked in coloured silks on linen, with alphabets and numbers along the top, a verse in the centre and the name of the maker, her mother and father and her date of birth. Decorated with flowers and enclosed in a honeysuckle border.	sampler	Carr, Ann	LCNUG : 1972/36
AUAA	A sampler worked in coloured silks on linen with the alphabet along the top, a religious verse below and various traditional motifs stitched in the centre and lower sections. The maker's name, her age (13) and the date are stitched below.	sampler	Allens, Ann	LCNUG : 1972/35
	A sampler worked in red, green and blue silks on a hessian fabric with the alphabet, numbers, the makers name and a verse "MAY THE TRIFEL SHOWS RESPECT" stitched above and below a central area of traditional motifs - flowers, birds and trees.	sampler	Wenham, Ann	LCNUG : 1972/33
	A sampler worked in coloured silks on striped linen, with an alphabet of ornate letters, the date, the name and age (10) of the maker and various traditional motifs of crowns, birds, flowers and trees.	sampler	Allen, Isabella	LCNUG : 1972/32
	A sampler worked in cross stitch in coloured silks on linen with a religious verse surrounded by traditional motifs enclosed in a strawberry border. The maker's name and the year are stitched below the verse.	sampler	Allen, Isabella	LCNUG : 1972/27

/30	LCNUG : 1983/10
	Scholey. sampler Sarah
Jacobean Bedspread	
Jacobean Bedspread A large bedspread of Jacobean embroidery, ornately decorated with merl stiching—intertwining branches and foliage with birds, perched on and picking fruit from the boughs. Heavily restored in 1874. 236 x 188 cm.	A sampler worked in cross stitch with coloured silks on linen. A view of the West Front of Lincoln Cathedral is stitced, centre top, with a verse either side, the date and the makers name and age to the left and various simple motifs stitched below.
	で記録

<i>No Telos</i> A NTU Fine Detailed Schedule	<i>No Telos Convivium</i> A NTU Fine Art Research _{Detailed Schedule}	<i>No Telos Convivium</i> A NTU Fine Art Research Project _{Detailed Schedule}				
11 Sept Mon	12 Sept Tue	13 Sept Wed	14 Sept Thurs	15 Sept Friday	16 Sept Sat	17 Sept Sun
Day: -2 Prep	Day: -1 Prep	Day: 0 Prep/Welcome	Day: 1	Day: 2	Day: 3	Day: +1
8:30am Staff	(NTU staff	(NTU staff prepping)	8 am Breakfast at Hotel	8 am Breakfast at Hotel	m B	7 am Breakfast at Hotel
meet at NTU	prepping)	9:20am – SD, ER, ST land	Practices (Emma Cocker)	Practices (Emma Cocker)	Practices (Emma Cocker)	Closing
9:15am Staff						
leave NTU for EM			<u>Becoming – Lostness</u> Lead by Andrew and Katia	<u>Becoming – Dithering</u> Lead by Emma and Derek	<u>Becoming – Close Looking</u> Lead by Danica and Andy	9:10 am Tracy – leaves for airport
!			(full Group 10am – 1pm)	(full Group 10am – 1pm)	(full Group 10am – 1pm)	-
10:15am Check in at Airport						
12:15pm Flight EM to Venice						
			1 pm Lunch	1 pm Lunch	1 pm Lunch	1 pm Lunch
3:25 – NTU staff lands		3:10pm SC lands	Doing Focused Exploration of	Doing Focused Exploration of	Doing Focused Exploration of	
, ,		6:10pm TM lands	practice and beyond	practice and beyond	practice and beyond	
6pm – Check in to hotel		6:45 meet Andy	Led by Andy and Derek (2 small groups' 2:30 – 5:30pm)	Led by Katja and Danica (2 small groups' 2:30 – 5:30pm)	Led by Andrew and Emma (2 small groups' 2:30 – 5:30pm)	
8pm - Dinner		7:15 staff team meet	solo contemplation (6-8pm)	solo contemplation (6-8pm)	solo contemplation (6-8pm)	19:00 pm All others - meet at hotel
		8:00pm ALL to meet at Hotel Lobby	8 pm Convive & Dinner Lead by Steve Dutton remembering's of the day – canturing of the day –	<u>8 pm Convive / Dinner</u> Lead by Tracy Mackenna remembering's of the day –	<u>8 pm Convive/ Dinner</u> Lead by Susan Trangmar remembering's of the day – canturing of the day –	19:30pm Taxi from Hotel to Airport East Midlands flight–
		8:30pm No Telos Manual Guide & Dinner	weaving together of the day - drawing the day - (Full group)	weaving together of the day - drawing the day - (Full group)	weaving together of the day - drawing the day - (Full group)	London flight – Departs 22:30pm

Appendix E: No Telos, Venice Schedule and Information



DAILY SCHEDULE

MAIN SESSIONS

(BECOMING

Led by include certain fruitful or productive qualities that allow oneself opens up for (actualizes,) a different become. one to become without an end goal. Just future. This happens when one incorporates in the present that one makes by exposing outcome. As Finn Janning writes: 'The investment focusing on process and place rather than place or mind-set of becoming No Telos function of these sessions is to lead us into a focused activity together each morning. The two No Telos members these sessions the whole group engaging in one

(DOING)

Two smaller group sessions taking place simultaneously, with each group led by one No Telos member. These sessions are a focused a place and space to test, try and question ideas through engaging in practice together. brought to the group by the session leader exploration of practice and interests, intended as

CONVIVE

Each evening one of our Critical Friends will lead the Convive session, by offering the group provocations and reflections that will form the discussion on the day's actions / events lead into reflection or summing up research in relation to the No Telos theme, this will 10min sharing of their individual interests or basis for our dinner discussion. Starting with a through

part of the event.

PRACTICES

non-judgemental attention and awareness, cultivating a morning practices focus on heightening uncertainty of 'getting lost'? These daily embodied action approach to 'doing nothing', or the not knowing and support the radical purposelessness of What preparatory practices and tactics How do you prepare for goal-less-ness? experience and receptive through

Convive

AFTERS

the group and are not a mandatory suggested and led by anyone from may take any shape or form; can be discussing. These informal events experimenting, us that would like to continue After dinner there may be some of testing, and

PARTICIPANTS

through the prism of No Telos. The theme No activities and actions forming the Convivium are shaping the project together. The different based on the members' practices as seen We have spent the past year discussing and

CRITICAL FRIENDS:

members' practices and proposals for Telos came out of an overarching view of the

the

Convivium

Steve Dutton, Tracy Mackenna, Susan Trangmar

understanding of what we are discussing, and doing. They will reflect /muse /ponder /question a convivial meal. evening discussions that continue informally into on each day's activities and then lead us in the No Telos project by applying pressure to our These individuals will act as Critical Friends to the

RESEARCH ASSISTANTS:

Susi Clark, Elle Reynolds

The No Telos research assistants act as witnesses and documenters for the project. They will participate and be part of the event as well as that are suited to their own interests and event, discussions, activities in, and through, ways record. They will capture the essence of the

In Venice: At NTU: Danica Maier: +44 (0)7795360214

Fine Art Office: +44(0)115 848865

CONTACT DETAILS

Andrew Brown, Emma Cocker, Katja Hock

NO TELOS MEMBERS:

Danica Maier (lead), Andy Pepper, Derek

Sprawson.

Andrew Brown: Emma Cocker Danica.maier@ntu.ac.uk katja.hock@ntu.ac.uk Andrew.brown@ntu.ac.u emma.cocker@ntu.ac.uk

Derek Sprawson Andy Pepper: Andrew.pepper@ntu.ac.uk

Tracy Mackenna: Steve Dutton: s.trangmar@csm.arts.ac.uk s.dutton@bathspa.ac.uk

Elle Reynolds: elleserynolds@gmail.com Susi Clark: susiclark@live.com

MAIN CONTACTS:

ω



Appendix F:"Bummock: TRC", Handout from the Collection Museum Exhibition

Tickets for all events and workshops are available online at www.thecollectionmuseum.com

Please note, places are limited and pre-booking will be necessary

Gallery Tours

2–3pm, 8th January, Exhibition Gallery, with Danica, Andrew and Sarah 2–3pm, 5th February, Exhibition Gallery, with Art Historian, Tennyson and Victorian society expert and Lecturer Jim Cheshire, Danica, and Andrew

Informal artist-led gallery tours where you can find out more about the artists' work, the ideas behind the exhibition and the selection of objects from the Tennyson Research Centre.

The artists will be joined in conversation by Jim Cheshire, Art Historian and Lecturer at the University of Lincoln, on the 5th February.

Reading by Danica Maier

2–3pm, 15th January, Exhibition Gallery, The Collection Museum

Her Words, My Voice is a live reading of quotes taken from Joanna Colenbrander's biography, *A Portrait of Fryn: Biography of F. Tennyson Jesse.* Taking you from Fryn's early years through until after her death, together these quotes give insight into Tennyson's great niece, Fryn, as well as an impression of the artist. Some quotes are direct connections or similarities between them, others are merely thoughts that touched Danica or to which she relates.

Re-versed Poems Workshop with Kate Buckley

2–3.30pm, 12th February, Education Suite, The Collection Museum

The workshop will invite participants to engage directly with Tennyson's poetry, rearranging a selection of his poems to generate their own. Using the 'cut-up technique', introduced by the Dadaists of the 1920s and popularized by writers of the Beat generation, participants will create new poetry from Tennyson's words. The 're-versed' poems will be assembled to form a new and unique text-based artwork made by the participants, which will form part of an online gallery following the workshop. Workshop suitable for all ages and abilities.

Sound in the Gallery Workshop with Ross Oliver

2–3:30pm, 22nd January, Education Suite, The Collection Museum

Sound artist Ross Oliver will deliver a workshop that draws influence from Tennyson's poem Voyage of Maeldune. The poem is rich in themes of listening and hearing, particularly within verses referring to the "Silent Isle" and the "Isle of Shouting". During the workshop participants will be exploring the narratives of both verses and the extreme states of hearing that they both depict using sound recording and listening exercises. Workshop suitable for all ages and abilities.

Bummock: Tennyson Research Centre Symposium 10am-4pm, 19th February, Auditorium

SPEAKERS: Dr. Sarah Bennett, Sue Breakell, Andrew Bracey, Dr. Jim Cheshire, Jenny Gleadell, Danica Maier, Dr. Sian Vaughan

This symposium will explore and expand upon issues arising from the residency and exhibition, *Bummock: Tennyson Research Centre*. The speakers' presentations will include an overview of the Tennyson Research Centre held in the Lincolnshire County Archives, connections between Tennyson, his family and the artworks, importance of the personal within the archive and its materiality, discussion about the sense of 'place' of the archive and these implications, an unpacking of the artists research and work within the TRC. There will be plenty of opportunity for questions and discussion at the end of the presentations. The symposium will be followed by a celebratory book launch of the publication arising from the project.

FURTHER PLACES TO SEE THIS EXHIBITION:

Broadcaster Noticeboard Outside, Waddington Methodist Chapel 21 Dec, 2021 – 20 March 2022

SARAH BENNETT

of *Touch Me* – a wrapped paper parcel shielded by thorns – that I of my new artworks presented in this exhibition. For example, the On my visits to the Tennyson Research Centre I was drawn to a diverse designate as a 'restless object' (objet agité). purchases made on behalf of Edward Tennyson during the five decades as well as significant events in their lives. The vouchers detailing and convulsions suffered by the male line in the Tennyson family, clues to the causes and cures for the depression, anxieties, addictions her Plant Seizure portrayal. The other Plant Seizure drawings provide tobacco leaves that appear in the composite layered drawing Plant Each intriguing item has subsequently contributed to the development range of objects, some from the 'bummock' and others from the 'tip' he spent in a "home for the insane in York"¹ prompted the making law, Audrey Tennyson (née Boyle), can be seen enlarged and layered in tobacco, while the printed collar patterns belonging to his daughter-in-Seizure: Alfred Tennyson, reference the block of Alfred's (unsmoked)

and juxtapositions. exclusion from university, Tennyson wrote the blank verse poem a conversation with Emily Selwood (his future wife), about women's Victorian social norms, and I explore this theme in Bound. Following connections can be found within the artworks, seeding new narratives treatises advocating for women's higher education.² Multiple family Developing further the reference to museum and archive practice, each over-abundance of 'snake weights' (weights used to hold books open characters, which are visible in separate copies of the poem between an a women-only college and wishes to pursue purely educational aims whom she was betrothed in childhood - because she has established The Princess. In the poem Princess Ida initially rejects the Prince - to the relevant character's name cut from excerpts of nineteenth century copy rests on an extended foam book support to which are pinned while viewing them or displaying them in archives and museums). Bound, comprises five small fragments of speech voiced by the main The horizons of the Tennyson women were constrained by

supporting the production of Comforter My thanks to Phil Ellis, David Salas and Paul Ramsay for

255; and Reid, M, (1988) [1843] A Plea for Woman, Edinburgh: Polygon 2 Fitch, J.G., (1890) 'Women and the Universities' in The Contemporary Review pp.240-1 Martin, R.B. (1980) Tennyson: The Unquiet Heart, London: Faber and Faber p.137



who have made this possible, including but not limited to Joff + Ollie Studio, Miriam Bean, NCCD, Reece Straw, Bradley Oliver-White and Museum, Lincoln and the team of dedicated freelancers and businesses exhibition, the staff at Lincolnshire Archives and The Collection Thanks go to all who have supported the development of this lain Edwards.

The Collection

e. thecollection@lincolnshire.gov.uk www.thecollectionmuseum.com Danes Terrace, Lincoln, LN2 1LP

@collectionusher #collectionusher FACEBOOK / INSTAGRAM / TWITTER

The Collection

Sarah Bennett is a practicing artist and an academic. She has a PhD by practice which was awarded in 2010 and her artistic research traverses fine art, cultural geography, architectural history, museology and the history of psychiatry. She frequently engages an archival/historical lens through which to research institutional systems, codes and mores in order to flip the focus back onto contemporary attitudes and contexts. Her recent exhibitions include *Materiality: provisional states* at Hestercombe Gallery, UK, and *Safe-keeping (custodia)* at the Museo Laboratorio della Mente, Rome, and the Museo Manicomio di San Servolo, Venice. Bennett has 35 years of experience in Higher Arts Education – most recently as Head of the School of Art and Architecture at Kingston University, London, where she is now a Visiting Fellow. She has been involved in the delivery of international collaborative Masters and PhD programmes in Fine Art and is on the Board of EQ-Arts, based in Amsterdam.

ANDREW BRACEY

My initial visits to the archive were filled with an inquisitive spirit. There was an abundance of possible subject matters to explore. I chose to sidestep items directly relating to Alfred Tennyson, to instead focus on his and Emily's children, Lionel and Hallam. One of my favourite pieces of information in researching the children was that they were home-schooled until they were 11 and 13 respectively; this was not just for pedagogic principles, but because their parents wanted to keep their hair long. After much time spent looking attentively in the archive, I found that the most captivating items were Hallam's minute childhood notebooks. These contained drawings, chess and geometry problems, holiday notes, handwriting practice and more.

The notebooks give a fascinating insight into the mind of a Victorian child, with his future still to come, and more specifically one whose identity would be forever defined by his father. Furthermore, the content was encyclopaedic, with multiple subjects and interests that were not necessarily linked in an obvious or linear way. The books also reminded me of my childhood practice of keeping a visual and written record of holidays, a similarly hotchpotch collection of things. The notebooks I found remind me of historian Carolyn Steedman's words: "the archive is also a place of dreams." The archive can be a place for discovery, possibilities and imagination, something the Tennyson Research Centre

typifies.

I made hand-cut woodblock prints that replicated pages from Hallam's notebooks. Although they were done as accurately as possible, they diverge in multiple ways from the original: through shifting the size more akin to my own hand than a child's; human error; the mirroring effect in the print process and so on. I am interested in these differences. For me, Hallam's notebooks disclose a child's innate curiosity in so many things, which can become side-lined as we become adults.

Andrew Bracey is an artist based in Waddington. His work emphasises the importance of looking, attentiveness and materiality in appropriation and explores the slippages between the original/ reproduction, artist/curator, painter/artist. His current PhD by Practice is testing the original position of the 'Parasitical Painter'; how contemporary artists use historical paintings to initiate new dialogue between the past and the contemporary. Solo exhibitions include Project Space Plus, Lincoln; Isherwood Gallery, Wigan; Usher Gallery, Lincoln; Nottingham Castle; Manchester Art Gallery; Wolverhampton Art Gallery; Transition Gallery, London and firstsite, Colchester; alongside over 150 group shows and 20 curated exhibitions. He is Programme Leader of MA Fine Art at The University of Lincoln.

DANICA MAIER

For over four years I have been on a journey with Alfred Tennyson's great niece Fryn (Wynifried) Tennyson Jesse (1888-1958); getting to know her through research within the Tennyson Research Centre, her publications, and the bibliography *A Portrait of Fryn*, by Joanna Colenbrander. I have spent time pondering the imagined and remembered narratives that come through the archived items of her life. There are similarities and cross overs within Fryn's life and my own; bringing personal and family histories to mind while exploring her narrative.

Through the research and artwork created, I have imagined Fryn's life stories and remembered my own. This exploration has seen our narratives become intertwined into a new whole. The similarities of imagined and remembered stories has been a key focus; playfully exploring her memories to inhabit them, to understand them, to know them. Exploring her stories until they become as if my own. Playing with them as they intertwine with my own stories; until I inhabit her memories and imagine mine.

³ Steedman, Carolyn. Dust: The Archive and Cultural History, Manchester, UK: Manchester University Press, 2001, p69.

I am haunted. Haunted by my past, both recent and distant. Remove the negative connotations one might expect with such a statement and focus instead on the meaning of 'haunt': to *frequent*, visit regularly, spend time with, be familiar with, indulge in. My past is here with me now, it visits me regularly, a frequent part of my day. With a detailed visual memory, I walk through the past as if I am (almost) there. I can pull the smells and tastes (nearly) into being. My mind thinks, imagines, dreams, and remembers – in multisensory 3-dimensional technicolour – all in the same manner and space. They are distinct, yet are only tenuously separate; memories and dreams are sometimes confused.

Our personal memories are told and retold slightly differently in each telling – these stories are not set in 'fact' but are in flux. At the core is a nugget of truth but all too often the stories take on a life of their own. The (re)told stories of reminiscing become their own (new) memory. The remembered 'truth' becomes intertwined with the imagined which in turn are interwoven into new narratives. In a sense, the artworks created are a new remembered and

Danica Maier is an artist and academic currently living and working in Lincolnshire. Her practice focuses on the un-repeating-repeat, material processes, transposition, conflating expectations, and how an audience looks/listens; as well as the dialogical nature of collaborative projects that foster independent artworks alongside wider group outcomes. Her work uses site-specific installations, drawing, and objects to explore expectations, while using subtle slippages to transgress propriety. Recent exhibitions/live events include: *Score: Mechanical Asynchronicity*. The Space at Nottingham Contemporary, (with Martin Scheuregger), Nottingham; *Associated Thoughts on Line*, as part of the *Convocation*: *On Expanded Language-Based Practices* within the Research Pavilion at the 58th Venice Biennale; *re-turning*, AirSpace Gallery, Stoke-on-Trent. Maier is an Associate Professor in Fine Art at Nottingham Trent University, where she supervises PhD candidates.



ABOVE: Artist's bookmarked and notated copy of A *Portrait of Fryn* (1984), by Joanna Colenbrander BELOW: Baby's silver rattle comprising seven bells in two rows, whistle and a piece of teething coral (LCNTE2012/31) PHOTOS BY REFLE STRAW imagined narrative of Fryn and me.

^k Ghost: a slight trace or vestige of something and/or a faint secondary image caused by a fault in an optical system, duplicate signal transmission [Haunt: origins from Old French hanter: to frequent, visit regularly; have to do with, be

familiar with; indulge in, cultivate (12c.) ↑ Heirloom: with its origins in early 15c. (ayre lome) a hybrid from Heir + Loom – in its original but now otherwise obsolets sense of "implement, tool," piece of property or equipment that is passed down with the real estate

